## American Camp Association Camp Research Forum Book of Abstracts



Sponsored by



ACAcamps.org/resources/aca-research-forum

January 3, 2023

**Dear Colleagues:** 

This book includes 19 abstracts that will be presented at the 2023 American Camp Association (ACA) Research Forum to be held during the ACA annual conference from February 21-24, 2023 in Orlando, FL. Abstracts have been grouped into similar areas and will be verbally presented in four sessions. All abstracts will be on display as posters.

The Camp Research Forum has grown in quantity and quality over the past decade. ACA's Committee for the Advancement of Research and Evaluation (CARE) has been instrumental in pushing this forum forward. Staff at ACA have been enthusiastically supportive, especially Dr. Laurie Browne and Melany Irvin. Two external reviewers provided peer-reviewed evaluations for the selection of these abstracts. We thank these reviewers for their time, expertise, and energy.

We look forward to presenting these papers at the 2023 Camp Research Forum, but also recognize that many people cannot attend the annual meeting. We hope these short, three-page abstracts will provide information for those not able to attend. Please contact the authors if you have further questions.

Best wishes,

an hico

Ann Gillard, Ph.D. 2023 ACA Research Forum Coordinator

The proper way to cite these abstracts using APA 7<sup>th</sup> edition is:

Author name(s). (2023, February 21-24). Title of abstract. In A. Gillard (Chair), ACA Camp Research Forum Book of Abstracts [Symposium]. American Camp Association's 2022 Camp Research Forum, United States.

#### Reference list example.

Williams, R., Ramsing, R., Hill, E. Haegele, J., Hill, L., & Harvey, T. (2023, February 21-24). Discussions with parents: Towards better understanding of constraints to recreation for youth with Type 1 diabetes. In A. Gillard (Chair), ACA Camp Research Forum Book of Abstracts [Symposium]. American Camp Association's 2023 Camp Research Forum, United States.

*Parenthetical citation:* (Williams, et al., 2023) *Narrative citation:* Williams, et al. (2023)

#### Contents

ENCOURAGING INDEPENDENCE: A STUDY ON DISEASE SELF-MANAGEMENT AND SELF- EFFICACY AT AN ARTHRITIS FOUNDATION CAMP
LIONS, TIGERS, AND GLUCOSE, OH MY: PILOTING A TEEN DIABETES CAMP ON CAMPUS8
SERVING CHILDREN WITH FOOD ALLERGY AT SUMMER CAMP12
AN EFFICIENT AND PRECISE MEASURE OF IMMERSION FOR EVALUATING CAMP EXPERIENCES
MENTAL, EMOTIONAL, AND SOCIAL HEALTH: EXPLORING YOUTH AND STAFF ISSUES AND SUPPORTS IN SUMMER CAMPS20
EXPLORING THE MOTIVATION OF TWEEN/TEENS WITH DIABETES AT SUMMER CAMP: A QUALITATIVE APPROACH
EVALUATION WITH A PURPOSE: CONTINUOUS PROGRAM IMPROVEMENT OF A FAMILY DIABETES CAMP
PARTICIPATORY ACTION EVALUATION: IMPROVING CAMPER OUTCOMES BY ENGAGING STAFF IN DATA-BASED GOAL SETTING
DIFFUSING A PROGRAM QUALITY INITIATIVE IN A MULTI-SITE CAMP ORGANIZATION
CULTIVATING UNDERREPRESENTED YOUTH'S INTEREST IN CAMP EMPLOYMENT42
HIRING AND TRAINING PRACTICES THAT INCREASE DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION AT SUMMER CAMPS47
EXAMINING GEN Z, EMERGING ADULT SUMMER EMPLOYMENT PRIORITIES
THE VISION OF STAFF AND VOICES OF YOUTH: WHAT'S REALLY HAPPENING AT CAMP?56
WHAT AND HOW YOUTH LEARN AT CAMP: A STUDY OF CAMPS SERVING YOUTH FROM LOW- INCOME BACKGROUNDS
ESTABLISHING ORGANIZATIONAL READINESS TO CREATE MORE DIVERSE, EQUITABLE, AND INCLUSIVE CAMPS
KEY FACTORS IMPACTING GROWTH AMONG SUMMER CAMP STAFF69
THE LASTING BENEFITS OF MULTI-YEAR CAMP PROGRAMMING FOR YOUTH FROM LOW- INCOME BACKGROUNDS
EXAMINING THE DEVELOPMENTAL CHARACTERISTICS IN YOUTH'S MEMORABLE CAMP EXPERIENCES
DISCUSSIONS WITH PARENTS: TOWARDS BETTER UNDERSTANDING OF CONSTRAINTS TO RECREATION FOR YOUTH WITH TYPE 1 DIABETES

#### ENCOURAGING INDEPENDENCE: A STUDY ON DISEASE SELF-MANAGEMENT AND SELF-EFFICACY AT AN ARTHRITIS FOUNDATION CAMP

Authors: Kaye Anderson, Dana Guglielmo, Katelyn Melcher, Anya Khurana, Ela Chintagunta; Courtney Wells. Contact: Courtney Wells, courtney.wells(at)uwrf.edu

Resident camps are an excellent opportunity for youth to build independence and confidence outside of their usual routines. Camps are also an important space for learning and growth through targeted programs and experiential learning. These learning experiences are often transferable to various contexts, remaining relevant for youth as they transition to adulthood (Wilson et al., 2019). For children with chronic illness, camp has been shown to influence greater initiative on disease-related tasks (Fullerton et al., 2000). Extensive research documents the self-management skills needed for a successful transition to adulthood for youth with chronic health conditions, yet there remains a significant gap between what is known and what is implemented in healthcare practice (White et al., 2018).

Staff at an Arthritis Foundation camp in Minnesota developed a program targeting self-management and transition skills for youth with rheumatic conditions. The program was designed with Bandura's theory of self-efficacy in mind, with the understanding that self-efficacy is critical in self-management of rheumatic conditions (Brady, 2011). The program is created and administered by adult patients with rheumatic conditions in collaboration with healthcare providers. This study evaluated the effects of this program on campers' disease self-management and self-efficacy.

#### Methods

Camp staff administered pre- and post- surveys on the first and last days of a weeklong Arthritis Foundation camp during the summer of 2022. Surveys contained three quantitative instruments: 1) an adapted version of Transitions: Managing My Own Health Care (Transitions Scale) which measures disease self-management (Children's Hospital Boston, n.d.); 2) The Children's Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale (CASES) which asks about symptoms, emotional impact, and their ability to control symptoms (Barlow & Wright, 2001); and 3) Children's Hope Scale (Hope Scale; Snyder et al., 1997). Surveys also included two open-ended questions 1) "What do you hope to get out of camp?" and 2) "What did you learn at camp?" This project was approved by the University of Wisconsin-River Falls Institutional Review Board.

The research team generated descriptive statistics for pre- and post- responses for demographic characteristics, cumulative scores for each scale and subscale, and individual questions within each scale. Cumulative scores were stratified by three dichotomized variables: age; number of years of camp experience; and number of years living with one or more autoimmune diagnoses. Given the lack of identifiers collected, Fisher's Exact and *t*-tests were used to assess differences between pre- and post- responses. All analyses were conducted using R. After initial coding, the research team used thematic analysis to examine the open-ended responses.

#### Results

#### Quantitative results

The pre- sample (n = 51) was  $13.9 \pm 2.6$  years old, predominantly female (78.4%), white (90.2%), and had  $3.4 \pm 2.3$  years of camp experience. Their most common diagnosis was arthritis (89.6%) and they lived with their diagnosis for 8.7 ± 4.4 years. The post-sample (n = 50) was not significantly different for demographic characteristics.

Cumulative scores for the three scales and corresponding subscales increased modestly from pre- to post- camp, though the majority were not statistically significant (see Table 1). For Transitions (older group), improvements in cumulative scores were observed overall (*M*: 54.9 ± 5.8 to 58.6 ± 5.4, respectively), among those with 4+ years camp experience (*M*: 57.2 ± 4.3 to 59.9 ± 4.5, respectively), and among those with 8+ years living with their condition (*M*: 55.7 ± 4.6 to 59.4 ± 5.3, respectively) (p < 0.05 for all). Similar trends were found for CASES. Overall, scores improved from 40.1 ± 10.3 to 43.7 ± 8.1 (p = 0.0615). Scores improved the most for the older group (39.1 ± 10.2 to 44.1 ± 6.9, respectively) and those with 8+ years living with their condition ( $40.0 \pm 8.8$  to  $45.0 \pm 6.5$ , respectively), (p < 0.05 for all). For Hope and its subscales, only very small (non-significant) improvements occurred overall and when stratified by the three variables.

#### Table 1

Cumulative Scales and Subscales Pre- and	Post Camp <sup>1</sup>		
Scale and Subscales (Lowest and Highest	Pre	Post	Pre-Post Change
Possible Scores) <sup>2</sup>	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	T-Test p-value
Transitions Scale <sup>3</sup>			
Younger (15–60)	44.4 ± 5.2	47.7 ± 4.8	0.1918
Older (17–68)	54.9 ± 5.8	58.6 ± 5.4	0.0089
Children's Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale			
Overall (11-55)	$40.1 \pm 10.3$	43.7 ± 8.1	0.0615
Symptoms Subscale (4–20)	14.4 ± 3.7	15.4 ± 3.2	0.1428
Emotions Subscale (3–15)	10.7 ± 3.3	11.8 ± 3.0	0.0880
Activity Subscale (4–20)	15.1 ± 4.5	16.5 ± 3.2	0.0816
Hope Scale Overall (6–36)	27.8 ± 6.1	28.7 ± 4.3	0.4429
Pathways Subscale (3–18)	13.9 ± 2.9	14.2 ± 2.7	0.5953
Agency Subscale (3–18)	13.8 ± 3.5	14.4 ± 2.5	0.3266
	17	· · · ·	

<sup>1</sup>Only participants who had complete scale and/or subscale information were included in the cumulative analyses.

<sup>2</sup>For each scale and subscale, higher scores represent better health.

<sup>3</sup>The prompt, "I worry about my health," was reverse coded.

#### Qualitative results

In response to the pre-question "What do you hope to get out of camp?" campers wanted to make new friends who understood them, "be in a space of feeling safe," and learn more about their health conditions. Post-survey responses to the question "What did you learn at camp?" fit into two primary themes: relating to others and learning how to manage their health/disease. Relating to others included making friends "that understand you" and knowing that "I'm not alone." Learning encompassed disease-specific information ("how to live my life with arthritis"), transition-related information ("what it can look like to transition doctors"), and social-emotional information ("how to advocate for myself and cope with my disease").

#### **Discussion and Implications**

This study assessed how a health education program affects campers' selfmanagement and transition-related knowledge, self-efficacy, and hope. Results suggest that campers learned more about their conditions and healthcare transition through the programming implemented, along with making meaningful connections with other kids with arthritis. Camp also aided in their self-efficacy as their perceived ability to manage their symptoms in certain situations improved. The modest sample size may have occluded more statistically significant results between pre- and post- tests as the qualitative data indicate stronger changes in disease self-management and perspective than the quantitative data. We are looking into other possible tools that might be better able to measure the aforementioned skills.

Camps serve as a way to increase independence and allow campers to develop new skills. Campers with chronic illnesses often lack the support and education needed to successfully take over their own healthcare and disease management. The findings of this study demonstrate the potential of medical camps to serve as venues for self-management and transition education to supplement the services provided in healthcare settings. While this research was focused on medical transition for chronically ill youth, results from this study indicate that youth benefit from programming focused on self-efficacy, a skill that is central to the learning process, motivation, and autonomy. Further research should examine if other medical camps are implementing similar educational programs, if the findings are replicable at such camps, and compare the content of the educational programming to continue improving campers' self-efficacy and knowledge of disease self-management.

#### References

Barlow, Shaw, K. L., & Wright, C. C. (2001). Development and preliminary validation of a Children's Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale. *Arthritis and Rheum*, 45(2), 159–166.

https://doi.org/10.1002/1529-0131(200104)45:2<159::AID-ANR169>3.0.CO;2-2 Brady, T. J. (2011). Measures of self-efficacy: Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale (ASES), Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale-8 Item (ASES-8), Children's Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale (CASE), Chronic Disease

Self-Efficacy Scale (CDSES), Parent's Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale (PASE), and Rheumatoid Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale (RASE). *Arthritis Care & Research*, 63(S11), S473–S485. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/acr.20567</u>

Children's Hospital Boston. (n.d.) *Transitions: Managing my own health care: How well do I manage my own health care?* <u>http://www.bostonleah.org/PDF/transitions\_questions.pdf</u> Fullerton, A., Brandon, S., & Arick, J. (2000). The impact of camp programs on children with disabilities: Opportunities for independence. *Research in Outdoor Education, 5*(11).

https://digitalcommons.cortland.edu/reseoutded/vol5/iss1/11 Snyder, C. R., Hoza, B., Pelham, W. E., Rapoff, M., Ware, L., Danovsky, M., Highberger, L.,

Ribinstein, H., & Stahl, K. J. (1997). The development and validation of the Children's Hope Scale. Journal of Pediatric Psychology, 22(3), 399–421. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/22.3.399

White, P., Cooley, W. C., Arauz Boudrea, A., Cyr, M., Davis, B., Dreyfus, D., Forlenza, E.,

Friedland, A., Greenlee, C., Mann, M., McManus, M., Meleis, A., & Pickler, L. (2018). Supporting the health care transition from adolescence to adulthood in the medical home. *Pediatrics* (*Evanston*), 142(5). https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2018-2587

Wilson, C., Akiva, T., Sibthorp, J., & Browne, L. P. (2019). Fostering distinct and transferable learning via summer camp. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 98, 269–277.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2019.01.017



#### LIONS, TIGERS, AND GLUCOSE, OH MY: PILOTING A TEEN DIABETES CAMP ON CAMPUS

Authors: Bethany Arrington<sup>1</sup>, Eddie Hill<sup>2</sup>, Rowan Williams<sup>1</sup>, Taylor Harvey<sup>1</sup>, Alexis Barmoh<sup>1</sup>, & Laura Hill<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Old Dominion University, <sup>2</sup>Weber State University. Contact: Bethany Arrington barri001(at)odu.edu

Type 1 diabetes (T1D) is an autoimmune disease where the pancreas stops producing insulin. T1D is managed by checking blood glucose levels and giving insulin. When poorly managed, blood glucose levels increase potentially leading to severe complications. Although management is crucial in preventing complications, one of the major challenges of living with diabetes is carrying out effective self-care (Hill et al., 2019). Most youth with T1D know and understand the potential complications of their diabetes, so the motivating factors that drive youth to manage their diabetes should also be considered. Through the self-determination theory (SDT), Ryan and Deci (2020) argue that when an individual's basic psychological needs of autonomy, competence, and relatedness are met, individuals are more likely to internalize healthy behaviors. One way to offer support to youth with T1D is using a diabetes Camp on Campus designed for teens/tweens. The purpose of this study was to determine if a theoretically grounded, diabetes camp for tweens/teens increased participants level of perceived autonomy, competence, and relatedness, while helping to maintain effective glucose levels.

#### Methods

Recreate, Educate, Advocate, and Climb Higher (REACH) is a university-based diabetes recreation program for youth. Based on a 2021 two-day camp, REACH fully introduced a new program, the tween/teen diabetes five-day camp in summer 2022. This camp was engineered through Outcome-focused Programming (OFP) and geared towards youth 11-16 years old. OFP uses structured recreational activities that are intended to meet outcome-oriented goals. For example, choice provision of activities was built into many aspects of the week-long day camp. Camp also focused on competence through such activities as Nutrition Jeopardy. Relatedness was addressed through having all campers with T1D at camp, sharing challenges, and supporting one another. Additionally, REACH used CampViews which is software designed for diabetes camps and participants to sync their Dexcom, giving camp administrators and medical staff access to their blood glucose levels in real time. Time in Range (TIR) while at camp should be between 70-180mg/dL; we evaluated the data recorded through camper's Dexcom while attending camp. To measure the dimensions of SDT, campers also completed the 24-item Basic Psychological Need Satisfaction Frustration Scale (BPNSFS) prior to camp and at the conclusion of camp. A paired sample t-test was run to measure the data collected through the BPNSFS.

#### Results

After data were matched, 23 complete data sets (92% response rate) were analyzed using a *t*-test in SPSS V28. Fifty percent of the campers identified as male, and the average age of the campers was 12 years old. Seventy percent of campers identified as white, 16.7% as African American, and 12.5% as Latino. The average time with diabetes among all campers was 4.5 years and the average self-reported A1C was 7.7%. Of the 23 matched pairs, 11 campers used Dexcom, thus allowing camp staff to monitor their blood glucose while at camp. The overall average blood glucose level for campers was 178 mg/dL during

camp hours (9am-4pm). Additionally, after evaluating the data provided by campers' Dexcom, 11 campers had the most effective blood glucose average on Monday (161 mg/dL).

A paired sample *t*-test was run to calculate composite scores for autonomy, relatedness, and competence. The composite scores for Autonomy (A) pretest (M = 3.86, SD = .50 to posttest (M = 3.95, SD = .49), with t(22) = -.731, p = .15), effect size r = 0.23 (weak). The composite scores for Relatedness (R) pretest (M = 4.11, SD = .73) to posttest (M = 4.45, SD = .59), with t(22) = -2.049, p = .05), effect size r = .4 (medium). The composite score for Competence (C) pretest (M = 3.86, SD = .64) to posttest (M = 3.99, SD = .65), with t(22) = -.903, p = .37), effect size r = .81 (weak).

#### **Discussion and Implications**

Worldwide, the number of people living with T1D is expected to double by 2040 (Gregory et al., 2022). The goal of camp was to use OFP grounded in SDT to help tween/teen participants internalize better diabetes management skills while also measuring TIR at camp. Of the three SDT outcomes measured, relatedness was the closest to statistical significance, although all three scores were trending in a positive direction. Furthermore, the BPNSFS is a newer measure. The BPNSFS youth version has not yet been used in a diabetes camp setting. thus adding to the body of knowledge. The use of CampViews to track participants TIR while at camp builds on current research within the field. Maintaining an average glucose level of 178 mg/dL, as campers did, is an effective range at camp. Our data aligns with other research that "youth with T1D can benefit from a high level of physical activity without undue fear of hypoglycemia," (Gal et al., 2022). Monday's camp day consisted of swimming, walking, tie-dye and activity games of the court, resulting in a TIR of 161 mg/dL, which was the most active day and most effective TIR.

This study had a few limitations. First the sample size was small. The small sample size affected the significance of our results. Additionally, of our small sample size 70% identified as white making the sample not diverse. Finally, the pre-camp survey was designed to be taken by campers prior to participating in any camp activities. The pre-camp survey was distributed via email to participant's parents prior to camp starting with the option for campers to take the survey at home. This was a potential limitation since some parents may have provided extra assistance completing the questionnaire. This final limitation can be controlled and next year we plan to administer all surveys directly to the participants at the start of camp.

Using OFP grounded in SDT and campers' basic psychological needs can be applied to other medical specialty and traditional camps. Within this study the theoretical basis of SDT is centered around campers' motivation to manage their diabetes, but SDT can be applied to any human behavior requiring motivation (Ryan & Deci, 2020). Many camps can use this model by using OFP grounded in SDT and measure if participants' basic psychological needs are further met after attending camp. Future research should explore longitudinal studies on participants who frequent several REACH programs over the course of the year to determine if campers maintain a more effective TIR while participating. The study attempting to capture the psycho-social and biometric outcomes of the unique camp of campus model serving youth with diabetes. This model and data assist in building a Community of Practice within the diabetes camp world by way of common interest, creating a network, and assisting practitioners to improving quality of life (e.g., Hill et al., 2022).

#### References

Gal, J. J., Li, Z., Willi, S. M., & Riddell, M. C., (2022). Association between high levels of

physical activity and improved glucose control on active days in youth with type 1 diabetes. *Pediatric Diabetes*. https://doi.org/10.1111/pedi.13391

Gregory GA, Robinson TIG, Linklater SE, et al. (2022). Global incidence, prevalence, and mortality of type 1 diabetes in 2021 with projection to 2040: a modelling study. *Lancet Diabetes* 

*Endocrinology*. 2022;S2213-8587(22)00218-2. doi:10.1016/S2213-8587(22)00218-2. Hagger, V., Hendrieckx, C., Cameron, F., Pouwer, F., Skinner, T. C., Speight, J. (2018).

Diabetes distress is more strongly associated with HbA1c than depressive symptoms in adolescents with type 1 diabetes: Results from Diabetes MILES Youth-Australia. *Pediatric Diabetes*. 19(4), 840-847. doi: 10.1111/pedi.12641

Hill, E., Reifschneider, K., Ramsing, R., Turnage, M., & Goff, J., (2019). Family diabetes camp: Fostering resiliency among campers and parents. *Diabetes Spectrum*, *32*(2), 86-92. https://doi.org/10.2337/ds18-0001

Hill, E., Williams, R., Haegele, J., Ramsing, R., Arrington, B., & Hill, L. (2022). Family diabetes camp amidst COVID-19: A community of practice model. *Journal of Youth* 

Development, 17(4) 160-174. https://doi.org/10.5195/jyd.2022.1262

Ryan, E., & Deci, E., (2020). Intrinsic and extrinsic motivation from a self-determination theory perspective: Definitions, theory, practices, and future directions. *Contemporary Educational* 

Psychology, 61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2020.101860</u>

## Lions, Tigers and CGMs, Oh **Diabetes Camp on Campus** My: Piloting a Teen

Authors: Bethany Arrington, Eddie Hill, Rowan Williams, Taylor Harvey, Alexis Barmoh, & Laura Hill

Contact: Bethany Arrington barri00110

A special thank you to Aiden Hill for his hard work and dedication as the best Counselor in Training (CIT) for two years.

## INTRO

- Type 1 diabetes (T1D) is an autoimmune disease in which the parroase stops producing insulin . When T1D is not managed well blood glucose levels increase and can cause evene complications hemoglosin (HbAr 1) during adolescence (Haggar, 2018,
- p. 1) The motivating factors that drive youth to manage their diabetes should be considered
  - Self-Determination Theory (SDT) argues that when an individual's basic psychological needs of autonomy, competence, and relatedness are met individuals are more likely to internalize healthy behaviors (Ryan and Deci 2020)
- One way to offer support to youth with T1D is through the diabetes *carp* on *Carp* or *Carp* or teens and "wents" with T1D.
   The purpose of this study was to determine if a
- theoretically grounded, diabetes medical specially camp for weenskens increased participants level of proceived autonomy, competence, and relatedness, while helping to maintain effective glucose levels.



# Based on a 2021 two-day camp, REACH fully introduced a new program, the tween/teen diabetes five-day camp in METHODS

- summer 2022 Camp was designed using Outcome Focused
- To assess if camper's basic psychological needs in by attending camp The Basic Psychological Need Satisfaction Frustration Scale (BPNSFS) was admi Programming (OFP) grounded in SDT To assess if camper's be
- prior to and post camp
- monitors (CGM) and analyzed to track Time in Range (TIR) To assess camper's glycemic levels, data were collected 's through camper's continuous glucos via CampView luring camp





## 25 campers attended camp RESULTS

- 50% of campers identified as male
- Average age of camper = 12 years Of the 25 participants 23 completed both surveys
- (92% response rate)
- Average time with diabetes was 4.5 years A pair sample *t*-test was conducted to determin participants basic psychological needs were met
- Significant posttest composite scores for Relatedness (R) pretest (M=4.11, SD=.73) to posttest (M=4.45, SD=.59), with (223 = -2.049, p=.05), effect size r = 4further after attending camp
- Of the 25 campers 11 synced their Dexcom to CampViews allowing for data collection of their blood (medium)
  - campers was 178 mg/dL during camp hours (9am-The overall average blood glucose level for all 11 glucose levels
    - Campers had the most effective blood glucose 4pm)

average on Mondar

# Old Sign AND IMPLICATIONS Worldwide, the number of people living with T1D is

- expected to double by 2040 (Gregory et al., 2022 The use of CampViews to track participants TIR
- at camp builds on current research within the fiel Our data aligns with other research that "youth w T1D can benefit from a high level of physical acti
- Maintaining an average glucose level of 178 mg/dL without undue fear of hypoglycemia" (Gal et al., 2
- tie-dye and activity games of the court, resulting in a TIR of 161 mg/dL, which was the most active day and campers did, is an effective range at camp Monday's camp day consisted of swimming, walking,
- over the course of the year to determine if campers Future research should explore longitudinal studies or participants who frequent several REACH programs most effective TIR
  - specialty and traditional camps (Arrington et al., 2021 maintain a more effective TIR while participating Using OFP grounded in SDT and campers' psychological needs can be applied to other mee
    - practitioners to improving quality of life (Hill et al. Practice within the diabetes camp world by way common interest, creating a network, and assist This model and data assist in building a Commu

2022)

#### SERVING CHILDREN WITH FOOD ALLERGY AT SUMMER CAMP Authors: Ali Dubin and Barry Garst, Clemson University. Contact: Ali Dubin alexsad(at)g.clemson.edu

Severe food allergy (SFA) is an emerging issue in public, educational, and recreational spaces, as the condition rises in prevalence and severity (Capucilli et al., 2019). While many camps do not focus exclusively on serving children with food allergies, nearly all camps (94%-99%) serve some children with food allergies (Schellpfeffer et al., 2020). While this youth population may be small (Schellpfeffer et al., 2017), it is critical that camps are prepared to safely serve children with food allergies as anaphylaxis due to allergen exposure is a major concern. Many studies examining food allergy and camp have focused on documenting rates of food allergy, anaphylaxis management, and training staff on food allergy and anaphylaxis (Schellpfeffer et al., 2020). This work has been foundational to ensuring a safe experience for youth attending camp. However, less research has focused on the socio-emotional impacts of attending camp with a food allergy or exploring how children with food allergy may uniquely experience summer camp (Liebel & Fenton, 2016).

Therefore, the purpose of this study is to understand the experience of summer camp for children with food allergies. Two critical sensitizing concepts underpinning this research are inclusion and social identity theory. Inclusion, defined as a sense of belonging, acceptance, and value (Stainback & Stainback, 1990), is a significant concern for children with SFA because lack of inclusion of children with special needs can further decrease quality of life by making children with SFA feel they do not belong. Social identity theory is the way in which social identity is created through opportunities for social comparison to develop a sense of sense (Hogg & Ridgeway, 2003). Social identity theory is salient as a sense of self is critical as campers begin to negotiate adolescence and the rapid changes occurring throughout that phase, while becoming more independent from their parents.

#### Method

This qualitative study was grounded in phenomenology to better understand the experience of food allergy at summer camp from a youth perspective. A tiered approach was developed to identify camps with high to low food allergy accommodation levels. The high accommodation camp was a food allergy specialty camp, the mid-level accommodation camp was a Kosher healthy eating camp, and finally a traditional camp.

Campers and were recruited in cooperation with administrators from the three low to high tiered camps identified, and staff were recruited from the same camps. This study was approved by Clemson University's Institutional Review Board, and the appropriate consent or assent was obtained for all participants. Zoom interviews were conducted with six campers, two from each camp, as well as the campers' mothers, and staff from each of the three camps.

All data were transcribed verbatim and coded by the primary author for emergent themes. Themes were generated deductively, based on the research questions, and inductively, emerging from the transcripts. Trustworthiness of data was established with triangulation of youth interviews and staff interviews, and a member-checking procedure where parent-child dyads had the opportunity to review themes and representative quotes and give feedback (Creswell, 2013).

#### Results

Four themes emerged from the data analysis process: 1) Trust and Transparency, 2) Inclusion is about Connection, and 3) Inclusion and Exclusion Coexist and 4) Parental

Influence on Campers Conceptualization. The first theme, Trust and Transparency, relates to the way campers interact with the camp staff and kitchen, and the process of building trust with campers through transparency in the kitchen. Campers needed evidence the food was safe to develop trust in the kitchen and camp staff in general. The development of trust facilitated autonomy, as campers were able to independently identify safe foods and self-manage their allergies. The second theme, Inclusion is about Connection, reflects inclusion at mealtime and throughout the camp experience. Campers reported feeling included when they were engaged with other campers in a way that engendered connection, such as relating to another camper about a shared interest or participating in an activity that brought people together. The third theme, Inclusion and Exclusion can Coexist, highlights the tension that exists when inclusion requires special accommodations that may mark a child as different, causing exclusion or isolation. Sometimes including someone in a broader experience meant excluding them from smaller moments within that experience. It may also mean campers need to negotiate experiences to balance safety and maximum inclusion.

The final theme, Parental Influence on Campers Conceptualization, relates to the role of parents in allergy management and the ways in which parental attitudes towards the food allergy are sometimes mirrored in their children. Many mothers involved in this study managed an extraordinary amount of work behind the scenes to ensure their child was safe at school, in social situations outside of school, and at camp. Many campers, especially younger campers, were not fully aware of the work their mothers were doing and thus had a skewed perspective of how easy managing their allergy is: it is easy for them because their mother had proactively established plans for their safety in cooperation with camp administrators. Additionally, it was apparent that how parents speak about food allergy often becomes how children speak about their allergy. Parents who are very comfortable with allergy management tend to have children who are more comfortable with allergy management, while parents who remain hypervigilant may have children who are hypervigilant, exemplifying the role parents play in modeling for their children.

#### **Discussion and Implications**

The themes identified in this study provide insight into how children with food allergies experience camp and how camp provider accommodations to serve children with SFA impact campers' experiences. Generally, campers reported a positive camp experience which was improved by trust in the safety of the food and peer connections that that facilitated inclusion. For example, if a camper typically felt safe and included in the peer group, they were not upset when they had to miss parts of an activity for their safety (e.g., peanut butter cookies for dessert) as those instances were brief, and they had friends to support them.

Campers also expressed a desire for the opportunity to independently manage their allergy, while being included in the traditional camp meal service. Older campers in particular felt most comfortable when ingredient lists or food labels were readily available to them and wanted access to the person who made the dish if they had questions. Participation in typical (rather than a specialized, often separate) meal service was also highly valued. For campers at one camp, participation involved being able to eat food from the traditional buffet line, rather than the allergen-free table, which was free of all reported allergens and might not be as appetizing. Campers at another camp regretted missing pre-COVID-19 food service, where they had the unique experience of an allergen free buffet and noted that getting a pre-portioned plate of safe food made the camp experience more like their usual school or home routine.

Limitations to this study were primarily associated with the long-term impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. The study is not a true phenomenology due to lack of embeddedness, as many camps were limiting visitors during the summer of 2021 and the lead researcher was not allowed to be embedded in the camp. Additionally, camp cohorts were smaller leading to a smaller pool from which to recruit study participants, and a smaller than desired sample size. Finally, the pandemic disrupted the typical trajectories and experiences of many adolescents. For example, most of the older campers had not yet had the typical teenage experience of going out to eat without their parents as they were too young to do so when the pandemic started. Therefore, participating in allergy management at camp was a more novel experience for them than it would be for the teenagers who were involved in studies that occurred pre-pandemic.

#### Conclusion

Camp leadership needs to think critically about how they serve the growing population of campers with food allergies. Decision-making needs to consider the developmental abilities of the participants to balance youth needs for autonomy with safety, and to allow campers to practice allergy management in a supportive environment. Adolescence is a primary risk factor in food-related anaphylaxis deaths, as teenagers spend less time with parents and may take risks regarding food (Mudd & Wood, 2011). However, adolescence is also a prime developmental time during which teens can learn allergy management skills as the responsibility for allergy management shifts from the parent to the child (Sicherer et al., 2021). Camps can use their intentionally designed positive youth development context to support campers during this transition and help prepare them for a safe and successful adulthood.

#### References

- Capucilli, P., Kennedy, K., Lee, J., Grundmeier, R., & Spergel, J. M. (2019). Accidental food reactions requiring emergency department evaluation in children with food allergy are rare. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 143(2). AB150.
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches 3<sup>rd</sup> ed. Sage.
- Hogg, M. A., & Ridgeway, C. L. (2003). Social identity: sociological and social psychological perspectives. Social Psychology Quarterly, 66(2), 97-100. https://www.jstor.org/stable/1519841
- Leibel, S., & Fenton, N. (2016). Building trust: Children experiences with food allergies at summer camp. *Health*, 8(14), 1423-1441. 10.4236/health.2016.814143.
- Mudd, K., & Wood, R. A. (2011). Managing food allergies in schools and camps. *Pediatric Clinics of North America*, 58(2), 471-80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcl.2011.02.009
- Schellpfeffer, N. R., Leo, H. L., Ambrose, M., & Hashikawa, A. N. (2017). Food allergy trends and epinephrine autoinjector presence in summer camps. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology: In Practice*, 5(2), 358-362.
- Schellpfeffer, N. R., Leo, H. L., Ambrose, M., & Hashikawa, A. N. (2020). Camp leadership perspectives on food allergy-related anaphylaxis events and training for camp staff: A national survey of summer camps. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology: In Practice*, 8(4), 1247-1252.
- Sicherer, S. H., Warren, C. M., Dant, C., Gupta, R. S., & Nadeau, K. C. (2020). Food allergy from infancy through adulthood. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology: In Practice*, 8(6), 1854-1864.
- Stainback, W., & Stainback, S. (1990). Support networks for inclusive schooling: Interdependent integrated education. PH Brookes Pub. Co.

mps should consider strat nsparency: kitchen tours, mps should consider activ aningful ways to facilitate amps need to consider ho aclusion and minimize ex amps need to work with pportunities for autonom <i>Safety for Developmental S</i> <i>Safety for Developmental S</i> <i>s</i> <i>s</i>								
2: Inclusion is connection 3: Inclusion and exclusion coexist 4: Parents are influential 3: Inclusion and contained in foods 1: Ist of allergens in each 1: Ist of allergens in each 1: Ist of ingredients in each 2: Inclusion and 3: Inclusion and 3: Inclusion and	Serving Childre at Resid	en with Food Allergy lential Camp		1: Trust and transparency	Camps should co transparency: kit	onsider strat tchen tours,	tegies to increase food labels, ingre	trust through edient lists
APPLICATIONS Strategies for Food Aller Strategy Strategy Clear knowledge of aller Clear knowledge of aller Clear knowledge of aller Strategy Strategy Clear knowledge of aller Clear knowledge of aller Clear knowledge of aller Clear knowledge of aller Staff available to answer austions Staff supervise food choi Safe plate made for camp Self-carried epinephrine Knowledge of emergency response plan Ability to recognize aller	Ali Dubin, PhD & Barry A.	. Garst, PhD, Clemson University		2: Inclusion is	Camps should co	onsider activ	vities that bring p	eople together in
3: Inclusion and exclusion coexist exclusion coexist af: Parents are influential A: Parents are influential A: Parents are influential Strategy Clear knowledge of allerge contained in foods List of ingredients in each dis List of ingredients in each dis List of ingredients in each dis Clear knowledge of allerge Staff supervise food choice Safe plate made for camper Knowledge of emergency response plan Ability to recomize allergi	Top 9 Foc	od Allergens:	SEI	connection	meaningful way	s to facilitate	e inclusion	
4: Parents are influential         4: Parents are influential         Strategies for Food Allerg         Strategies for Food Allerg         Clear knowledge of allerge contained in foods         List of ingredients in each dis List of ingredients in each dis guestions         Staff supervise food choice         Safe plate made for camperine Knowledge of emergency response plan	Wheat		HEN	3: Inclusion and exclusion coexist	Camps need to inclusion and 1	o consider ho ninimize ex	ow they balance s clusion	safety and
Strategies for Food Allergy Safety for Developmental S         Strategy       Use for Elementary         Strategy       Use for Elementary         Strategy       Use for Elementary         Clear knowledge of allergens       Use for Elementary         Contained in foods       Use for Elementary         List of allergens in each dish       School campers         Staff available to answer       auestions         Staff supervise food choices       Safe plate made for camper         Self-carried epinephrine       Knowledge of emergency         Ability to recognize allergic       Ability to recognize allergic			L	4: Parents are influential	Camps need to opportunities f	work with or autonom	parents, while pr y in a supportive	coviding campers e environment
Strategy       Use for Elementary         Clear knowledge of allergens       School campers         Clear knowledge of allergens       School campers         Clear knowledge of allergens       School campers         List of ingredients in each dish       List of ingredients in each dish         List of ingredients in each dish       Staff available to answer         questions       Staff available to answer         Staff supervise food choices       Staff supervise food choices         Safe plate made for camper       Self-carried epinephrine         Knowledge of emergency       response plan         Ability to recognize allergic       Ability to recognize				Strategies for Food Alle	rgy Safety for Dev	elopmental Si	tages	
APPLICATIONS       School campers         Clear knowledge of allergens       contained in foods         List of allergens in each dish       List of ingredients in each dish         Staff available to answer       auestions         Staff supervise food choices       Safe plate made for camper         Self-carried epinephrine       Knowledge of emergency         Rowledge of emergency       response plan	Purpose: To understand	I the experience of residential		Strategy	Use for E	ary	Use for Middle	Use for High
APPLICATION	summer camp for childr	ren with tood allergies	S			mpers	School campers	School campers
APPLICATIC	Methods: Oualitative st	tudv erounded in	N	Clear knowledge of aller contained in foods	:gens			
APPLICATI	phenomenology looking	g at camper experience and	0	List of allergens in each	dish			
APPLICAT	camp accommodations/	/procedures	L	List of ingredients in eac	ch dish			
<b>VPPLIC/</b>	3 camps ranked from hi	igh to low accommodation	L	Staff available to answer				
APPLIC	were included in the stu	Apr	7.	questions				
ГЛАД∀	Zoom interviews condu	icted with staff, campers, and	C	Staff supervise food cho	ices			
NG: Effective allergy	campers' mothers		ľ	Safe plate made for cam	per			
APF	4		I	Self-carried epinephrine				
	<b>KEY FINDING</b>	3: Effective allergy	Ы	Knowledge of emergenc	y			
	management i	in camp balances	(V	Ability to recognize allergic	rgic			

Treaction Analysis Yellow = Sometimes, Red= Never

safety and autonomy.

#### AN EFFICIENT AND PRECISE MEASURE OF IMMERSION FOR EVALUATING CAMP EXPERIENCES

#### Authors: Gary Ellis, Patti Freeman, Darlene Locke, Alexandra Skrocki, & Jingxian Jiang Texas A&M University System. Contact: Gary Ellis, gary.ellis(at)agnet.tamu.edu

A substantial and growing body of literature points to the potential developmental importance of immersion during structured experiences, such as individual camp activity sessions. Immersion refers to the transitory motivational state people feel while participating in an activity requiring performance of a task, such as during archery, rock climbing, dancing, and swimming. Csikszentmihalyi (1988) showed how such immersive "flow" experiences can expand important beliefs, expectations, and concepts people have about themselves, and Ellis et al. (2021) provided empirical data showing how immersion facilitates fulfilment of people's needs for autonomy, competence, and relatedness (Deci & Ryan, 2002). As such, future evaluators and researchers will likely have a need for an effective and efficient way of measuring immersion during camp activities.

Yet, measuring immersion can be challenging. Current approaches to measuring flow and immersion follow from "true score" theory (e.g., Nunnally, 1978), requiring multiple questionnaire items to achieve reliable scores. Multiple-item measures not only intrude on campers' time and experience, but they also typically use Likert-type response scales, yielding imprecise, ordinal data (Stevens, 1972) that are often inappropriately summed to create a total score. Likert-type response formats often give rise to acquiescence ("yeasaying;" Posten & Steinmetz, 2022) and "halo effects" (Thorndike, 1920). Acquiescence and halo effects produce negatively skewed distributions and artificially high central tendencies. Variation is often insufficient to detect differences between immersion levels evoked by different activities (e.g., Bennett, 2018; Ellis et al., 2020). An improved process for evaluating camp activities is possible. Magnitude scaling (e.g., Cardello et al., 2005) can be used to produce precise, minimally invasive, ratio-level measures with substantial potential to discriminate among immersion in different activities or programs. Thus, we developed a Labeled Magnitude Scale (LMS) for measuring immersion during camp activities. We evaluated three newly introduced camp activities using the LMS, and evaluated distributions for validity, acquiescence, the halo effect, and discriminating power.

#### Method

Phase 1 of our study involved developing the LMS. LMS are commonly used in the food sciences industry to evaluate sensory reactions such as sweetness, texture, and satiety (Lawless & Heymann, 2010). They are founded in psychophysics instead of true score test theory. Unobservable magnitudes of subjective states (such as immersion) are equated with intensities of directly observable physical phenomena, such as light intensity, sound volume, numeric quantities, and line lengths. As an example, Green et al. (1993) developed an LMS to measure oral sensations. They equated food sensations with a graphic drawing of a continuum of numeric values. Their LMS locates six adverbial modifiers along a continuum based on their relative intensities: barely detectable (intensity = 1.4), weak (5.8), moderate (16.2), strong (33.1), very strong (50.1), and strongest imaginable (95.5). Research participants mark the point along the continuum best representing the magnitude of their oral sensations. The adverbial modifiers inform decisions regarding the precise point at which to mark the continuum.

For our LMS, 117 youth in a 4-H summer camp (59% girls, ages 12-15) judged the intensity of meaning of eight adverbial modifiers (e.g., "somewhat," "slightly," "rather," and

"extremely") using two modalities: hand grip squeeze intensity and line drawing length, in the context of their immersion during camp experiences. We then used magnitude scaling calculations (non-linear transformations) to locate each adverbial modifier along a continuum at its ratio-scaled distance from all others. Calculating magnitudes includes taking the log of responses, calculating geometric means per modifier, exponentiating, and normalizing magnitudes to a range of 0-100. Our LMS for measuring immersion at the peak moment of experiences (e.g., Kahneman, 2000) appears in Figure 1.

Phase 2 was a post-camp survey evaluating three newly introduced camp activities using our LMS: Fun with Food, Leathercrafts, and Outdoor Living. We distributed the questionnaire in the week following camp. Our questionnaire included LMS measure of peak and end moment immersion, and two criterion-validity measures: proclivity to recommend the activity and leveling-up (challenge-skill match). We hypothesized significant, positive relations between immersion (the average of peak- and end-moment immersion) and proclivity to recommend. We also hypothesized that peak-end immersion means would be highest when the challenges of the activity were commensurate with campers' skill levels (Csikszentmihalyi, 1975). Twenty-eight of 122 campers responded, a response rate of 23%.

#### Results

Evidence of validity was found in both phases. In Phase 1, the correlation between adverbial modifier strength via the two modalities was r = .97. In Phase 2, the LMS discriminated among immersion in the three new camp activities. Immersion during Outdoor Living was significantly less than during Fun with Food and Leathercrafts. Immersion was significantly correlated with proclivity to recommend for all three activities (r = .61, .61, and .62, respectively). For leveling-up, immersion means were highest in the "just right" difficulty level for all three activities. Unlike Likert scales, the ratio-level LMS scores allow for meaningful interpretation of percent differences. For Leathercrafts, the mean when leveled-up was 62.43, and only 30.22 when not leveled-up, a difference of 107%. The corresponding differences for Fun with Food and Outdoor Living were 42% and 24%, respectively. Box and whisker plots approximated near-normal distributions. These distributions indicate absence of halo effects and acquiescence.

#### Discussion

We developed a minimally invasive approach to measuring immersion during camp activities, at the ratio level of measurement. Validity was supported by correlations between the two psychophysics modalities as well as significant relations between immersion and criterion variables. Our LMS did not reflect halo or acquiescence effects, and it discriminated among camper immersion in three new camp activities. Within the limitations of the small sample size for Phase 2, sufficient criterion-related evidence of validity was provided to warrant recommending using the LMS as it appears in Figure 1 in future camp evaluations.

#### **Figure 1** LMS for Measuring Immersion During Camp Activities (peak moment immersion illustrated)



#### References

- Bennett, T. (2018). Including the youth perspective: The development of the CPQA Camper Survey. *Journal of Youth Development, 13*(1-2), 266-285. DOI 10.5195/jyd.2018.559
- Cardello, A., Schultz, H., Lesher, L., & Merrill, E. (2005). Development and testing of a labeled magnitude scale of perceived satiety. *Appetite*, *44*, 1-13.
- Csikszentmihalyi, M. (1975). Beyond boredom and anxiety. Jossey-Bass.
- Csikszentmihalyi, M. (1988). The flow experience and its significance in human psychology. In Csikszentmihalyi, M., & Cskiszentmihalyi, I. (Eds.), *Optimal experience: studies of flow in consciousness (pp. 16-36).* New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Deci, E. & Ryan, R. (2002). *Handbook of self-determination theory*. Rochester, NY: University of Rochester Press.
- Ellis, G., Jiang, J., Locke, D., & Snider, C. (2021). Youth program activity impacts: a model of camp activities, psychological needs, and immersion. *Children and Youth Services Review*. 121(February), 1-10.
- Ellis, G. D., Lacanienta, A., Zanolini, W. F., Locke, D., & Jiang, J. (2020). Mindful Learning Experiences Through Structured Reflections During a Youth Travel-Abroad Program. *Journal of Youth Development*, 15(5), 172-185.
- Green, B., Shafer, G., & Gilmore, M. (1993). Derivation and evaluation of a semantic scale of oral sensation magnitude with apparent ratio properties. *Chemical Senses*, *18*, 683-702.
- Kahneman, D. (2000). Evaluation by moments: Past and future. *Choices, values, and frames*, 693-708.
- Lawless, H. & Heyman, H. (Eds.) (2010). Sensory evaluation of food: principles and practices. (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). Springer.
- Nunnally, J. (1978). Psychometric theory. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Posten, A. C., & Steinmetz, J. (2022). Who's a yea-sayer? Habitual trust and affirmative response behavior. *European Journal of Social Psychology*.
- Stevens, S. (1972). Psychophysics and social scaling. Morristown, NJ: General Learning Press.
- Thorndike, E. L. (1920). A constant error in psychological ratings. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 4(1), 25.



AN EFFICIENT AND PRECISE MEASURE OF IMMERSION FOR EVALUATING CAMP EXPERIENCES Gary Ellis, Patti Freeman, Datlene Locke, Alexandra Skrocki, Jingxian Jiang

BYU

AM

# Study Aim/Purpose

## Method

#### MENTAL, EMOTIONAL, AND SOCIAL HEALTH: EXPLORING YOUTH AND STAFF ISSUES AND SUPPORTS IN SUMMER CAMPS

### Authors: Barry A. Garst, Alexandra Skrocki, & Ali Dubin, Clemson University; Tracey Gaslin, Alliance for Camp Health. Contact: Barry A. Garst, bgarst(at)clemson.edu

Concerns have escalated about youth mental health and well-being, with studies suggesting increases in anxiety and depression among youth (Chadi et al., 2022; Zolopa et al., 2022) and increases in depression, alcohol use, and eating disorders among college-age young adults associated with the COVID-19 pandemic (Bountress et al., 2022; Kim et al., 2022). As these mental, emotional, and social health (MESH; see Weare, 2013) issues have emerged, research has examined contemporary MESH issues impacting youth program participants, staff, and organizations (Bloomer et al., 2021; Woodberry-Shaw et al., 2022). While pandemic-related MESH issues have been studied in select youth settings (Borelli et al., 2020; Woodberry-Shaw et al., 2022), few empirical studies have examined MESH in the camp community, yet camp providers have identified participant MESH as a critical issue (Wilson, 2017). Furthermore, because MESH is socially constructed, a specific community or population's perspective toward MESH may differ, making the study of MESH additionally complex. As Weare (2013) suggests, "...different professions, communities, societies and cultures have very different ways of conceptualizing its nature and causes, determining what is mentally healthy, deciding what interventions are appropriate, and so on" (p.13).

#### Figure 1

Health Promotion Framework Camp Community MESH (adapted from Cavioni et al., 2020)



The current study explores youth and staff MESH within the context of summer camp, building on prior literature by examining MESH from the perspective of camp health care service providers and camp administrators. This study was informed by a comprehensive health promotion framework suggested by Cavioni et al. (2020; see Figure 1). When adapted to the camp community, this framework suggests that youth and staff mental health is best understood as supported (through health promotion and prevention) within three domains (i.e., social and emotional learning, resilience, and social, emotional, and behavioral challenges) that exist within an ecology of family and community and a broader

ecology of policy. The study research questions are: (RQ1) What youth and staff MESH issues are most challenging for camp providers? and (RQ2) What available and needed supports are camp providers utilizing for youth and staff MESH issue management?

#### Methods

A two-phased mixed-methods design was used. In Phase 1, qualitative data were collected through two Zoom listening sessions (N = 100 total participants) to capture camp health care provider and administrator perspectives on participant MESH issues. The Padlet online tool captured additional listening session participant feedback. In Phase 2, listening session and Padlet responses informed an online survey developed by the research team. Survey items included MESH scales and open-ended items related to the research questions. The survey was distributed in the fall of 2022 to 438 ACH organizational members responsible for a camp's MESH response and 80 usable responses were collected (18.26% RR). Descriptive statistics were calculated using SPSS version 26.

#### Results

Participants were predominantly female (84%, 67) and White (93%, 74). A majority of participants (79%, 63) represented overnight camps and 16% (13) represented both day and overnight camps. Of the 80 respondents, 55 (69%) were employed in camp health care positions (e.g., Advanced Practice Nurse, Nurse, Director of Health) and 25 (31%) were employed in camp administration positions (e.g., Camp Director, Owner, Board Member). Most participants (59%, 47) reported having worked at a summer camp for more than ten years.

RQ1 results identified camp providers' most challenging youth and staff MESH issues. Respondents reported that ADHD, anxiety, depression, and difficulty regulating emotions are being seen at heightened levels across both youth and staff (see Figure 2 for camper findings). Furthermore, three-quarters (75%, n = 60) of respondents indicated increases in MESH issues among camp staff over the last two years in comparison to previous years. Participants reported camper anxiety as the most challenging issue to manage, followed by suicidal ideation, panic, self-harm, and emotional regulation. Respondents shared that managing these issues was difficult because it takes staff time and resources which are then not available for the larger camper group.

#### Figure 2





RQ2 results revealed available and needed supports for camp providers seeking to respond to youth and staff MESH issues. Over one-third (36%, n = 29) of respondents

reported feeling "somewhat supported" given their current MESH resources, with the three most utilized resources being the ACH MESH Resource Guide (30, 38%), Center for Disease Control and Prevention guidance (36%, n = 29), and the book Camp Nursing: Basics and Beyond (35%, n = 28). Staff preparation was another important support identified by respondents, yet respondents reported less confidence (on a 1-5 scale) in their staff's ability to address disordered eating (M = 2.66, SD = 1.027) and depression (M = 2.96, SD = .999). Additionally, while forty-four (55%) of the 80 respondents required staff to complete precamp MESH training, half (50%, n = 40) reported staff received no ongoing MESH training during the camp season.

#### **Discussion and Implications**

Youth and staff MESH represents a critical issue facing the camp community, and this study provides evidence that the frequency and severity of MESH issues is intensifying, with some issues (e.g., anxiety, suicidal ideation, panic, self-harm) being particularly challenging for camp providers. These findings support the broader literature suggesting increases in youth and young adult MESH issues (Chadi et al., 2022; Zolopa et al., 2022).

The study findings indicate gaps in how staff are prepared to address MESH issues; many staff do not receive MESH training throughout the summer and therefore may not be equipped to successfully respond to emerging youth MESH issues. Camp providers can strengthen their MESH response plans by providing staff with ongoing MESH training, particularly for issues identified as challenging. Further response strategies have been proposed by Gaslin et al. (2022), including helping campers and staff develop coping strategies, expressing affirmation and appreciation, and providing opportunities for unstructured time and play.

#### References

Borelli, C., Gigli, A., & Melotti, G. (2020). The impact of COVID-19 pandemic on Italian nature-based programs in the educational, therapeutic, training and leisure areas. *Education Sciences*, *10*(12), 1-10.

Bloomer, R., Brown, A. A., Winters, A. M., & Domiray, A. (2021). "Trying to be everything else": Examining the challenges experienced by youth development workers. *Children and Youth Services Review, 129*.

Bountress, K. E., Cusack, S. E., Conley, A. H., Aggen, S. H., Spit for Science Working Group,

Vassileva, J., ... & Amstadter, A. B. (2022). The COVID-19 pandemic impacts psychiatric outcomes and alcohol use among college students. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, 13(1), 2022279.

Cavioni, V., Grazzani, I., & Ornaghi, V. (2020). Mental health promotion in schools: A comprehensive theoretical framework. *International Journal of Emotional Education*, *12*(1), 65-82. Chadi, N., Ryan, N. C., & Geoffroy, M. C. (2022). COVID-19 and the impacts on youth mental health: Emerging evidence from longitudinal studies. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, *113*(1), 44-52.

Gaslin, T., Garst, B., & Hamilton, J. (2022). Toward an understanding of the mental, emotional, and social health of camp participants: Awareness and action. *CompassPoint*, 32(1),4-7. Weare, K. (2013). *Promoting mental, emotional and social health: A whole school approach*. Routledge.

Wilson, C. (2017). Seven emerging issues today's camps face. American Camp Association. Woodberry-Shaw, D., Akiva, T., & Lewis, S. S. (2022, September). Youth development staff experiences during the COVID-19 pandemic: A mixed-methods study. *Child & Youth Care Forum*, 1-25.

Zolopa, C., Burack, J. A., O'Connor, R. M., Corran, C., Lai, J., Bomfim, E., ... & Wendt, D. C.

(2022). Changes in youth mental health, psychological wellbeing, and substance use during the COVID-19 pandemic: A rapid review. *Adolescent Research Review*, 1-17.



#### EXPLORING THE MOTIVATION OF TWEEN/TEENS WITH DIABETES AT SUMMER CAMP: A QUALITATIVE APPROACH

Authors: Taylor Harvey<sup>1</sup>, Rowan Williams<sup>1</sup>, Eddie Hill<sup>2</sup>, Alexis Barmoh<sup>1</sup>, Bethany Arrington<sup>1</sup>, Justin Haegele<sup>1</sup>, & Laura Hill<sup>1</sup>

#### <sup>1</sup>Old Dominion University, <sup>2</sup>Weber State University. Contact: Eddie Hill edwardhill(at)weber.edu

An estimated \$16 billion is contributed annually to T1D associated healthcare expenses including the purchase of insulin, presenting both an economic burden and reduced access to life-saving medication in the future (ADA, 2018). With only 17% of youth reaching their target blood sugar, it is important we explore the role of youth programs to address psychosocial needs and promote self-motivated behavior related to diabetes management for youth living with T1D (e.g., Allen et al., 2021). Having a community of support is vital for youth to reach their desired goals, including identified targeted blood glucose levels. Appropriate support can be provided through community partnerships and medical specialty camps.

Similar to other medical specialty camps grounded in self-determination theory (SDT), this theoretical framework assists in the development of outcomes such as motivation (Hill et al., 2015). The motivation-focused theory SDT offers a framework for both scholars and practitioners that promotes the internalization of healthy behavior and can be used to intentionally plan camp experiences. Autonomy supportive environments can promote positive health behaviors while also emphasizing opportunities to build competence, autonomy, and relatedness (Deci & Ryan, 2012). The transfer of skills relevant to managing diabetes, as well as enhancing their quality of life, is facilitated by using SDT for medical specialty camps. Youth programs such as medical specialty camps can provide youth with T1D the opportunity to engage in health-promoting behaviors related to diabetes management (Collins et al., 2021). The purpose of this study was to answer the following research questions: (1) how do youth experience autonomy within their everyday lives, and (2) what opportunities, if any, are presented to youth to nurture competence, autonomy, and relatedness within a medical specialty program for youth with T1D?

Methods

In summer 2022, 25 campers participated in the Recreate, Educate, Advocate & Climb Higher (REACH) Tween/Teen camp. This was a five-day program for youth ages 11-17 held on a college campus. The REACH camp followed an Outcome-focused Programming model (OFP) grounded in SDT. Programming emphasized a multidisciplinary approach incorporating a combination of physical, educational, and art-based activities to promote the three dimensions of SDT. For example, physical activities requiring higher degrees of skill such as biking, rock climbing, and swimming, encouraged youth to build competence through self-assessment of skills and short-term goal setting.

At the conclusion of the week, staff conducted focus group interviews with 21 campers. Participants were separated into three groups based on length of diagnosis divided into three groups based on length of diagnosis (i.e., less than two years, three to six years, and more than six years) and consisted of seven campers in each group. Questions on the interview protocol used were grounded in SDT, including probes such as "What everyday decisions do you find yourself making throughout the day relating to diabetes management?" and "If you could go back in time, is there anything you would change about the choices made this week at camp? If so, what was it?"

After transcribing the initial recording, focus group transcripts were coded both deductively and inductively by the first two authors. Interview transcripts were coded using a predefined set of codes corresponding to the research questions, followed by further investigation within emergent codes during a second and third round of coding. Throughout the coding process, proposed themes were discussed and corroborated by first two researchers.

#### Findings

Participants in the study shared opportunities to build self-determined behaviors within camp, perceived attitudes, and perspectives related to diabetes management described in three themes. In the first theme, the adolescent perspective considered outsider understanding, youth felt as if they were misunderstood. They felt categorized as "the diabetic, who could not eat sugar." They described feeling as if others did not understand anything about the treatment or management of diabetes. They shared that others would "mock their insulin pump" and would feel like they must disclose their T1D to everyone, while explaining the truths of T1D which others would not understand. With this, they felt as if their autonomy was taken away through daily situations and the school setting.

In the second theme, participants expressed that their autonomy changes through the day and depending on their context or situation. For example, at night the youth expressed that their parents would help monitor throughout the night to treat low blood glucose values. Throughout sports and clubs, the youth expressed it was easier to navigate those situations with the assistance of others. This looked like several different things: moms watching blood sugars, taking breaks, or even stopping practice when blood glucose values were above 400 mg/dL to prevent injury. Each individual had their own way of alerting others while being physically active, such as "tapping my leg to alert my teammates that I am going low during cheer."

In the final theme, youth shared multiple opportunities to engage in activities and behaviors that promote competence, autonomy, and relatedness during REACH. The youth had the ability to explore the effects of new foods in a successful way, which they had the support of the camp staff. Participants expressed having less parental involvement through the process of counting carbs and treating blood sugar values. Using CampViews (electronic medical record platform), staff were able to see the youths blood glucose values and allow "us to not have to worry about blood sugars." With the camp only having youth with T1D, they expressed a sense of community and understanding in the space of REACH.

#### **Discussion and Implications**

Medical specialty camp can provide youth an autonomy-supportive environment outside of traditional youth serving institutions, allowing for intentionally designed opportunities that promote competence, autonomy, and relatedness (Allen et al., 2021). With rising prevalence of T1D diagnosis, the utilization of programs such as medical specialty camps to promote positive health outcomes should be considered, particularly for adolescent youth who may struggle to meet target A1C levels (Gregory et al., 2022). Understanding the experiences of program participants can provide both healthcare professionals and medical camp staff unique insight into opportunities that can support camper autonomy. Additionally, focus groups with participants can provide evaluative data that provides insight into contextual influences that can contribute to participant's overall program experience including interactions with peers, families, and other significant adults within their lives. With wide support from both medical professionals and funders, this program provides evidence-based practices to assist serving youth for outcomes of autonomy, competence, and relatedness (Williams et al., 2022). This study is limited to T1D specific camps, not all medical specialty camps. With the focus groups that were conducted, asking the youth about diabetes management skills would not be applicable to other medical specialty camps. Practitioners are encouraged to view these findings as a meaningful contribution to aid in the creation of a Community of Practice for diabetes camp professionals. This data helps to inform perspectives of youth living with T1D, providing insight to assist in motivating healthy lifestyles.

#### References

Allen, A. Hill, E., Viglietta, C., Miles, D., & Williams, R. (2021). Using rock climbing for recreation among youth with type 1 diabetes: Evaluating the REACH Program. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation, Education and Leadership* 13(2), 67-72. https://doi.org/10.18666/JOREL-2021-V13-I2-10540

American Diabetes Association. (2018). Economic costs of diabetes in the U.S. in 2017. Diabetes Care, 41(5),917-928. doi:10.2337/dci18-0007

Collins, T., Hill, E., Reifschneider, K., Ramsing, R., & Heagele, J. (2021). Using a medical specialty camp to promote health and wellness among youth with diabetes. *Journal of Recreation, Parks, and Tourism in Public Health, 5,* 93-108. https://doi.org/10.2979/rptph.5.1.06

Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (2012). Self-determination theory. In P. A. M. Van Lange, A. W.

Kruglanski, & E. T. Higgins (Eds.), Handbook of theories of social psychology (pp. 416–436). Sage Publications Ltd.

Hill, E., Gagnon, R., Ramsing, R., Goff, J., Kennedy, B., & Hooker, T. (2015). Measuring the

impact of a medical specialty camp: Using self-determination theory. *Therapeutic Recreation Journal,* 49(4), 310. <u>https://doi.org/10.4135/9781446249215.n21</u>

Gregory GA, Robinson TIG, Linklater SE, et al. (2022). Global incidence, prevalence, and mortality of type 1 diabetes in 2021 with projection to 2040: a modelling study. *Lancet Diabetes* 

Endocrinology. 2022;S2213-8587(22)00218-2. doi:10.1016/S2213-8587(22)00218-2.

Williams, R., Hill, E., Harvey, T., Reynolds, L., Mireles, A. (2022, February 8-11). Friendship, competence and CGMs: Piloting a medical specialty tween day camp. In A. Gillard (Chair), ACA Camp Research Forum Book of Abstracts [Symposium]. American Camp Association's 2022 Camp Research Forum, United States.

### **Exploring the Motivations** Camp: A Qualitative of Tween/Teens with **Diabetes at Summer** Approach

Taylor Harvey, Rowan Williams, Eddie Hill, Alexis Barmoh, Bethany Arrington, Justin Haegele, & Laura Hill Contact: Eddie Hill (edwardhill@weber.edu)

## INTRO

- Roughly \$16 billion of healthcare expenses are associated with TID (ADA, 2018).
   17% of youth with TID reach their larget blood glucose, therefore, programming needs to explore psychosocial needs and promote self-motivated behavior rated to diabete management for youth living with TID (e.g., Allen et al., 2021)
   Self-determination theory (SDT), a theoretical
  - autonomy supportive environments to promote positive health behaviors (Deci & Ryan, 2012; Hill framework that assists in the development of et al., 2015).
- Through medical specialty camps youth with T1D could argage in health permoning the abaviors related to diabetes management (Collins et al., 2021). The purpose of this study was to answer the
  - (1) how do youth experience autonomy within their everyday lives, and following research questions:
- (2) what opportunities, if any, are presented to youth to nurture competence, autonomy, and relatedness within a medical specialty program for youth with T1D?

## METHODS

- Five-day program for youth ages 11-17 during the Summer of 2022 at 010 Dominion University, 55 campers participated in the Accreate, Educate, Advocate & Climb Higher (REACH) Tween/Teen camp.
  - Focus group interviews were conducted where 21
- campers participated . Participanes were separated into three groups based on length of diagnosis (i.e., less than two years, three to six years, and more than six years) and
- Focus group transcripts were coded both deductively and inductively by the first two authors. Interview transcripts were coded using a predefined set of codes corresponding to the research questions. consisted of seven campers in each group.
- followed by further investigation within emergent codes during a second and third round of coding.





(1)







Based on the qualitative findings, campers shared their











motivations in relation to TID management.





### RESULTS

REACH

A A

understanding, youth felt as if they were misunderstood. They felt categorized as "the diabetic, who could not cat sugar", "mock their The adolescent perspective considered outside insulin pump"

sugars, taking breaks, or even stopping practice when blood glucose values were above 400 mg/dL to prevent injury. • Youth were provided multiple opportunities to The youth expressed that their autonomy changes through the day and depending on their context or situation, easier to navigate those situations with the assistance of others. morns watching blood

competence, autonomy, and relatedness during REACH by exploring the effects of new foods in a successful way, which they had the support of the engage in activities and behaviors that promot

accessant may mark up mark user appeared and camp staff having less parental involvement through the process of counting carbs and treating blood sugar values - Using CampyTews (electronic medical record platform), staff were able to see the youths' blood glucose values and allow "us to not have to worry about blood sugars"

# DISCUSSION AND IMPLICATIONS

traditional youth serving institutions, allowing for intentionally designed opportunities that promote competence, autonomy, and relatedness (Allen et · Medical specialty camp can provide youth an autonomy-supportive environment outside of al., 2021).

With rising prevalence of T1D diagnosis, the utilization of programs such as medical specialty camps to promote positive health outcomes should be considered, particularly for adolescent youth

- who may struggle to meet arget AIC levels (Gregory et al., 2022). Understanding the experiences of program participants can provide both healthcare professionals and medical camp staff unique insight into opportunities that can support camper
  - Focus groups provide evaluative data that provides insight into contextual influences that can autonomy.
    - contribute to participant's overall program
- Practitioners are encouraged to view these findings as a meaningful contribution to aid in the creation of a Community of Practice for diabetes camp
  - professionals. These data help to inform programming for youth living with T1D, providing insight to assist in motivating healthy lifestyles.

#### EVALUATION WITH A PURPOSE: CONTINUOUS PROGRAM IMPROVEMENT OF A FAMILY DIABETES CAMP

Authors: Karrie Hobbs<sup>1</sup>, Eddie Hill<sup>2</sup>, Bethany Arrington<sup>1</sup>, Ron Ramsing<sup>3</sup>, Alexis Barmoh<sup>1</sup>, Rowan Williams<sup>1</sup> & Justin Haegele<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Old Dominion University, <sup>2</sup>Weber State University, <sup>3</sup>Western Kentucky University Contact: Eddie Hill edwardhill(at)weber.edu

Type 1 diabetes (T1D) is an autoimmune disease that necessitates regular monitoring and is one of the most common chronic diseases facing youth (Imperatore et al., 2018). People living with T1D are at risk of complications, although with quality management the severity may be diminished. Practicing quality diabetes management, however, remains a challenge for many youth (Allen et al., 2020). Research suggests family support is a critical component for effective diabetes management by youth (Ahmed & Yeasmen, 2016). Engaging family members alongside youth can be effective at improving self-management skills (Haegele et al., 2022). Family diabetes camps can be a unique setting for youth to enhance these skills. This space allows education through recreation in the hopes of improving quality of life.

Utilizing theory-based programming rooted in self-determination, diabetes family camps have been shown to be effective in helping youth meet their basic psychological needs of competence, autonomy, and relatedness – foundational for youth developing autonomous diabetes self-management skills (Hill et al., 2015). This theory explores the realms of human motivation. Deci and Ryan (2000) explain, to become intrinsically motivated a person's three psychological needs of are autonomy, relatedness, and competence must be met. Although diabetes camps remain rare in comparison to traditional camp offerings, including families in these camps offers education for caregivers in how to create autonomy supportive environments and life skills. This particular program evaluation explored the impact of the REACH program's family component. Specifically, the purpose was to evaluate the Family Diabetes Camp experience for program improvement.

#### Methods

Family Diabetes Camp (FDC) is a medical specialty camp operated through a partnership between the Lions Club, a university, and local hospitals. The 2022 three-day, two-night camp included 31 families. All volunteer counselors were trained on T1D, outcome-focused programming, and participated in Autonomy Supportive Environments Training (ASET), the theoretical foundation for camp. The camp used Outcome-Focused Programming to improve diabetes management grounded in human motivation. All programming was grounded in the self-determination theory (SDT).

Families were organized into cohorts with no more than 12 participants including two counselors and one healthcare provider. The inclusion of a health care provider in each cohort was based on 2021 feedback. Traditional camp and specific diabetes focused activities that promote healthy lifestyles were embedded throughout camp. Based on the 2021 program evaluation, families wanted fewer parent sessions (2021 included five sessions). In 2022, we reduced parent sessions to two, both focused on ASET as a strategy for motivation of diabetes management. Also based on the 2021 data, a 30-minute forum with counselors living with T1D was added to the parent session to assist in perspective-taking. Finally, campers from 2021 expressed a desire for decision-making regarding activity selection. On the last day, campers were permitted to choose activities. Parents and

counselors were surveyed about the camp experience. Quantitative data were collected and analyzed through Qualtrics. A direct content analysis was used to interpret the open-ended questions and find patterns and commonalities of experiences shared by parents and counselors. The 24-item Basic Psychological Need Satisfaction Frustration Scale (BPNSFS) was used to assess the theoretically grounded camp impact on competence, autonomy, and relatedness among campers.

#### Results

Utilizing a posttest only design, responses from 14 parents and nine counselors provided insight to their experiences and the effectiveness of camp. Response rate from parents was 47% and 75% from counselors. Forty-three percent of parents and 67% of counselors were new to FDC. Both surveyed groups were highly satisfied (90%) with how the camp was organized, pre-camp communication, and training was found to be effective. The majority (92%) of parents and 67% of counselors felt camp was effective at increasing diabetes education. Most parents (86%) found the ASET was highly effective. The majority (85%) of parents felt having a healthcare professional embedded within their cohort effective. Three themes emerged from the qualitative data: learning from others' experiences, implementing choice provision, and a sense of community. Two themes emerged from the counselors: the importance of camper self-advocacy and learning more about diabetes management. Finally, parents were asked what they perceived as their child's biggest takeaways. The two main themes involved: a sense of being "normal" and making friends who also have T1D. The counselor's reflection of what they felt their campers gained from FDC included central themes of: not being alone in their diagnosis and recreational barriers to youth with T1D.

#### **Discussion and Implications**

Family diabetes camps are one of several supports that assist youth living with and learning about T1D. Continuous program evaluation is critical and allows practitioners to share evidence-based practice with community partners (Collins et al., 2021). Worldwide, the number of people living with T1D is expected to double by 2040 (Lancet, 2022). Practitioners need to know how to better serve this population and program evaluations such as these will lay the framework for needed expansion of camping to teach and improve T1D management. These data will be used for programming plans for 2023. While diabetes education is key to successful self-management, so is the sense of community that provides the safety net of support, vulnerability for learning from others living with similar experiences, and learning new skills (e.g., ASET). The findings support the effective programming and value staff training; to support camper self-advocacy necessitates comprehensive knowledge of diabetes. However, some limitations must be taken into consideration such as the small sample size and response rate of this evaluation. And while parents and staff reaped benefits from the camp, the impact on the child, as perceived by the parents, is notable - youth want to feel "normal" while living with a disease that to the layperson often looks complicated. Fitting in and finding a cohort of like people is powerful and real or perceived, a support that may lead to better understanding how to develop and sustain self-management skills. This evaluation can help to create the needed Community of Practice for diabetes recreation services as well as provide the framework for the REACH program to be expanded nationwide.

#### References

Allen, A., Viglietta, C., Bitterman, A., Kling, D., & Hill, E. (2020). Using rock climbing to

promote wellness among youth with type 1 diabetes: A self-determination perspective. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation, Education, and Leadership, 12*(2), 213.

Ahmed, Z., & Yeasmeen, F. (2016). Active family participation in diabetes self-care: A commentary. *Diabetes Management*, 6(5), 104-107.

Collins, T., Ramsing, R., Hill, E., Reifschneider, K., & Kramer, C. (2021). Using partnerships to create a medical specialty camp for youth with diabetes. *Journal of Park and Recreation Administration*. <u>https://doi.org/10.18666/JPRA-2021-10786</u>

Haegele, J. A., Holland, S. K., & Hill, E. (2022). Understanding parents' experiences with children with type 1 diabetes. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(1) 554. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19010554</u>

Hill, E., Gagnon, R., Ramsing, R., Goff, J., Kennedy, B., & Hooker, T. (2015). Measuring the impact of a medical specialty camp: Using self-determination theory. *Therapeutic Recreation Journal*, 49(4), 310.

Gregory GA, Robinson TIG, Linklater SE, et al. (2022). Global incidence, prevalence, and mortality of type 1 diabetes in 2021 with projection to 2040: a modelling study. *Lancet Diabetes* 

*Endocrinology*. 2022;S2213-8587(22)00218-2. doi:10.1016/S2213-8587(22)00218-2. Imperatore G., Mayer-Davis E.J., Orchard T.J., Zhong, V.W. (2018). Prevalence and incidence

of type 1 diabetes among children and adults in the United States and comparison with non-U.S. countries. In Cowie C.C., Casagrande S.S., Menke A., et al., (Eds.). *Diabetes in America* (3rd ed.,). Bethesda (MD): National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK568003/

#### aluation can help to create the needed Community of Practice for s recreation services as well as provide the framework for the REACH e.r.off a state of the constance provision, and a sense of two blannes from counselors enterged is that a sense of camper advocacy and learning more about different management. Paremas preceived their child 5 biggest takeways under two main themas which involved a sense of being. "homma" and making free when the big ways they fight the model or structure of what they fight the model of the model or structure of what they fight the model or structure of what they fight the model or structure of what they fight the model or structure of the model or structure of what they fight the model or structure of the model or reflection of what they felt their campers gained entral themes of (1) not being alone in their diagn-pnal barriers to youth with T1D. ogram evaluation is critical and allows practitioners to d practice with communities of practice (Collins et al., Both surveyed groups were highly satisfied (90%) with how was organized (e.g., pre-camp communication, and training Majority (92%) of parents and 67% of counselors felt camp effective at increasing diabetes education Most parents (86%) found the Autonomy Supportive Envi The majority (85%) of parents feit having a healthcare pr mobuded within their colora to be effective. Three themes from parents emerged: learning from other experiences, implementing choice provision, and a sense s such as these will lay the framework for mity that provides the safety net of suppo ints was 47% and 75% from c The impact on the child, as perceived by the parents, is not feel "normal" while living with a disease that to the layper are one of several sunnorts that a DISCUSSION AND IMPLICATIONS • Worldwide, the number of people living with T1D i Training (ASET) was highly effective. (e.g., ASET) alongside diabetes educ of camping to teach and imp 2040 (Gregory et al., 2022). ind learning about T1D. for learning from others The sense of ed RESULTS et al., 2022). WEBER STATE UNIVERSITY 3

# Practice which provides the safety net of support, vulnerability for learning While diabetes education is key to self-management, it's the Community of from others living with similar experiences, and learning new skills. UNIVERSITY



## **Continuous Program Improvement Evaluation with a Purpose:** of a Family Diabetes Camp

REACH

K arrie Hobbs, Eddie Hill, Bethany Arrington, Ron I Alexis Barmoh, Rowan Williams, & Justin Haegele **Contact: Eddie Hill (**edwardhill@weber.edu)

## INTRO

- s (T1D) is an autoimmune disease that necessitates reg 1 is one of the most common chronic diseases facing yc
- liminish the severity of complications. management remains a challenge for many youth
- uth can be effective at improving self-



# METHODS

- Ouantitative and qualitative data collected in spring of 2022 at a
  - residential family diabetes camp Counselors trained on T1D, Outcome Focused I
- utonomy supp
- All programming was grounded in the Self-deter (SDT)
- **Eight cohorts of campers including two con**
- - Feedback from 2021 influenced reduction in parent-cent educational programs (i.e., five in 2021 and two in 2022
- Added healthcare provider to each cohort based on 2021
  - mu Sunno New

  - Post-test questionnaires were administered to parents and

#### PARTICIPATORY ACTION EVALUATION: IMPROVING CAMPER OUTCOMES BY ENGAGING STAFF IN DATA-BASED GOAL SETTING

#### Authors: Amy M. Leman, Emily A. Schoenfelder, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign Contact: Amy M. Leman, bunselme(at)illinois.edu

Camp counselors are often the "face" of camp programs: they are among the people campers remember from camp and are influential in shaping campers' experiences (American Camp Association, 2006; Halsall et al., 2016; Rabin et al., 2022). However, counselors are not often involved in the camp evaluation processes that might help them understand camper perceptions and possible ways to improve these. This study uses strategies of youth participatory action research (YPAR) to include summer camp counselors at a midwestern, 5-night, residential camp in data analysis from previous campers' experiences at camp. The camp counselors used this analysis to set goals for their upcoming summer camp sessions. We attempted to measure the impact of the camp counselors' data analysis and goal-setting process on campers' perceived camp experiences.

Our research questions included the following:

1.) Are campers' perceived experiences impacted when camp counselors intentionally engage with campers?; and

2.) Do camp counselors report following through with their pre-summer plans to intentionally engage with campers throughout the summer?

#### Methods

In 2019, the last year the site held overnight camp before a 2-year COVID-19 shutdown, campers completed a survey about their perceptions of the developmental context, or program quality, at a midwestern camp for youth ages 8-16. The survey utilized the 4-H Thriving Model instrument, which measures the developmental context of out-ofschool time program settings using scales to measure the constructs of developmental relationships, belonging, and sparks (Arnold, 2018; Arnold & Gagnon, 2019). During camp counselor training in 2022, camp counselors analyzed data from the 2019 survey using data party techniques (Franz, 2013, Lewis et al., 2019). Specifically, large posters defining the various aspects of the developmental context constructs and the response means for each was placed around the room. Counselors moved between posters in small groups, recording their reactions to the data and any questions from the information. Then, the group came together and discussed the information, common perceptions among the small groups, and differing thoughts between the groups. After evaluating the 2019 data, the group determined a focus for their interactions with campers for the 2022 year. These goals included aspects of developmental relationships, including interacting more with campers, engaging them in conversations, and paying attention to their thoughts and ideas. They made plans to create posters for their shared space away from the campers to remind them of their goals. At the end of camp in 2022, campers were given the same 4-H Thriving survey used in 2019.

#### Results

To explore research objective one, survey results from the 2019 survey were compared to results from the 2022 survey. We only compared survey responses of first-year campers in 2019 (n = 52) and 2022 (n = 123), so previous experiences with camping did not enter into their answers. All items on the survey were measured on a 7-point Likert scale

(Arnold, 2018). Among first-year campers in 2022, the mean scores for all indicators of developmental relationships were higher than first-year campers in 2019. However, only three components had a statistically significant increase between 2019 and 2022. These include the indicators asking participants to rate how true the following statements are about adults at their camp: *Expect me to do something positive with my future* (t(173) = 2.20, p < .05), *Hold me accountable* (t(170) = 1.74, p < .05), and *Respect me* (t(172) = 1.88, p < .05). Table 1 displays the mean scores of the Developmental Relationship scale Thriving Indicators for the first-year campers in 2019 and 2022.

#### Table 1

Comparison of Mean Scores of Developmental Relationship Thriving Indicators for Campers in 2019 and 2022

Thriving Indicator Think about the adults in this 4-H program and rate how true each of the following statements are:	2019 Campers <i>n</i> = 52		2022 Campers <i>n</i> = 123			
Statements are.	М	SD	М	SD	t	р
Pay attention to me	5.23	1.40	5.52	1.22	1.2 5	.1 1
Like me	5.27	1.22	5.57	1.33	1.4 0	.0 8
Invest time in me	5.12	1.44	5.41	1.42	1.2 7	.1 0
Show an interest in me	4.90	1.46	5.22	1.73	1.1 6	.1 3
Help me see future possibilities for myself	4.50	1.76	4.71	1.92	.67	.2 5
Expect me to do something positive with my future	4.96	1.70	5.53	1.49	2.2 0	.0 1
Stretch me and push me in new ways	4.80	1.60	4.89	1.68	.32	.3 7
Hold me accountable	5.17	1.38	5.59	1.48	1.7 4	.0 4
Listen to my ideas	5.12	1.61	5.50	1.60	1.4 4	.0 8
Treat me fairly	5.75	1.51	6.08	1.28	1.4 8	.0 7

Treat me seriously	5.48	1.59	5.82	1.43	1.3 9	.0 8
Respect me	5.71	1.42	6.11	1.26	1.8 8	.0 3

To explore research objective two and determine if camp counselors committed and followed through with reaching their goals of increasingly interacting with campers during camp, a survey was sent to all camp counselors and camp staff (n = 43) one month after the end of camp. A total of 29 (67%) responded. The survey asked about their experiences and interactions related to the set goals. All but one camp counselor/staff that responded to the survey question stated that they did interact with campers differently based on the goals set during camp counselor training at the beginning of the summer. All reported ways they thought their efforts had made a difference to campers, and many related to developmental relationships. Some comments included:

- I made sure to treat campers as equals and respected them rather than just little kids.
- I definitely made kids think deeper about what they did, why they did it, and what they'd do in the future with what they learned.

Counselors also responded using the terms of the 4-H Thriving model that were defined in the training data party at the beginning of camp, including "sparks" and developing an environment that is both "safe" and "welcoming."

- This summer I noticed more campers discovering "sparks" at my program area than any other summer I've worked at 4-H camp. what stuck out to me the most was campers experiencing "spark" moments that weren't even necessarily related to the program we were running, but related to counselors and staff sharing common interests with campers.
- I stepped into a new role as a staff member and I interacted with the kids for each and every tournament. I tried to make the environment a safe and welcoming place where each camper felt like they belonged and could have fun.

#### **Discussion and Implications**

This study demonstrates that including camp counselors and staff in data-driven decision-making and goal-setting can impact the camper experience. Responses from counselors reinforce that these individuals did remember the information they learned about developmental relationships during their counselor training and thought about their actions while interacting with the campers. However, we realize that comparing data from camps bookending the COVID-19 pandemic comes with limitations. The 2022 first-year campers may have a different perception of developmental relationship indicators influenced by the years when camp and camp experiences were not an option. Even if the pandemic has had an influence, the results are positive enough to consider more efforts to include camp counselors in goal-setting practices using data-driven methods.

#### References

American Camping Association (2006). Innovations: Improving youth experiences in summer programs. <u>https://www.acacamps.org/sites/default/files/resource\_library/Innovations.pdf</u>

Arnold, M. E. (2018). From context to outcomes: A thriving model for 4-H youth development programs. *Journal of Human Sciences and Extension*, 6(1), 141-160. https://doi.org/10.54718/nbnl5438

- Arnold, M. E., & Gagnon, R. J. (2019). Illuminating the process of youth development: The mediating effect of thriving on youth development program outcomes. *Journal of Human Sciences and Extension*, 7(3), 24-51. <u>https://doi.org/10.54718/ghup2927</u>
- Franz, N. K. The data party: Involving stakeholders in meaningful data analysis. *Journal of Extension* 51(1), Article 3. <u>https://tigerprints.clemson.edu/joe/vol51/iss1/3/</u>
- Halsall, T., Kendellen, K., Bean, C. N., Forneris, T. (2016). Facilitating positive youth development through residential camp: Exploring perceived characteristics of effective camp counselors and strategies for youth engagement. *Journal of Park and Recreation Administration,* 34(4), 20-35. <u>https://doi.org/10.18666/jpra-2016-v34-i4-7273</u>
- Lewis, K. M., Ewers, T., Bird, M., & Wilkins, T. (2019). Engage stakeholders in program evaluation: Throw them a party! *Journal of Extension*, 57(4), Article 15. <u>https://tigerprints.clemson.edu/joe/vol57/iss4/15/</u>
- Rabin, R. O., Johnson, S. K., Christensen, K. M., & Rhodes, J. (2022). Development and initial validation of a camper-counselor relationship scale. *Applied Developmental Science*, 1-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2022.2056462</u>


## DIFFUSING A PROGRAM QUALITY INITIATIVE IN A MULTI-SITE CAMP ORGANIZATION

## Authors: Lacey Maglinger & Victoria Povilaitis, Tim Hortons Foundation Camps. Contact: Lacey Maglinger laceymaglinger(at)timscamps.com

Program quality (PQ) is essential to youth programs and positive outcomes for youth (Smith et al., 2012). PQ reflects the programming environment created by staff practices and staff interactions with youth (American Camp Association (ACA), 2021) and is measured through observations and assessments using tools such as the SEL Program Quality Assessment (PQA) for Camp (Weikart Center, 2021).

PQ is gaining traction within the summer camp field (ACA, 2021); however, seasonal challenges within the industry (e.g., staffing, training; Richmond et al., 2020) make implementing PQ initiatives difficult. Diffusions of innovation theory (Dol; Rogers, 2003; Sahin, 2006) is a helpful framework for understanding how an innovation, such as PQ, is socialized. Diffusion occurs over five stages (knowledge, persuasion, decision, implementation, and confirmation) and is supported with the presence of five attributes during the persuasion stage (Rogers, 2003). Little is known about the diffusion of PQ within camp organizations or the camp field and thus, the purpose of this study was to understand the process of PQ diffusion in one multi-site camp organization.

## Methods

We conducted an instrumental case study across six locations within one camp organization. Case studies include an examination of various types of data (e.g., records, documents, interviews, surveys) and instrumental case studies are intended to generalize findings to other similar cases (Stake, 1995), in this case, other multi-site camp organizations.

Two project leads coordinated all PQ trainings and assessments. Most participants were full-time employees, participated in ongoing PQ training, and were given opportunities to workshop and test modified PQA tools during Spring 2022. During summer training, all staff were trained on PQ and assessments for the summer. Study data include records of training (hours and focus) and PQA tool refinement meetings. We deductively coded data using Dol concepts, specifically stages of innovation and five attributes of Dol.

## **Findings**

Figure 1 outlines the hours and focus of program quality work within the stages of Dol, Figure 2 indicates participant attendance at pre and post-summer PQ meetings.

Innovation Stages		
Stage of Innovation	PQ Focused Content	Total Time Spent
Knowledge	<ul> <li>Intro</li> <li>Sessions #1- #4: SEL PQA for Camp tool deep dive</li> <li>Youth advisory council (YAC) workshop</li> <li>Training reviews (x4)</li> <li>Session #8: observations &amp; notes</li> <li>Onboarding for late hires</li> </ul>	12 hours- Spring 2022

## Figure 1

•

Persuasion	<ul> <li>Activity plan reviews (organized by early adopters- optional)</li> <li>Session #5-#7 (adapted tool creation)</li> <li>YAC workshop (collaboration with camp teams)</li> <li>Assessment tool trials with camp teams</li> <li>Practice scoring activity &amp; office hours</li> </ul>	11 hours-Spring 2022
Decision (Organization-led)	<ul> <li>Summer assessment planning meeting (1 per camp = 6 total)</li> </ul>	6 hours-June 2022
Implementation	<ul> <li>Summer staff training (x6)</li> <li>Self-assessment cycles - 2 per camp (12 total)</li> <li>Assessment follow ups- 2 per camp (12 total)</li> <li>External assessments (6 total)</li> </ul>	12 Hours per Camp 6 Hours per External 108 hours Total-Summer 2022
Confirmation	<ul> <li>Workshop &amp; debrief</li> <li>Data review meetings</li> <li>Re-launch PQ session to adapt tools &amp; processes based on learning</li> </ul>	12 hours

## Figure 2

2022 PQ Engagement

Months	Engagement
Jan/Feb	86%
March/April	75%
May/June	42%
July/August	25%
Sep/Oct	92%

Throughout pre-summer meetings and trainings, we highlighted the five attributes of the diffusion of PQ to program teams. The relative advantage of this work is that the approach is research validated and would provide consistency across multiple sites, compatibility was present through being mission and value aligned as well as being tied to our organizations strategic plan, the tools and approach were perceived as complex by the camp teams, there was an element of trialability for PQA during the spring season, and the observable benefits of PQA included being able to make data driven program improvement plans.

Prior to summer, most camps anticipated concerns about their ability to execute PQAs as planned due to leadership capacity, particularly for locations with staffing or operational challenges. Having a short window to train seasonal staff on PQ, difficulties staffing camps to full structure, and competing priorities for leadership staff impaired diffusion of PQ across sites. The implementation of co-created tools requiring reduced training and assessment were more feasible for camp teams during summer operations. Though there was a struggle with uptake during the operational summer months, there was an increase buy-in for Program Managers during the data review workshops this fall as 57% of Program Managers reported that they saw *more* value in PQA after the assessments and fall workshops. One manager described "the data and key information that came out of the tools" as the best part of the assessment experience.

## Implications

At our organization, we were able to dedicate time and resources to PQ yet we still faced significant capacity and operational challenges to its implementation. Although fulltime leadership and seasonal staff were at different stages of Dol depending on myriad factors, dedicating time to providing opportunities for staff to see and/or experience the relative advantage, compatibility, complexity, trialability and observability of the innovation (Rogers, 2003) was critical in early stages to ensure everyone was committed to PQ. Regardless of staff commitment, challenges will still arise given the seasonality of camp and short training opportunities. Leveraging the social currency of leadership and returning staff who model commitment to PQ may further support diffusion within an organization.

The findings indicate that modifying established measurement tools to create tools that obtain similar PQ information with less staff burden and strategically layering PQ into training may efficiently persuade staff to adopt PQ practices and assessments. Practitioners should consider their intentions with PQ (i.e., internal improvement or benchmarking with similar programs) and dedicate finances, staff, and time accordingly. Findings from this study may be generalizable to other multi-site camp organizations, however practitioners should consider differences in their structure, programs, and participant needs that may impact the diffusion of PQ. Future research should evaluate diffusion of PQ longitudinally in spaces with significant seasonal turnover in staff and regular challenges with capacity to yield a greater understanding of PQ organizational diffusion and innovation amongst youth-facing teams.

## References

American Camp Association (2021). Camp Program Quality Initiative https://www.acacamps.org/resource-library/research/camp-program-quality-initiative

Richmond, D., Sibthorp, J., & Bialeschki, D. (2020). Motivations and barriers for seasonal camp employment, *Journal of Youth Development*, 15(1), 180-2013. https://doi.org/10.5195/jyd.2020.822

Rogers, E. M., (2003). Diffusions of innovations (5th ed). Free Press.

- Sahin, I. (2006). Detailed review of Rogers' diffusions of innovations theory and educational technology-related studies based on Rogers' theory, *The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 5(2), 14-23.
- Smith, C., ... & Devaney., T. (2012). Continuous quality improvement in afterschool settings: Impact findings from the Youth Program Quality Intervention Study. Forum for Youth Investment.

Stake, R.E. (1995). The art of case study research. Sage.

Weikart Center (The Forum for Youth Investment) 2021. Social Emotional Learning Program Quality Assessment for Camps, <u>https://www.jotform.com220343710931143</u>

Tims Cam	Diffusing	a program quality initiative in a multi-site camp organization Lacey Maglinger & Victoria Povilaitis, PhD   Tim Hortons Foundation Camps	uo
	Introduction	Findings	ßs
•	Program quality (PQ) is essential to youth programming and is gaining	12 hours were spent building knowledge, 11 hours in persuasion, 6	ledge, 11 hours in persuasion, 6
•	traction in summer camp. Seasonal challenges within the industry (e.g., staffing, training) make	hours explaining and agreeing to the decision, 108 in implementation, and 12 hours in confirmation	ie decision, 108 in implementation
	implementing PQ initiatives difficult.	Pre summer, most camps anticipated concerns about their ability to	ed concerns about their ability to
•	Diffusions of innovation (Dol) is a framework to understand how an innovation is socialized.	<ul> <li>execute PQAs due to leadership capacity.</li> <li>Short staff training, difficulties staffing camps, and competing</li> </ul>	bacity. ing camps, and competing
•	Little is known about the diffusion of PQ within summer camp	priorities impaired organizational PQ diffusion.	Q diffusion.
•	Purpose of this study: to understand the process of PQ diffusion in one multi-site camp organization.	Table 1. Participant attendance at PQ meetings	gs
	Mathada	Months	Engagement
	Interlious	Jan/Feb	86%
•	Instrumental case study across six locations within one camp	March/April	75%
	organization.	May/June	42%
ł	Data include records of training (hours & focus) and PQA tool	July/Aug	25%
	refinement meetings.	Sep/Oct	92%
•	Data were coded using Dol concepts (i.e., stages of innovation and five attributes).	<ul> <li>57% of Program Managers saw more value to PQ work after data review workshops in the fall.</li> </ul>	<i>e value</i> to PQ work after data
	Discussion and Implications	Implications	
•	Leveraging social currency of leadership and returning staff who model co	and returning staff who model commitment to PQ may support diffusion.	
•	Regardless of staff commitment, challenges will arise given seasonality of camp and short training.	camp and short training.	***
•	Modifying established tools to create those that obtain similar PQ information with less staff burden and strategically	ation with less staff burden and strategi	cally 👔
•	ופאבותוס רע ותנס גרפותותס הפא פתוכופתנוץ persuade starr נס פמסגר רע practices and assessments. Consider your intentions with PQ (i.e., internal improvement or benchmarking with similar programs); dedicate finances. staff. and time accordingly.	ces and assessments. rking with similar programs); dedicate	TIMpact365
			*

## CULTIVATING UNDERREPRESENTED YOUTH'S INTEREST IN CAMP EMPLOYMENT

## Authors: Lisa Meerts, Hilary Lambert, Wenting Yu & Jim Sibthorp, University of Utah. Contact: Lisa Meerts, lisa.meerts(at)utah.edu

Camp can be a rich developmental opportunity where youth build skills that prepare them for college and career success (e.g., Wilson & Sibthorp, 2018). Although individual camps vary, many people see the summer camp industry as being more accessible to affluent, White youth (Browne et al., 2019). Many camps want to attract youth from underrepresented backgrounds and become more inclusive (American Camp Association, 2013). Having staff who share campers' social identities may support this goal because they can help campers feel a greater sense of belonging (Thomas, 2016). Subsequently, youth from underrepresented backgrounds may be more likely to enroll and gain camp's developmental benefits.

Counselors often report that they value the relationships and their ability to have a meaningful impact in their camp work, which increases their likelihood of retention (Richmond et al., 2020). Many camp staff obtain their positions after having been campers or participating in counselor-in-training (CIT) programs. Thus, one productive avenue for recruiting staff from underrepresented backgrounds could be through high-quality CIT programs. Introducing underrepresented youth to camp and creating progressive opportunities (from camper to CIT to camp counselor) may strengthen their camp identity and lead them to become camp staff (see Bond & Haynes, 2014, for a description of how to increase workplace diversity). Although turnover in camp employment is high, some underrepresented camp staff recruited through these channels may eventually obtain leadership positions, resulting in greater representation of underrepresented populations across camps. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to identify what characteristics of the CIT experience made it more likely that youth from underrepresented backgrounds who participated in a CIT program developed an interest in becoming counselors.

## Methods

Participants (N = 95) were recruited from camps that developed CIT programs for youth that the camp identified as being underrepresented at that camp. Most CITs had previously attended the camp where they were a CIT (88.3%) and were 12-18 years old (M = 14.75, SD = 1.4). Sixty percent of participants identified as a person of color, and almost half identified as a member of a marginalized group, including 15% who identified as non-binary.

Participants completed a post-CIT program survey and answered open-ended questions about high- and lowlights, and the most important factor in deciding to return as a CIT or counselor. They answered questions on a Likert-type rating scale about the likelihood of returning as a CIT and the importance of lowlights in their decision. In addition, participants completed a modified Diversity Engagement Survey (DES), which assesses an organization's ability to foster inclusion and engagement (Person et al., 2015). Semistructured interviews were conducted to more deeply understand CITs' experiences (n = 11). Two coders reviewed the transcripts and coded content using an open coding scheme related to three questions (Saldaña, 2009). 1) How did the participants' social identity impact their experience as a CIT? 2) What qualities would increase the likelihood that participants with these social identities return as a CIT or future camp counselor? And 3) What recommendations do CITs have for increasing representation of people with their social identity at camp? After each coder reviewed all transcripts, they met to discuss discrepancies and used thematic analysis to collapse their codes (Braun & Clarke, 2006).

Results

Results from the DES largely suggested that the camps in this study were equitable and inclusive. Each of the seven subscales exhibited ceiling effects within our sample and did not vary by self-identified aspects of CITs' social identities (e.g., race, gender, or marginalization).

## **Drivers of CIT Retention**

Participant responses to open-ended questions were coded and analyzed for frequency. The three most frequently identified highlights included the CIT program (21%), camp structure (e.g., the size of the camp) (20%) and specific activities (16%). **Drivers of CIT Turnover** 

### Drivers of CIT Turnover The three most frequently

The three most frequently identified lowlights included issues related to camp structure (18%), management (16%), and the CIT program (11%). Participants rated how important each lowlight was to their decision to return as a CIT. The lowlights scored as most important differed from the most frequently identified lowlights. Compensation (M = 4.88, SD = .33), the diversity within camp (M = 4, SD = 1.41), and the availability of learning opportunities (M = 4, SD = 1) were the most important factors teens would use to determine if they returned to camp as a CIT.

## Interest in CIT/Counselor Employment

Most participants (89%) were very confident they would return as a CIT, and 75% of participants were very or extremely interested in becoming counselors. Personal reasons were the most frequently identified factor in whether a participant would return as a CIT (27%) or counselor (21%). After personal reasons, CITs most frequently identified camp structure (17%) and relationships at camp (14%) as the most important factors in whether they would return. They most frequently identified compensation (16%), support from management (11%), and relationships (10%) as most important to their decision to become a counselor.

## **Interview Data**

When asked directly, participants reported that they did not perceive that their social identity impacted their CIT experience, although one CIT reported an incident where derogatory comments were made about CITs of different racial identities who dated at camp. In line with previous research (c.f., Riley et al., 2021), CITs thought the CIT experience would be improved with more structure and stronger training and mentorship from camp staff. They also said that compensation rates would significantly impact their decision to return. Their families generally supported their decision to be a CIT, although some CITs reported that their parents or caregivers did not understand the value of working as a CIT or camp counselor. One participant said, "My mom doesn't really know about my job. She's like, 'Yeah, it's fun stuff, right?' She thought that I could [spend] my time doing something more beneficial." Many participants said they wanted to become a CIT because they had positive experiences as campers and wanted to provide similar experiences for others. Another participant said, "I really wanted the opportunity to impact kids the way my life was impacted in that short time. So, I just feel it was really important to use my summer to do that." Most CITs were initially introduced to camp through social networks, including neighbors, friends, family, school, and church. The CITs also described the camps they attended as being especially successful at creating an inclusive environment.

## Discussion

Although the CITs in this program represented a more diverse group than is typical at many camps, almost all had previously been campers and their experiences aligned with past research on campers and CITs (c.f., Richmond et al., 2020). The participants reported that their camps provided an inclusive experience for campers who shared their social identities, findings that coalesced in both the quantitative and qualitative data. Overall, the CITs in this study were highly interested in returning to camp. The most important draw to returning to camp was the camp community and relationships with peers and campers. Differences emerged in returning as a CIT versus a counselor, suggesting that camp aligns differently with CIT's short- versus long-term goals. What makes a CIT program important may be the camp structure and relationships, but when considering future employment, CITs prioritized pay, opportunities that prepared them for future learning and careers, and positive interactions with management. It appeared that CITs' families—and at times, CITs themselves—did not appreciate that camp employment could teach valuable skills until after the CIT program ended.

A key limitation within this study was that the sample population was drawn from former campers who had an established relationship with the camp where they were a CIT. Thus, they represented individuals with prior exposure to camp rather than individuals who were new to camp and camp employment. However, the findings offer preliminary evidence that CIT programs can be a bridge to keep underrepresented youth connected to camps they had attended and to maintain their interest in becoming camp counselors until they are old enough to do so. Given that many CITs in the study reported a desire for better training and more feedback, camps could improve the CIT program structure to provide these opportunities. They could also focus on ensuring that CIT and camp counselor compensation is in line with similar job opportunities and consider how to better communicate the types of job-relevant skills youth obtain through camp employment.

## References

American Camp Association. (2013). Camp diversity: A call to action.

- https://www.acacamps.org/sites/default/files/resource\_library/camping\_magazine/Camp-Diversity.pdf
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *3*(2), 77-101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp0630a</u>
- Browne, L. P., Gillard, A., & Garst, B. A. (2019). Camp as an institution of socialization: Past, present, and future. *Journal of Experiential Education*, 42(1), 51-64.
- Bond, M. A., & Haynes, M. C. (2014). Workplace diversity: A social-ecological framework and policy implications. Social Issues and Policy Review, 8(1), 167-201. doi.org/10.1111/sipr.12005
- Person, S. D., Jordan, C. G., Allison, J. J., Ogawa, L. M. F., Castillo-Page, L., Conrad, S., Nivet, M. A., & Plummer, D. L. (2015). Measuring diversity and inclusion in academic medicine: The diversity engagement survey (DES). Academic Medicine: Journal of the Association of American Medical Colleges, 90(12), 1675-1683.
- Richmond, D., Sibthorp, J., & Bialeschki, M. D. (2020). Motivations and barriers for seasonal camp employment. *Journal of Youth Development*, 15(1), 180-203.
- Riley, M., Dickerson, J., Sibthorp, J., & Bialeschki, D. (2021). Neither camper nor staff: Understanding counselor-in-training programs. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation, Education, and Leadership*, 13(1).

Saldaña, J. (2009). Coding manual for qualitative researchers. SAGE Publications.

Thomas, L. (2016). Developing inclusive learning to improve the engagement, belonging, retention, and success of students from diverse groups. In *Widening Higher Education Participation* (pp. 135-159). Elsevier.

Wilson, C., & Sibthorp, J. (2018). Examining the role of summer camps in developing academic and workplace readiness. *Journal of Youth Development*, *13*(1-2), 83-104.

Cultivating U Lisa Meerts,	Cultivating Underrepresented Youth's Interest in Camp Employment Lisa Meerts, Hilary Lambert, Wenting Yu & Jim Sibthorp, University of Utah	nployment y of Utah
1 -1	<b>Study Aim/Purpose</b> Identify characteristics of counselor-in-training (CIT) programs that increase likelihood that youth from underrepresented backgrounds who participated in a CIT program want to become camp counselors	d that youth from UNIVERSITY amp counselors OF UTAH
Participants (N = 95)	Methods	
• Age 12-18 ( $M = 14.75$ , $SD = 1.4$ )	Completed post-CIT program survey	
60% identified as a person of color	Interest in returning as CIT or camp counselor	
<ul> <li>~ 50% identified as a member of a</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Diversity Engagement Survey (DES)</li> </ul>	
marginalized group, including 15% who identified as non-binary	<ul> <li>Highlights/lowlights of CIT program</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>88% percent had previously attended</li> </ul>	Most important factors impacting decision to return	
the camp where they served as a CIT	• Subset $(n = 11)$ completed semi-structured interviews	
		Imulications for Practitioners
Interest in Returning as		
CIT/Counselor	DES. Hiahliahts/Lowliahts. Decision to Return	Aspects like CIT program features and
89% of participants were very confident they would return as a CIT	DES showed CIT programs were equitable/inclusive	caury su ucture can be an asset of a headache. To make these things a hirthlicht create a well-designed CIT
75% of participants were very or extremely interested in becoming counselors.	Top <u>highlights</u> included CIT program features (e.g., how they were trained; 21%), camp structure (e.g., living in cabins; 18%), and activities (e.g., swimming; 16%)	program where CITs know they are valued and receive regular feedback and mentorship from camp staff.
Semi-structured Interviews	Program features and camp structure were also top	Because youth who identify as camp
CIT programs generally seen as inclusive	<u>lowlights</u> among CITs (11% and 18%, respectively), as was management (e.g., support from camp leadership; 16%)	kids want to become CITs, focus on building inclusive camp that appeals to
Families and friends do not immediately	Top factors impacting the decision to return were	potential underrepresented campers
appreciate how hard being a CIT is or know what CITs learn from their work	compensation ( $M = 4.88$ ), diversity ( $M = 4$ ) and opportunities for shill development ( $M = 4$ )	Contact: Lies Moarts Assistant Professor
	$f_{\pm} = \pi i i$ intrindicto to the tot	University of Utah, lisa.meerts@utah.edu

## HIRING AND TRAINING PRACTICES THAT INCREASE DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION AT SUMMER CAMPS

Authors: Lisa Meerts, University of Utah, Taylor Wycoff, American Camp Association, Jim Sibthorp, University of Utah, & Laurie Browne, American Camp Association Contact: Lisa Meerts, lisa.meerts(at)utah.edu

As camps strive to become more diverse and inclusive, they can use various effective strategies to improve their practices. Common practices include developing inclusive and equitable administrative policies, assessing and evaluating diversity and inclusion (D&I)<sup>1</sup> in their programs, and increasing access to camp by removing barriers and recruiting more diverse campers (Browne et al., 2019). Another important focal area is staffing. First, camps can expand their ability to recruit and hire diverse employees who may reflect the diversity of the campers they want to attract. Deep-level diversity refers to an organization's values and attitudes, which when communicated through recruiting materials can better attract diverse employees than recruiting for surface-level diversity (e.g., demographic characteristics) (Casper et al., 2013). Second, regardless of their employees' identities, camps can increase their employees' ability to be inclusive through training (Gutiérrez et al., 2017). Diversity training tends to be most successful when coupled with multiple initiatives rather than oneoff trainings (Bezrukova et al., 2016). Trainings typically focus on three categories of outcomes: cognitive (when trainees acquire knowledge), behavioral (the development of skills), and affective (beliefs and attitudes about diversity) (Bezrukova et al., 2016). Given that little research has focused on the range of D&I practices that camps employ, the purpose of this study was to survey camps about the practices they use to increase D&I at camp and identify approaches to hiring and training that seem especially useful.

Methods

Participants (N = 390) in this study were recruited through the ACA Now and Y-USA's online newsletters, and the ACA National Conference, and included representation from across the United States. The majority were non-profit camps (82.6%) and the majority offered overnight programming (38%). Participants completed a survey about 23 diversity, equity and inclusion strategies that were organized in five groups (see Figure 1). Participants rated whether they did a particular strategy well, tried to do the strategy, did not do the strategy or whether they were unsure if they did the strategy. A subset of participants (n = 19) who responded that their camp did well with the hiring and training strategies completed semi-structured interviews about what made their hiring and training practices effective. Two coders analyzed the interview data and used constant comparison to develop codes that were thematically analyzed (Braun & Clarke, 2006).

## Results

We analyzed survey data for frequency counts (see Figure 1). Between 24 and 27 percent of survey participants indicated that their camp did the three hiring and training strategies well (formal diversity, equity, and inclusion training, hiring diverse staff, screening for biases) and met the interview inclusion criteria. The 19 interview transcripts were subsequently coded, and the codes were grouped into five main categories that reflected the major themes: a) recruitment; b) diversity training; c) key aspects for success at inclusion; d) needs to build inclusive camp culture; and e) camp culture: readiness for D&I.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Although equity was also of interest in this study, most of the staffing practices were focused on increasing D&I rather than equity. For simplicity, we have used the terms diversity and inclusion.

## **Figure 1** Frequencies of Camp DEI Strategy Use Reported by Staff



Interview participants reported that reaching outside of traditional networks and building relationships with underrepresented communities was essential to recruiting diverse employees. Diversity training differed depending on whether it served full-time or seasonal staff. Full-time staff were more likely to hold leadership positions and receive cognitive, behavioral, and affective training (c.f., Bezrukova et al., 2016) whereas seasonal staff received more behavioral, skills-based training to help them address concerns that arose with campers during camp sessions. Camps found updated policy documents, transparent communication with parents and campers, repetition and review of D&I training, funding, and resourcing D&I work, and partnerships with external groups to be key aspects of their success at inclusion. They identified needs as having more clear policies from partner organizations or organizations that oversaw their camp (e.g., a local university), being able to address the physical structure of camp (e.g., bathrooms and cabins), having better assessment and evaluation tools, and having better ways to share knowledge across camps. Finally, a camp's readiness for D&I depended on characteristics such as the values of the camp as well as the values of the community where the camp is located. Values between camps and their local community often differed and affected how quickly camps could increase inclusive practices. Camp culture around D&I contained three domains: readiness (an explicit commitment to improving D&I), integration (the degree to which

camps have embraced D&I practices overall) and competency (skill that emerges after navigating D&I topics).

## Discussion

This study aimed to understand what camps are successfully doing to improve D&I at their camps and focused on recruiting diverse staff and diversity training as two of the more actionable steps camps can take. The data demonstrated, however, that recruitment and training do not happen in a vacuum. Rather, they are crucial aspects of any given camp's culture, which is comprised of their governance and administration, evaluation, programming and climate and recruitment and access. While specific strategies camps use were identified, the findings serve as a reminder that each camp must be willing to customize promising approaches for D&I to their own contexts. The strategies several camps found most successful involved building relationships within diverse communities to recruit staff and, in line with Bezrukova et al. (2016), integrating D&I training approaches throughout the camp.

Camps that want to improve D&I may benefit from taking an inventory of their camp culture to identify how ready they are to integrate more D&I training at their camp. Based on their assessment, they could prioritize different strategies. For example, a camp without clear D&I policies may start by reaching out to similar camps to identify their approach, consulting with partner organizations, or working with an organization that oversees the camp to implement their D&I policies at that camp. Regardless of a camp's readiness to integrate additional D&I practices, they can benefit from regularly reviewing the D&I work they already complete to help camp staff keep D&I principles at the forefront as they operate the camp. One limitation within this study was that the survey was sent to a broad range of camp staff who have differing levels of knowledge and familiarity with practices and the history of practices related to D&I at that camp. Additionally, while camps identified practices as useful, we did not assess the impact of any given practice on a camp.

### References

- Bezrukova, K., Spell, C. S., Perry, J. L., & Jehn, K. A. (2016). A meta-analytical integration of over 40 years of research on diversity training evaluation. *Psychological Bulletin*, 142(11), 1227.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *3*(2), 77-101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Browne, L. P., Gillard, A., & Garst, B. A. (2019). Camp as an institution of socialization: Past, present, and future. *Journal of Experiential Education*, 42(1), 51-64.
- Casper, W. J., Wayne, J. H., & Manegold, J. G. (2013). Who will we recruit? Targeting deep-and surface-level diversity with human resource policy advertising. *Human Resource Management*, 52(3), 311-332.
- Gutiérrez, V., Larson, R. W., Raffaelli, M., Fernandez, M., & Guzman, S. (2017). How staff of youth programs respond to culture-related incidents: Nonengagement versus going "full-right-in". *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 32(1), 64-93.

Hiring and Trainin, Lisa Mee Jin Sibthor	Hiring and Training Practices that Increase Diversity and Inclusion at Summer Camps Lisa Meerts, University of Utah; Taylor Wycoff, American Camp Association; Jim Sibthorp, University of Utah; and Laurie Browne, American Camp Association	and Inclusion at Summer Camps rican Camp Association; merican Camp Association
Study Aim/PurposeParticipan• Survey camps about the390 campspractices they use to increaseinclusion stdiversity and inclusionMost (83%)• Identify effective approaches toMost (83%)	ts and Methods completed survey about 23 diversity and rategies (See figure) were non-profit camps; a majority (72%	A subset $(n = 19)$ of participants who said their camp did well at hiring and training completed semi- structured interviews about what made their hiring and training effective.
hiring and training a fiere	offered overnight programming (some with day camp)	Hiring and Training for Diversity and Inclusion Camps recruited staff from diverse backgrounds through social
GONERATE SUMMAR TAKING CONTRACT AND ADDRESS AND ADDRESS TO AN ADDRESS TAKING AND ADDRESS ADDRE		networks and targeted advertising but continue to need more effective recruitment strategies.
written goals or chipectiver for DBI a staff member(d)perean who exres as a memberal memorecefor comp an official DEI committee or working goung for our runn a staff member(d)perean who serves as a DEI resource for comp		How <u>diversity training</u> is implemented varies in context, design (e.g., who facilitated it), focus, targeted outcome (e.g., awareness, skills), instructional methods and challenges, Entrv-
Anno For Control of the control of t	Ma data Viti	level staff typically received more skills training whereas long- time staff received more knowledge/awareness trainings.
EVALUATION collect information from community statisticidiars on how earning can serve the construction control on the construction of the construction for have conducted in formal DGI and the conducted in from the construction of the constructio		Camps who describe themselves as <u>successful at inclusion</u> depended on updated policy documents, transparency around
PROGRAMMING AND CLIMATE PROGRAMMING AND CLIMATE Province and staff to share their pronound interfacts supplies and materials analyte contracted solutional approvides and structured solution and and contract of the solution spreaders and provides provide and gender and contractions are provided.		D&I, repetition of trainings, had financial resources/other support for D&I, and external partnerships and relationships. Camp <i>needs to improve inclusion</i> included policy documents,
RECENUTIMENT AND A ACESS provide financial assistance for campers who can't afford to attend camp accommode enteres food choices have campers attend our campels of working control commun- provide builing or subil dited transportation to youth who are unable to get to camp	88 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	visual and structural changes, assessment tools, and ways to share knowledge and learn from other successful camps.
outwardly communicate our communers to EI on our website, mankering, and enrolment	rin 0 50 100 159 200 259 300 350 400 6 ∎We don't do this. ●I don't know/am unsure.	camp currents was snaped by the internation between the camp's values, the local community culture, staff attitudes, and ability to adopt changes.
Implications for Practitioners Hiring and training are effective places to implement a cal culture to determine what they can presently accomplish	Implications for Practitioners Hiring and training are effective places to implement a camp's overall D&I strategy. However, camps need to assess their culture to determine what they can presently accomplish and where they can grow to achieve long-term D&I goals.	ss their Contact: Lisa Meerts, Assistant Professor, University of Utah, lisa.meerts@utah.edu

## EXAMINING GEN Z, EMERGING ADULT SUMMER EMPLOYMENT PRIORITIES

Authors: Megan H. Owens, Western Illinois University & Mike Mulvaney, Illinois State University

## Contact: Megan H. Owens, mh-owens(at)wiu.edu

Over one million summer camp staff positions are filled annually by individuals aged 18 to 25 years. This population aligns with two categories: emerging adulthood (Arnett, 2007) and Gen Z (demographic population born after 1997; Dimock, 2019). The relevancy of Gen Z characteristics to this emerging adulthood population is perplexing industries that employ seasonal workers due to their distinct employment behaviors (Agarwal & Vaghela, 2018). Summer camp jobs have been considered a traditional, coming-of-age experience for this population. Today, more industries are competing for these workers, which leaves many camp professionals scrambling to understand Gen Z's characteristics and desires when recruiting new staff (e.g., Owens, 2022). The purpose of this study was to gain a better understanding of Gen Z's priorities regarding summer seasonal employment.

Prior research illuminated camp staff work motivations (e.g., DeGraaf & Edington, 1992; Roark, 2006) and career skill development (e.g., Duerden et al., 2014). Those findings remain informative, yet the foundational staff motivation research occurred twenty years ago and focused on actively employed staff members. Since then, a worldwide pandemic occurred and a new generation of emerging adults (i.e., Gen Z) began challenging traditional employment practices (Aggarwal et al., 2020). Two research questions guided this study: to what degree does (1) first generation status relate to employment priorities and (2) school position (i.e., year and academic focus) relate to employment priorities?

## **Theoretical Framework**

The theoretical framework for this study is Herzberg's Two-Factor Theory of Motivation (1987). This theory considers the impact of hygiene factors (i.e., pay, policies, peer interactions) and motivator factors (i.e., growth opportunities, responsibility, achievement) on a worker's job satisfaction and motivation. This framework has informed studies examining camp staff motivation and employment choices (e.g., DeGraaf & Edington, 1992; Roark, 2006). The prior research suggested that the motivator factors influenced camp staffs' employment experience more than hygiene factors. A research gap in understanding Gen Z's motivations, particularly related to summer, seasonal employment following a global health and economic disruption necessitates another examination of this topic.

## Methods

An online survey was administered to all undergraduate and graduate students at two midwestern universities during Fall 2022. The survey design was informed by a literature review of Gen Z employment practices (e.g., Aggarwal et al., 2020), past camp employment motivation factors (e.g., DeGraaf & Edington, 1992), and communication with camp professionals during staff recruitment events (i.e., university job fairs). Students answered questions based on their Summer 2022 employment needs (e.g., pay, location, skill development), personal priorities (e.g., fun work environment, flexible scheduling, personal and organizational value match) and recruitment communication experiences. University IRB approval was obtained and participants consented prior to completing their online survey. Two executive level camp professionals reviewed the survey and provided input regarding scale item modifications. The final survey was pilot tested by a recreation

graduate student unfamiliar with the study. Minor design errors were identified and corrected prior to administration.

Data were analyzed using SPSS (v28). The employment priority scale included fifteen items and had acceptable internal consistency, with a Cronbach alpha coefficient of .76. An exploratory factor analysis (EFA) was performed with the fifteen priority items and yielded four factors with eigenvalues above 1.0 (flexible and fun work environment: 3.6; career preparation/development: 2.8; personal interests and values: 1.3; pragmatic needs: 1.0). The four priority factors were used to explore the relationship of employment priorities to first generation status, school year and academic focus. Respondents (n = 576) represented each level of college: freshman (20%), sophomore (14%), junior (23%), senior (23%) and graduate students (19%). Most respondents were female (74%), identified as White (70%) and half of respondents were considered first generation college students (53%).

## Results

An independent-samples t-test was conducted to compare the priority factor scores for first generation status. A significant difference in scores only occurred with the factor Personal Interests for First Generation status (M = 7.4, SD = 1.974) and non-First Generation (M = 7.76; SD = 1.979; t (551) = -2.11, p = 0.04, two-tailed).

A one-way between-group ANOVA was conducted to explore the impact of year and academic area on the employment priority factors. First, participants were divided into five groups representing their school year. Statistical significance was reported for three factors, however the difference in mean scores was quite small (see Table 1). Graduate and senior students differed from freshman students.

## Table 1

Measure	Fresh	nman	Soph	omore	Jur	nior	Ser	nior		luate lents	F (4,550)	ŋ²
	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD		
Flexible and fun work environment	7.03	2.15	7.53	2.50	7.25	2.25	7.24	2.15	8.39	2.72	5.57***	0.04
Career preparation and development	5.52	2.05	5.26	2.02	4.98	1.87	4.78	1.83	4.84	2.16	2.72*	0.02
Pragmatic needs	5.52	2.05	5.26	2.02	4.98	1.87	4.78	1.83	4.84	2.16	2.62*	0.02
Personal interests	7.84	2.17	7.47	2.04	7.49	1.74	7.62	1.91	7.4	2.08	0.84	0.01
Note: N = 567. AN	NOVA =	= anal	ysis o	f variar	nce; *	p < .0	)5; **	p < .	01; **	** p <	.001	

Means, Standard Deviations, and One-Way ANOVA for Priority Factors by School Year

The second ANOVA involved dividing participants into five groups representing their academic focus. Statistical significance was reported for two factors, however the difference in mean scores was quite small (see Table 2). Business/technology students differed from arts/sciences students for Career Preparation while fine arts differed from undeclared students for Personal Interests.

	Та	ble	2
--	----	-----	---

Maana Ctandard Daviationa	and One May ANG	71/A far Driarity Fastara	by Acadamia Facus
Means, Standard Deviations,	and One-way And	JVA IOF PHOHIV FACIORS	DV ACADEIDIC FOCUS

Measure		and nces	Busi ar Techr			ation uman ⁄ices	Fine	Arts	Undecla	ared	F (4,550)	ŋ²
	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD		
Flexible and fun work environment	7.34	2.23	7.6	2.41	7.49	2.52	7.41	2.22	5.25	0.5	1.13	0.01
Career preparation and development	5.40	2.13	4.62	1.83	4.99	1.87	5.43	2.10	7.50	1.7	5.26***	0.04
Pragmatic needs	3.88	1.16	4.03	1.24	4.20	1.15	4.31	1.39	3.75	1.5	2.06	0.01
Personal interests	7.86	1.97	7.46	2.05	7.43	1.88	7.11	2.03	10.00	1.4	3.31**	0.02
Note: N = 567.	ANOV	A = ar	nalysis	of vari	ance; <sup>•</sup>	*p < .C	)5; **	p < .(	D1; ***	p < .	.001	

## **Discussion and Implications**

Gen Z employment priorities for summer employment were explored in this study. Research examining Gen Z's full-time career priorities indicated a strong desire for flexible scheduling (Singh & Dangmei, 2016), unique and personalized experiences (Agarwal & Vaghela, 2018), and person-organization value match (Brinke, 2021). The current study found that advanced students (e.g., graduate and senior students) were more pragmatic and focused on career development for their summer employment compared to early-stage students (i.e., freshmen). Academic area suggested that business/technology and arts/sciences students sought opportunities to develop career skills compared to students in other academic areas. No statistically significant findings occurred to suggest differences between groups (i.e., first generation, school year or academic focus) in relation to their priority for a flexible, fun work environment or address their personal interests during summer jobs. This finding may suggest that Gen Z generally seeks flexibility, variety, and personal growth from their summer employment with a greater focus on career development at certain academic stages.

Camp professionals recruiting current college students may consider adjusting their recruitment techniques and staff structures to capture the desired candidates.

- 1. Initially inquire about the students' year in school and academic focus then proceed with the available opportunities that will meet their interests (e.g., senior student is more likely to be interested in internship or leadership opportunities than freshmen or sophomores).
- 2. Create more depth to your staff structure to address Gen Z's desire for flexibility and personalization. Providing opportunities to work different lengths of time or in

different positions across the summer will allow Gen Z staff members to fulfil these personal priorities.

## References

- Aggarwal, A., Sadhna, P., Gupta, S., Mittla, & Rastogi, S. (2020). Gen Z entering the workforce: Restructuring HR policies & practices for fostering the task performance and organizational commitment. *Journal of Public Affairs*. e2535. DOI: 10.1002/pa.2535
- Agarwal, H. & Vaghela, P.S. (2018, December 21-22). Work values of Gen Z: Bridging the gap to the next generation. In INC-2018 National Conference on Innovative Business Management Practices in 21<sup>st</sup> Century, India.
- Arnett, J.J. (2007). Emerging Adulthood. What is it, and what is it goof for? *Child Development Perspectives, 1*(2), p. 68-73. DOI: 10.1111/j.1750-8606.2007.00016.x
- Bevins, D.T. (2018). Herzberg's Two Factor Theory of Motivation: A generational study. [Unpublished honors thesis] Eastern Kentucky University. <u>https://encompass.eku.edu/honors\_theses/530</u>
- Brinke, D.T. (2021). *Employer attractiveness by Gen Z through organizational values in job applications and social media*. [unpublished Master's thesis]. University of Twente.
- DeGraaf, D. & Edington, C.R. (1992). Work motivation and camp counselors. *Journal of Park and Recreation Administration*, 10(4), 37-56
- Dimock, M. (2019). Defining generations: Where Millennials and Generation Z begins. *Pew Research Center*, *17*(1), 1-7.
  - Duerden, M. D., Witt, P. A., Garst, B. A., Bialeschki, M. D., Schwarzlose, T., & Norton, K. (2014). The impact of camp employment on the workforce development of emerging adults. *Journal of Park and Recreation Administration*, 32(1), 26–44.
- Herzberg, F. (1987). One more time. How do we motivate employees? *Harvard Business Review*, 87(5), 109-117.
- Owens, M.H. (2022, April 11). Gen Z staff: What exactly are they looking for? ACA Camp Connection. <u>https://www.acacamps.org/news-publications/blogs/camp-connection/gen-z-staff-what-exactly-are-they-looking</u>
- Roark, M. F. (2006). Counselor motivations for choosing summer resident camp employment. *Camping Magazine*, 79(5), 10-11.
- Singh, A.P. & Dangmei, J. (2016). Understanding the Generation Z: The future workforce. South-Asian Journal of Multidisciplinary Studies, 3(3), 1-5.



- Recruiting and retaining Gen Z employees is There is high competition for workers across increasingly difficult
  - Gen Z is displaying nuanced work behaviors all industries
    - challenging traditional work culture norms

Purpose of this study was to gain a better understanding of Gen Z's priorities regarding summer seasonal employment.

## **Vethods**

- Online survey to undergraduate & graduate students at two midwestern universities
  - Data gathered Fall 2022 (n = 576)
- summer 2022 employment needs, personal Students answered questions related to priorities & recruitment experiences
  - Exploratory factor analysis yielded four factors from the 15-item priority scale
- relationship of (1) first generation college student status, (2) year in school and (3) academic focus to employment priority Analysis focused on examining the

## Results

factors.

- graduate, seniors) were more concerned with 1.School year appeared to have the strongest opportunities to meet personal interests. career development while early-stage relationship. Advanced students (i.e., students (i.e., freshmen) sought
- Academic focus analyses revealed that business/technology and arts/sciences development than students with other students were more focused on using summer employment for career academic foci.
- a small effect on priorities related to Personal relationship to employment priorities, except 3. First generation student status had little Interests

<u>flexibility and allows them to address their</u> career development from summer jobs. <u>personal interests. Only some focus on</u> <u>Gen Z college students generally seek</u> summer employment that provides



Megan Owens, Ph.D.



Illinois' first public university.

# Practical Implications

- Before sharing recruitment information to potential applicants about opportunities at your camp
  - Inquire about their year in school and academic focus to provide more relevant information a)
- Inquire about their personal interests, goals and needs to identify and discuss matching opportunities 9
- 2. Evaluate staff structure to identify ways to increase job flexibility & personalization for Gen Z staff.



For more information contact Megan Owens, Ph.D. at <u>mhowens@wiu.edu</u>

## THE VISION OF STAFF AND VOICES OF YOUTH: WHAT'S REALLY HAPPENING AT CAMP?

## Authors: Amanda C. Palmer and Sharon K. Stoll, University of Idaho Center for ETHICS\* Contact: Amanda C. Palmer, acpalmer(at)uidaho.edu

Overnight camp programs through 4-H and other youth development organizations should lead to positive outcomes for campers. Assessment of outcomes and experiences is essential to the process of continual program improvement. Some positive outcomes from camp include practical life skill development (Anderson, 2021; Bialeschki, et al., 1998), improving characteristics related to youth thriving (Alberts, et al., 2006; Hershberg, et al., 2014), and increases in elements of Positive Youth Development (Halsall, et al., 2016; Henderson, et al., 2007). Measurement instruments such as ACA's Youth Outcomes Battery (ACA, 2022) or 4-H's Common Measures (4-H, 2022) may provide camp leaders with information about camper growth. Large-scale ACA (2005) and 4-H (Li et al., 2008) studies have evaluated youth development outcomes, and many camps implement some form of evaluation each summer. Camp leaders often desire a tailored program assessment, unique to their program's values.

During 2022, a one-million-dollar American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) grant funded youth development efforts through day and overnight camp activities for a 4-H extension program in the Pacific Northwest. Goals stated in the grant included helping mitigate educational learning loss, providing educational activities supporting student learning, and providing behavioral health supports for children. A large portion of grant funding provided camp scholarships to unserved and underserved youth in the geographic location of the 4-H extension program. Our research team was invited by extension educators to design a values-based program assessment of the overnight camp portion of grant-funded activities.

The purpose of this three-phase study was to conduct a tailored assessment comparing expectations of adult and youth staff members with camper perceptions, related to valued experiences, during a 4-H overnight camp program. Our study was developed in conjunction with staff and 4-H extension educators. To assess camper experiences and outcomes, the first phases of the study were focused on identifying the expectations of staff and counselors related to the camp program. Two research questions guided our study. 1) What camper experiences and outcomes are expected and valued by professional and volunteer staff members? 2) What are camper perceptions regarding the identified valued experiences and outcomes?

## Methods

During spring and summer of 2022, we conducted descriptive research in three phases. To increase face and content validity, protocols and pilot instruments were reviewed by experts in the field. First, we conducted recorded semi-structured interviews with all six professional staff members who would be leading the 4-H camp during the summer. Next, we conducted recorded focus groups and administered written surveys to 18 youth and young adult (aged 15 to 18) volunteer counselors during the final pre-camp counselor training. Finally, we administered written surveys to 232 campers (entering 3rd through 9th grade) on the final day of five weeks of camp. A total of 243 camper surveys were included in the analysis, as 11 campers completed the survey during two camp sessions. Percentages reported are out of total surveys, rather than total campers. Related to gender, 43% identified as boys, 53% as girls, and 3% as another gender identity. Almost three quarters (72%) of participants were first-time campers.

When interviewing adult staff members, we asked them questions regarding their expectations for camper experiences and outcomes from overnight camp. We also asked about what might encapsulate the "essential" camp experience, and why they had chosen to work in their position at 4-H camp. Survey and focus group questions for youth and young adult volunteer counselors were similar, with additional items regarding an evaluation of their training meetings, and what they felt prepared and unprepared to address during camp. Camper surveys included: 1) three five-point Likert-type scales measuring perceptions of the camp experience, cabin group, and safety; 2) three binary questions about making new friends, learning something new, and first time at camp; 3) 16 items regarding participation in specific camp activities; and 4) five open-ended questions, related to positive and negative camp experiences, cabin group, safety, and new things learned. We transcribed and manually coded interviews and focus groups. Open-ended survey responses were analyzed using inductive values-based and descriptive coding. We analyzed quantitative data using descriptive statistics and Pearson's correlation.

## Results

Emergent themes from the first two phases informed the final phase of the study with campers. Essential conclusions from adult staff interviews included expectations that camp would be a place of safety, growth, and new experiences in a positive environment. They stated that the social dynamic between cabinmates would shape overall perceptions of the camp experience. Counselors expected campers to have new and positive experiences, make friends, and gain confidence in themselves. Survey questions were then developed to examine overall perceptions of camp, new experiences, safety, and the cabin group.

Regarding overall perceptions of camp, most campers rated camp as either "Very Good" (28%) or "Good" (38%), with 28% rating camp as "Okay" and only 2% of campers rating camp as "Bad" (1%) or "Very Bad" (1%). Major positive themes included social interactions, activities, and workshops. Major negative themes included arguments, drama, and trouble sleeping.

Related to new experiences, nearly all campers (99%) had at least one new experience at camp, with 72% attending camp for the first time, 88% making a new friend, 68% learning something new, and 75% trying a specific activity for the first time. The most frequent learning themes were related to camp activities, such as swing dancing, canoeing, and archery.

On the topic of safety, almost three quarters of campers rated their feeling of safety as "Very Safe" (24%) or "Safe" (48%) while at camp. Some campers (17%) rated their safety as "Okay" and 5% of campers rated their safety as "Unsafe" (4%) or "Very Unsafe" (1%). Prevalent themes related to feeling safe included the presence of counselors, a general feeling, friends, and many people around. Related to feeling unsafe, themes included cabin issues, cabin member behavior, and fears of insects or animals. A moderate positive correlation was found between feelings of safety and overall perceptions of the camp experience (r(219) = .471, p < .001) indicating that campers who felt safe tended to also rate camp more positively.

Regarding social dynamics within the cabin group, less than half (48%) reported that their cabin group was "Very Good" (24%) or "Good" (24%). The largest percentage rated their cabin as "Okay" (39%), with only 8% reporting that the cabin group was "Bad" (6%) or "Very Bad" (2%). Positive themes included positive attributes, getting along, and counselors, whereas negative themes included cabinmates being too loud – especially at night, negative attributes, and fighting or drama. Written comments in this section were more often

negative than positive. A moderate positive correlation was found between perceptions of cabin group and the overall camp experience (r(223) = .448, p < .001) indicating that campers who rated their cabin group positively tended to also rate camp more positively.

## **Discussion and Implications**

The 4-H camp staff members stated enjoyment, new experiences, positive social dynamics, and feelings of safety were the most valued camper experiences while at camp. Camper perceptions were mixed, with responses indicating that the above constructs were overwhelmingly related to social interactions. Most negative responses were related to perceptions of conflict, drama, noise, and difficulty getting to sleep. Counselor meetings took place at "lights out," leaving campers to self-regulate at bedtime. Based on camper comments, many cabin groups struggled to do this. Camp staff should consider a more appropriate time for counselor meetings and provide structure and routine for campers at bedtime. Staff members valued camper growth and building of confidence through new experiences. Since nearly all campers reported having new experiences, camp staff should provide campers with opportunities for reflection on their accomplishments and struggles. Whether during nightly cabin meetings, at campfire, or on camp surveys, campers may benefit from recognizing and reflecting on their new experiences. Ultimately, camp leadership will benefit from identifying the expected and valued outcomes for their program and developing methods of assessment related to those values. While standardized measurement instruments provide useful data, tailored mission-focused assessments will provide rich information about alignment with camp-specific values. Future research will include developing a method for identifying organizational values and targeted outcomes.

## References

- 4-H. (2022). Common measures. National 4-H Council: https://4-h.org/professionals/commonmeasures/
- Alberts, A. E., Christiansen, E. D., Chase, P., Nadeau, S., Phelps, E., & Lerner, R. M. (2006). Qualitative and quantitative assessments of thriving and contribution in early adolescence: Findings from the 4-H study of positive youth development. Journal of Youth Development, 1(2), 20-32. doi: 10.5195/jyd.2006.383
- American Camp Association. (2005). Directions: Youth development outcomes of the camp experience. Martinsville: American Camp Association. https://www.acacamps.org/sites/default/files/resource library/report-directions-vouthdevelopment-outcomes.pdf
- American Camp Association. (2022). Tools for measuring youth development outcomes. American Camp Association: https://www.acacamps.org/resources/tools-measuring-youthdevelopment-outcomes
- Halsall, T., Kendellen, K., Bean, C. N., & Forneris, T. (2016). Facilitating positive youth development through residential camp: Exploring perceived characteristics of effective camp counselors and strategies for youth engagement. Journal of Park and Recreation Administration, 34(4), 20-35. doi: 10.18666/JRPA-2016-V34-I4-7273
- Henderson, K. A., Bialeschki, M. D., Scanlin, M. M., Thurber, C., Whitaker, L. S., & Marsh, P. E. (2007). Components of camp experiences for positive youth development. Journal of Youth Development, 1(3). doi: 10.5195/jyd.2007.371
- Hershberg, R. M., Desouza, L. M., Warren, A. E., Lerner, J. V., & Lerner, R. M. (2014). Illuminating trajectories of adolescent thriving and contribution through the words of youth: Qualitative findings fro the 4-H study of positive youth development. Journal of Youth and Adolescence, 43(6), 950-970, doi: 10.1007/s10964-014-0102-2
- Li, Y., Bebiroglu, N., Phelps, E., Lerner, R. M., & Lerner, J. V. (2008). Out-of-school time activity participation, school engagement and positive youth development: Findings from the 4-H

study of youth development. Journal of Youth Development, 3(3). doi: 10.5195/jyd.2008.284

# The Vision of Staff and Voices of Youth: What's Really Happening at Camp? Amanda C. Palmer, MS, and Sharon K. Stoll, PhD, University of Idaho Center for ETHICS\* An Invited Assessment of an ARPA grant-funded 4-H Overnight Camp Program

## Study Aim/Purpose

To design and conduct a multiphase assessment comparing expectations of staff members with camper perceptions, related to valued experiences, during a 4-H overnight camp program.

## Methods

## Timeline and Setting Spring and summer 2022

 Pre-camp, staff training, and five sessions of 4-H overnight camp

## **Participants and Measures**

- Six adult staff members
   (semi-structured interviews)
- 18 high-school-aged volunteer counselors (surveys/focus aroups)
- 232 third through ninth grade campers (post-camp surveys)

## Data Analyses

- Descriptive statistics and Pearson's correlations
- Inductive values-based and descriptive coding

# Adult and Youth Staff Expected:

- Campers would have POSITIVE OVERALL experiences, have fun, and engage in many opportunities for EXPERIENCES, learning, and growth
- CABIN GROUP DYNAMICS would shape campers' OVERALL perceptions

# Campers Reported: (numeric responses)

- 66% rated camp as POSITIVE OVERALL (28% "Okay" and 2% "Bad"/"Very Bad")
- 72% rated their SAFETY as "Very Safe" / "Safe" (17% "Okay" and 5% "Unsafe" / "Very Unsafe")
- 99% had at least one NEW EXPERIENCE: 72% were first-time campers, 88% made a new friend, 68% learned something new, 75% tried a specific activity for the first time
- Cabin group dynamics did impact overall perceptions of the camp experience with a moderate positive correlation (r(219) = .471, p < .001)</li>
- Campers who rated their cabin group positively tended to rate their overall camp experience more positively

# Campers Wrote: (open-ended responses)

BEST things about camp: Making Friends/Spending Time with Friends; Activities/Games; Workshops HARDEST things about camp: Trouble Sleeping/Getting to Sleep; Arguments and Drama SAFEST elements of camp: Counselors; General Feeling; Friends/Other Campers; Many People LEAST SAFE elements of camp: Cabin Issues; Cabin Member Behavior; Fears of Insects/Animals CABIN GROUP POSITIVES: Positive Attributes of Campers; Getting Along; Counselors CABIN GROUP NEGATIVES: Too Loud, Especially at Night; Negative Attributes; Fighting/Drama

## University of Idaho

## Implications for Practice

- Campers' most frequent concerns were related to bedtime, which was when counselor meetings were occurring. Counselors should be in cabins at bedtime, providing active supervision, conflict mediation, and building established routines.
- With so many campers reporting new and first-time experiences, **intentional opportunities for reflection should be provided**, whether during nightly cabin meetings, at campfire, on camp surveys, or immediately after individual activities.

2

 Camp leaders may benefit from tailored program assessments specific to their stated mission, values, and expected participant outcomes. Study Contact: Amanda Palmer University of Idaho acpalmer@uidaho.edu





## WHAT AND HOW YOUTH LEARN AT CAMP: A STUDY OF CAMPS SERVING YOUTH FROM LOW-INCOME BACKGROUNDS

## Authors: Victoria Povilaitis, Tim Hortons Foundation Camps & Robert P. Warner, University of Utah. Contact: Victoria Povilaitis, victoria.povilaitis(at)timscamps.com

Camp attendance can afford developmental opportunities for youth (Garst et al., 2016). Indeed, researchers have identified camp-related social-emotional outcomes (e.g., relationship skills, self-confidence; Richmond et al., 2019), as well as mechanisms that support learning in this setting (e.g., being away, feeling challenged, people; Sibthorp et al., 2020). Although researchers have examined camp-related outcomes and mechanisms, much of the recent research has used retrospective designs with alumni samples and little of this research has focused on camps serving youth from low-income backgrounds (YLIB; cf., Warner et al., 2021). Thus, there is a gap in knowledge related to what YLIB *want* to learn at camp, as well as the outcomes and mechanisms reported following camp attendance. Addressing this gap may provide a more equitable understanding of how to design camp programming for the greatest impact. Therefore, we sought to answer the following questions: 1) What do YLIB report they *want* to learn at camp and why? 2) What do YLIB report *actually* learning at camp? 3) What mechanisms do YLIB report as being important to their learning at camp?

### Methods

In the spring and fall of 2022, we sent approximately 2000 youth ( $m_{age} = 14.6$ ; SD = 1.9; 52% female; 60% white) a link to an online survey prior to and after attending a camp for youth from low-income backgrounds. All youth receiving the survey were enrolled to attend a 10-day summer camp experience at one of seven locations. In the pre-camp survey, youth identified what they wanted to learn at camp from a list of 18 outcomes commonly used in camp research (e.g., Richmond et al., 2019). Following their camp experience, youth identified what they actually learned (same 18 outcomes as pre-camp) and which mechanism (Sibthorp et al., 2020) most supported their learning of these outcomes. A total of 954 useable pre-camp survey responses and 636 post-camp surveys were collected. For the purposes of this study, we focused on the 319 youth who provide pre- and post-camp responses as a means for understanding the extent to which outcomes youth reported wanting to learn compared to the outcomes youth reported learning at camp. Following data cleaning, we calculated frequencies of pre-/post-camp reported outcomes and mechanisms. We used open-coding to identify salient themes in youth's responses to open-ended questions.

## Results

Youth reported wanting to learn and learning a variety of outcomes at camp. YLIB wanted to learn outcomes for two primary reasons: they were areas where they felt they could improve and they felt the skills would be useful in their future lives. Youth also reported learning a variety of outcomes and reported that leaders were most important to their learning. See Figure 1 for frequencies of pre/post-camp outcomes and Table 1 for the mechanisms most frequently associated with post-camp outcomes.

Figure 1 Desired and Actual Outcomes



## Table 1

Most Frequently Associated Mechanisms

Outcome	Mechanisms	%* ( <i>n</i> )
Willingness to Try New Things	Leaders	23% (8)
Self-Confidence	Leaders	33% (9)
Relationship Skills	People in general	36% (14)
Sports & Recreation	Being challenged; leaders	30% (3)
Being Present	People in general	31% (10)
Independence	Being away from home	55% (12)
Perseverance	Being challenged	39% (5)
Emotional Regulation	Other campers	38% (3)
Self-Identity	Leaders	30% (3)
Teamwork	People in general; camp programs/activities	23% (9)
College/Career Orientation	Leaders	100% (4)
Leadership	Leaders	43% (3)
Appreciation for Differences	People in general	32% (7)
Empathy	Leaders; other campers	40% (2)
Living with Peers	Other campers	53% (8)

as the top outcome learned. \*\*No responses were given related to affinity for nature, responsibility, and organization.

## **Discussion & Implications**

The results of this study have numerous implications for practitioners. First, with a greater understanding of what youth want to learn at camp, practitioners can tailor programs to youth. As camps are businesses, they would likely benefit from delivering on what the "client" (in this case, campers) want and need, not just parents' expectations. In this study, the most commonly desired outcomes were trying new things, self-confidence, and relationship skills. Our organization can use this information to ensure we offer a variety of different activities, support youth in building self-confidence by providing direct and ongoing feedback, and include activities designed to bring youth together and build relationships with their peers.

By understanding how youth learned specific outcomes at camp, practitioners can modify camp programs to better target desired program outcomes. In our study, it is clear that "leaders" was the most commonly reported mechanism for achieving outcomes. This showcases the critical importance of hiring and training leaders appropriately to support camper learning.

Previous studies have asked former campers similar questions. Sibthorp et al. (2020) found that from a nationally representative sample of camp alumni, top reported outcomes were relationship skills, teamwork and independence. Our campers reported relationship skills, teamwork, and willingness to try new things as the top outcomes, indicating that campers from low-income backgrounds report similar outcomes associated with camp attendance as alumni who attended a variety of camp types, not just camps serving youth from low-income backgrounds. Similar to Sibthorp et al.'s study, our participants also reported leaders and the people in general as the most impactful mechanisms to their learning. These findings reinforce existing knowledge regarding the importance of high-quality staff and the unique social milieu the camp environment often provides.

## References

- Garst, B. A., Gagnon, R. J., & Whittington, A. (2016). A closer look at the camp experience: Examining relationships between life skills, elements of positive youth development, and antecedents of change among camp alumni. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation, Education, and Leadership*, 8(2), 180–199. <u>https://doi.org/10.18666/JOREL-2016-V8-I2-7694</u>
- Richmond, D., Sibthorp, J., & Wilson, C. (2019). Understanding the role of summer camps in the learning landscape: An exploratory sequential study. *Journal of Youth Development*, 14(3), 9-30. <u>https://doi.org/10.5195/jyd.2019.780</u>
- Sibthorp, J., Wilson, C., Povilaitis, V., & Browne, L. (2020). Active ingredients of learning at summer camp. *Journal of Outdoor and Environmental Education*, 23, 21–37. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42322-019-00050-6
- Warner, R. P., Sibthorp, J., Wilson, C., Browne, L. P., Barnett, S., Gillard, A., & Sorenson, J. (2021). Similarities and differences in summer camps: A mixed methods study of lasting outcomes and program elements. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 120, Article number 105779. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.105779</u>



## ESTABLISHING ORGANIZATIONAL READINESS TO CREATE MORE DIVERSE, EQUITABLE, AND INCLUSIVE CAMPS

## Authors: Meagan Ricks, University of Utah & Jim Sibthorp, University of Utah. Contact: meagan.ricks88(at)gmail.com

Summer programs and camps are increasingly recognizing the need for greater awareness and sensitivity to topics of diversity, equity, and inclusion; however, many struggle to know how to create more diverse, equitable, inclusive, and racially just spaces (Browne, Gillard, & Garst, 2019). How camps address diversity, equity, and inclusion vary across organizations based on the organization's needs, readiness, and ability to implement equitable and inclusive programming.

The successful implementation of a change initiative, such as improving a camp's DEI efforts, often hinges on the organization's readiness. Without readiness, change initiatives are likely to fail. Readiness refers to an organization's willingness and ability to implement a particular change or innovation (Rafferty et al., 2013). Moroney (2020) theorizes organizations can promote positive youth development strategies as well as restorative justice through organizational readiness.

The purpose of this study is threefold: 1) to create an expert consensus on essential DEI practices and policies for creating more diverse, equitable, and inclusive camps, 2) to identify consensus on the prioritization of essential DEI practices and policies and, 3) identify key indicators that allow camps to assess their DEI organizational readiness. This study allows camps to assess readiness by content area and prioritize action steps.

## Method

A consensus-building technique known as the Delphi method was implemented to facilitate structured expert communication around a complex problem (Okuli & Pawlowski, 2004). A diverse expert panel of participants were selected, stratified to represent three groups a) DEI and racial justice content experts, b) national intermediary perspectives, and c) local practitioners' perspectives. Round one primarily focused on content areas to assess a program's DEI status. The content areas included: Community/Camper Engagement, Organizational Culture, Leadership Development, and Board of Directors along with associated indicators (American Camp Association, 2021). For example, indicators of Community/Camper Engagement include Youth Engagement Strategies and Impact Measures.

The second round verified results from round one and began generating recommendations for policies, practices, methods, or processes that camps exemplify that have exemplified DEI organizational readiness and progress. Round three built upon round two by presenting participants with results from round two and introduced questions regarding potential first steps for camps beginning their DEI journey. The final round presented results from round three and asked participants for any concluding thoughts.

At the end of each round, the data were assessed for consensus based on the mean/median ratings and rankings as well as the standard deviation. If the mean responses were within an acceptable range (mean  $\pm$  0.5) and with acceptable coefficient of variation (50% variation) then the response was considered a firm consensus. Stability across rounds was assessed using the Wilcoxon test.

## Results

Each content area was endorsed by the panel with at least mean of 6 on a 7-point Likert-type scale. At the recommendation of several panel members in round one, additional indicators were added to the content areas. The panel determined Participant Recruitment and Retention would become an indicator under Camper and Community Engagement and DEI Funding Strategies would fall under Board of Directors. Figure 1 displays the final means for each content area and indicator.

## Figure 1





The panel was asked in round three what recommendations they would provide to a camp leader wishing to begin DEI work. These recommendations were compiled and presented to panelists in round four. The recommendations can serve as a starting point for DEI organizational readiness. On a 5-point Likert scale (1 = strongly disagree to 5 = strongly agree), the most highly endorsed recommendation (x = 4.93) was "Avoid defensiveness and listen to the representatives of the marginalized communities" under Understanding Culture. The next two most highly endorsed recommendations (x = 4.87) were both under Camper/Participant Recruitment and Retention: "Check back in after camp: What worked? What didn't?" and "If your camp can be a fit, make changes that show you listened." Each of these recommendations demonstrate the importance of listening, reflecting, and implementing feedback. The least popular recommendation (x = 3.8) was "Poll the

community (staff, family, campers, alumni) about their experience with systemic oppression" under Historical Perspective DEI. One participant cautioned polling a community might cause harm if "internal, personal work hasn't been done yet." Panelists also cautioned against "one solution fits all" when it comes to creating more equitable camps.

## Discussion

Applying principles of organizational readiness with the current findings regarding DEI, camps can begin the process in a way that aligns with the organization's needs. Desire to change alone does not necessarily equate to organizational readiness. Implementing DEI policies and practices before camp leadership, staff, participants, and the community are ready could potentially cause more harm to marginalized populations. The findings from this study suggest ways in which camps can assess their current state of DEI readiness to further their DEI efforts. Readiness and DEI work both require sustained effort and commitment and are cyclical in their processes. A camp may be ready in one content area, but not in another. Based on organizational readiness, a camp may tailor their DEI goals to reflect the organization's readiness with the anticipation that readiness may change over time allowing for further DEI measures to be implemented. Camp leadership should understand organizational change requires time and sustained efforts, thus enabling leadership to set goals. Once camps have established DEI goals, the camp can begin applying best DEI practices in their program.

## References

American Camp Association. (2021). Creating Inclusive Camps: Concepts and Strategies.
Browne, L. P., Gillard, A., & Garst, B. A. (2019). Camp as an institution of socialization: Past, present, and future. Journal of Experiential Education, 42(1), 51-64.

- Moroney, D. A. (2020). From model to reality: The role of implementation readiness. *Journal of Youth* Development, 15(6).
- Okoli, C. & Pawlowski, S. D. (2004). The Delphi method as a research tool: An example, design considerations and applications. *Information & Management, 42*(1). 15-29.
- Rafferty, A. E., Jimmieson, N. L., & Armenakis, A. A. (2013). Change readiness: A multilevel review. *Journal of Management*, 39(1), 110-135.

# Establishing Organizational Readiness to Create More Diverse, Equitable, and Inclusive (DEI) Camps Meagan Ricks and Jim Sibthorp NIVERSITY OF UTAH Ð

University of Utah



## INTRODUCTION

The purpose of this study is threefold: 1) to create an expert consensus on essential DEI practices and policies for creating more diverse, equitable, and inclusive camps, 2) to identify consensus on the prioritization of essential DEI practices and policies and, 3) identify key indicators that allow camps to assess their DEI organizational readiness.

## METHODS

Figure 1 Content Areas and Indicator Means

CONTENT AREA 1

Camper and Community Engagement Historical Perspective DEI Inpact Measures Participant Recuritors Youth Engagement Stratogies

CONTENT AREA 2 Drganizational Culture dd Assessment Review Understanding Culture Data Utilization and Assessment Review Understanding Culture Data Utilization Common Language

Policy

Т Т Т

A diverse expert panel of participants were selected for this Delphi study, stratified to represent three groups a) DEI and realign tablece content experts. I) naturabili intermediary perspectives, and o) local practitioners' prespectives. The study consisted of four rounds of consensus building. Table 1 defines the content areas and indicators used in the study.

# **Table 1 Content Area and Indicators Definitions**

	CONTENT AREA ONE - Camper and Community Engagement
Historical Perspective DEI	Camp leadership seeks to expand on their current lack of knowledge to benefit excluded communities and understand systemic oppression.
Impact Measures	Youth voice is measured and data is reviewed to identify gaps that may lead to exclusionary outcomes and used to explore the experience within underrepresented identities.
Participant Recruitment and Retention	Camp leadership and staff work with families and communities to increase awareness of the program for groups not historically represented at camp.
Youth Engagement Strategies	Youth are engaged to help keep the organization accountable to its participants to ensure inclusive changes.
	CONTENT AREA TWO - Organizational Culture
Policy and Assessment Review	A task force assesses, eliminates discriminatory or non-inclusive policies, and creates new policies with a focus on advancing a culture of inclusivity for participants and the organization.
Understanding Culture	Leadership works with staff and participants to understand dominant culture within the cogamization and how it contributes or deteates from a start or belonging for individuals from magnitudized communities and how it centers barriers to engaging in DEI work.
Data Utilization	Leadership recognizes the value of data utilization but does so while emphasizing the importance of intentional relationships with underrepresented communities.
Common Language	Camp leadership recognizes there are terms and common language utilized to discuss DEI topics.
	CONTENT AREA THREE - Leadership Development
Recruitment and Hiring	Organizational commitment is demonstrated by demographic data shifts in hiring, promotion, and retention rates. Continuous commitment to create an inclusive culture are set in place to render exclusion of marginalized groups.
<b>Capacity Building</b>	Camp leadership utilizes individual and organizational professional development plans that include DEI objectives to improve inclusion, sense of belonging, and equitable programming.
Bridge Program	The organization works to create paid internablys and fellowship programs (either internally or across organizations in the section for youth from marginalized communities to support diverse representation across the organization.

## The panelists prioritized the indicators based on first, second, and third priorities. Based on the results, the groupings were caregorized in the following order. Understanding: Practices and Applications; and Changing Broader Organizational Culture. Table 2 displays the prioritized indicators. Т

.

-

n Level of Agreement Disagree to 7 = Strongly.

I = Strongly D

CONTENT AREA 4 Board of Directors Board Member Recruitment d Learning and Development DEI Funding Strategies Board Engagement

. Т Т

ership Development ruitment and Hiring Capacity Building Bridge Program

CONTENT AREA 3

	Third Priority Changing Broader Organizatio Culture	Bridge Program Board Engagement Board Learning Board Member Recruitment
	Second Priority Practices and Applications	Carpacity Building Particle and Assessment Review Pointone Language Impact Messares Data Uhilization Data Uhilization Data Partoippant Recruitment and Camper Partoippant Recruitment and
<b>Table 2 Prioritized Indicators</b>	First Priority Understanding	Youth Engagement Strategies Understanding Chiture Historical Perspective DEI

The panel was asked in round three what recommendations they would provide to a camp leader withing to begin DEI work. The recommendations can serve as a starting point for DEI organizational readiness. The results are on a 5-point Likert scale (1 = strongly disagree to 5 = strongly agree). Table 3 displays selected recommendations

Camp leadership communicate their DEI goals to potential funders and are committed to finding new sources of inding to reflect their commitment to DEI. DEI efforts are funded with sustainable methods. The organization creates strategies for members to engage beyond the boardoom by creating abared learning spaces. Board corness observations of programming on DEI goals and specific objectives that the board or organization have identified.

soard unites around the common goal of providing culturally relevant experiences for youth cross identities and uses data to identify community needs which align with the organization

across identities and uses mission to develop goals.

**DEI Funding Strategies** Board Learning and Development

**Board Engagement** 

and accountability

goals for the board. Board designs clear strategie diverse representation on the board at all levels.

Board Member Recruitment

AREA FOUR - Board of D

At the recommendation of several panel members in round one, additional indicators were added to the content areas. The panel determined Participant Recruitment and Retention would become an indicator under Camper and Community Engagement and DEI Funding Strategies would fall under Board of Directors. Figure 1 displays the final means for each content area and indicator.

RESULTS

	Mem         Secondarial         Mem         Secondarial         4.8         Secondaria	Table 3 Selected DEI Recommendations Camber and Community Encarement Stratectes		
dbooles)     4.53       ss accessible in     4.63       sg or read     4.53       ss and make     Main       s and make     Main	dbooks)     4.8       ss accossible n     4.3       sg or read     4.4       ss and make     4.4       ss and make     4.8       start     4.4       start     4.6       start		Mean	ß
Neuron         Means         S           s are created by to         4.6         4.6           as and make.         4.4         4.4           at and make.         4.4         4.4           about the work         4.8         5           about the work         4.6         6           about the work         4.6         4.6           about a	secretable to a secretable to	Educate vourself (e.g. engage a consultant outside of vour organization. listen to podcasts, read books)	4.8	0.41
sa and make when s successible to when s said make when s with the second secon	sa accessible to Mean S ge or read. Mean S and make Mean S 4877 44 4877 44 4877 44 4878 44 4878 44 4878 44 4878 44 4878 44 4878 44 4878 45 4877 45 4877 45 4877 45 Mean S Mean S	Find allies who will support your efforts	4.53	0.64
s accessible to a solution of the second of	se accessible to 5 se and make 5 se and make 8 ag term" is not 4,47 about the work 4,83 about about about a bound about about a bound about a bound about about a bound about about a bound about about a bound about abo	Youth Engagement Strategies	Mean	SD
gg or read     4.6       st and muke     4.4       A87     4.87       A88     4.87       A88     4.87       A88     4.87       A88     4.87       A88     4.67       A88     4.63       A88     4.64       A88 <td< td=""><td>se net make 4.6 se and make 4.4 4.87 4.87 4.87 4.87 4.87 4.87 4.87 4.87 4.87 4.87 4.87 4.65 4.65 4.55 4.</td><td>Invite youth to be part of the decision-making process and make the decision-making processes accessible to</td><td></td><td></td></td<>	se net make 4.6 se and make 4.4 4.87 4.87 4.87 4.87 4.87 4.87 4.87 4.87 4.87 4.87 4.87 4.65 4.65 4.55 4.	Invite youth to be part of the decision-making process and make the decision-making processes accessible to		
a and make A Mem 1 4 4 4 3 7 4 4 8 3 7 4 4 8 7 4 8 7 4 8 7 1 4 8 7 1 4 8 7 1 4 8 7 1 4 8 7 1 4 8 7 1 4 8 7 1 4 8 7 1 4 8 7 1 4 9 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	a and make A4 14 48 74 48 75 48 48 75 48 48 75 48 75 48 75 48 75 48 75 48 75 48 75 48 75 48 75 48 75 48 75 48 75 48 75 48 75 48 75 48 75 48 75 48 75 48 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75	youth (e.g. it can be inaccessible to youth if they have to sit through tedious multi-hour meetings or read technical documents or submit footback in ansocihod formats designed for adults )	4.0	0.49
a and make         4.4           a and make         4.4           4.87         4.47           4.87         Mean           4.87         Mean           4.87         Mean           4.87         Mean           4.87         Mean           4.87         Mean           4.47         Mean           4.67         Mean           4.68         Mean           4.66         Mean           Mean         Mean           <	a and make 4.4 4.87 4.87 4.87 4.87 4.87 4.87 4.47 4.47 4.65 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.65 4.67 4.65 4.6	technical uccuntents of summit recuoace in presented romans ucsigned for auture.) Immact Measures	Mean	S
Mean         S           age term" is not         4.87           4.87         4.87           4.87         4.87           about the work         4.93           about the work         4.67           4.67         4.67           about the work         4.67           4.67         8.67           about the work         4.67           about the work         4.64           about the work <t< td=""><td>Mean         S           ag term" is not         4.87           4.87         4.87           about the work         4.87           about the work         4.80           4.93         4.93           about the work         4.83           about the work         4.87           about the work         4.67           about the work         4.67           about the work         4.67           about the work         4.73           but's mission         4.73           but's mission         4.73           but's mission         4.67           but's mission         4.66           but's mission         4.66           but's current state of the readoness may the readon's normaling in one canoping in one current state address may in one current sta</td><td>Start by building a culture of feedback by collecting data and using the data to inform decisions and make</td><td></td><td>1</td></t<>	Mean         S           ag term" is not         4.87           4.87         4.87           about the work         4.87           about the work         4.80           4.93         4.93           about the work         4.83           about the work         4.87           about the work         4.67           about the work         4.67           about the work         4.67           about the work         4.73           but's mission         4.73           but's mission         4.73           but's mission         4.67           but's mission         4.66           but's mission         4.66           but's current state of the readoness may the readon's normaling in one canoping in one current state address may in one current sta	Start by building a culture of feedback by collecting data and using the data to inform decisions and make		1
Num         Sec           487         487           487         487           487         487           487         447           488         Mean           489         Mean           480         Mean           481         Mean           483         Mean           484         487           487         Mean           487         Mean           487         Mean           487         Mean           487         Mean           488         467           488         433           488         443           488         443           Mean         5           Mean	Mean         5           ag term" is not         4.87           4.87         4.47           4.89         Mean           4.80         Mean           4.81         Mean           4.83         Mean           4.84         Mean           4.87         Mean           4.83         Mean           4.83         Mean           4.83         Mean           4.83         Mean           4.83         Mean           4.67         Mean           4.68         Mean           4.67         Mean           Mean         S           Mean         S           Mean         Mean           4.67         Mean           Mean         S           Mean         Mean           Mean         Mean           Mean         Mean           Mean         Mean           Mean <td>changes</td> <td>4.4</td> <td>0.8</td>	changes	4.4	0.8
age term" is not         4.87           age term" is not         4.47           about the work         4.87           about the work         4.80           about the work         4.80           about the work         4.81           about the work         4.61           about the work         4.67           about the work         4.64           about the work         4.64 </td <td>about the work         4.87 4.87           about the work         4.47 4.93           about the work         4.83 4.93           about the work         4.83 4.93           about the work         4.67 4.67           about the work         4.67 4.67           about the work         4.67 4.67           about the work         4.67           but the current state of the work         4.63           but their current state of the the readiress may in one the current state address may in one the current state address may into the readiress may intot the readiress may into the readiress may into the r</td> <td>Camper/Participant Recruitment and Retention</td> <td>Mean</td> <td>SD</td>	about the work         4.87 4.87           about the work         4.47 4.93           about the work         4.83 4.93           about the work         4.83 4.93           about the work         4.67 4.67           about the work         4.67 4.67           about the work         4.67 4.67           about the work         4.67           but the current state of the work         4.63           but their current state of the the readiress may in one the current state address may in one the current state address may into the readiress may intot the readiress may into the readiress may into the r	Camper/Participant Recruitment and Retention	Mean	SD
4.87         4.87           4.81         Mean         5           about the work         4.47         8           about the work         4.87         8           about the work         4.67         8           About the work         4.63         8           About the work         4.64         6           About the work         4.64 </td <td>4.87       ag term" is not     Mean     5       about the work     4.47     8       about the work     4.87     8       about the work     4.87     8       about the work     4.67     8       about the current state of the current</td> <td>Check back in after camp. What worked? What didn't?</td> <td>4.87</td> <td>0.34</td>	4.87       ag term" is not     Mean     5       about the work     4.47     8       about the work     4.87     8       about the work     4.87     8       about the work     4.67     8       about the current state of the current	Check back in after camp. What worked? What didn't?	4.87	0.34
ag term" is not Addition and Addition and Addition Additi	ag term" is not defined and set of 4.47 4.47 4.47 4.49 4.49 4.48 4.49 4.40 5.44 4.47 5.44 5.44	If your camp can be a fit, make changes that show you listened	4.87	0.34
ag term" is not dear 15 447 24 447 24 embers 4467 24 447 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 2	ag term" is not         Admin           adjoint the work         4.47           Admin         8           adjoint the work         4.87           attent the work         4.67           attent the attent the work         4.67           attent the atten			
age term is not         4.47           about the work         4.67           but the work         4.61	age term is not 4, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4, 4,		Mean	SD
about the work 438 499 400 449 439 430 440 440 440 440 440 75 440 75 440 75 440 75 440 75 440 75 440 75 440 75 440 75 440 75 440 75 440 75 440 75 440 75 440 75 100% mission 410 440 75 100% mission 410 75 100\% mission 410\%	Mean         Sec           about the work         4.8           are the         4.67           but areasin         4.67           area         4.67           but areasin         4.64           but areadiress input areadincest input areasind areasind a	ng term'	4.47	0.62
4.67 4.87 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 8.68 4.67 4.67 8.68 4.67 8.68 4.67 8.68 4.67 8.68 4.67 4.67 8.68 8.68 8.68 4.67 7.63 8.68 8.68 8.68 8.68 8.68 8.68 8.68 8	4.8 4.8 4.7 4.7 4.7 4.7 4.7 4.7 4.8 4.8 4.8 4.7 4.7 4.7 4.7 4.7 4.7 4.7 4.7 4.7 4.7	reason to not talk about DEL - 11 anything, it further signals the need to engage in the diatogue	Mean	G
4.87 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.6	4.8 Mean 5 4.9 4.9 4.9 4.9 4.9 4.9 4.9 4.9 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0	Avoid defensiveness and listen to the representatives of the maroinalized communities	4.93	0.25
4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 8.69 4.67 8.4,67 4.73 4.73 4.73 4.73 Mean S 4.73 Mean S 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6	Mean 8 427 8 427 8 427 8 427 8 427 8 437 4 468 8 458 4 458 4	Have various ways for people in different levels and positions to submit anonymous feedback about the work		
Mean         S           4.67         4.67           4.67         4.67           4.57         8.67           Mean         S           4.67         S           Mean         S           4.67         Mean           A.63         Mean           A.73         Mean           A.73         Mean           A.65         A.65	Mann S 467 477 478 478 478 478 478 478 478 477 477	culture	4.8	4.0
4.67 4.67 4.27 4.27 Mean 5 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67	4.67 4.67 4.27 4.27 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.68 4.66 4.64 4.64 4.65 4.64 4.65 4.64 4.65 4.65	Policy and Assessment Review	Mean	SD
4.67 Mean 5 Mean 8 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 Mean 5 Mean 5 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.6 4.6	427 S. 429 S. 429 S. 450 S. 451 S. 452 S. 453 S. 453 S. 453 S. 453 S. 453 S. 454 S. 455 S. 45	Evaluate if a policy is helpful at the end of the camp season. Did it work as intended? What were the minimedad consoning and a second consoning as the second consolidate as the second con	4.67	0.47
Mean S 4.27 4.27 Mean S 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 Mean S Mean S Mean S 4.6 Mean S 4.6 Mean S 4.6 Mean S 4.6 Mean S 4.6 Mean S 4.6 Mean S Mean S Mea	427 427 427 58 427 58 428 429 427 58 427 58 427 58 427 58 427 58 427 58 427 58 428 423 423 423 423 423 423 423 423 423 423	provide funds/resources to the task force, including anoronriate compensation for task force members	4.67	0.6
4.27 4.27 4.73 4.73 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67	4.27 Mean 8, 467 4.67 Mean 7, 467 Mean 8, 468 4.73 4.73 4.73 4.73 4.73 4.74 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.	Data Utilization	Mean	ds
Mean S 4.73 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.73 4.67 4.73 Mean S 4.67 Mean S 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.65 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6	Mean S 467 467 467 467 467 467 467 467 4647 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45 45	Collect stories and personal accounts as part of the data	4.27	-
Mean S Mean S 4.67 Mean S 4.67 Mean S 4.67 Mean S Mean S 4.67 Mean S 4.65 Mean S 4.65 A.65 Mean S Mean S 4.65 A.65 Mean S Mean S	Mean S Mean S Mean S 473 473 473 473 473 467 465 46 46 46 46 46 46 46 46 46 46 46 46 46			
4.73 Mean S 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.73 Mean S 4.73 Mean S 4.65 4.6 4.6 4.6	4.67 A4.67 A	Bridge Program	Mean	SD
Mean 8 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 8 4.67 8 4.67 8 4.67 8 4.67 8 4.67 8 4.67 8 4.67 8 4.67 8 4.67 8 4.67 8 4.67 8 4.67 8 4.67 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	Mean 5 4.67 4.67 4.67 4.67 Mean 5 4.67 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.5 4.6 4.5 4.6 4.5 4.6 1 one 1 one	Provide meaningful and important roles to youth	4.73	0.62
4.67 Mean S 4.68 4.63 Mean S 4.73 Mean S 4.63 Mean S 4.5 4.6 4.6	4.67 Mean S 4.67 Mean S Mean S 4.65 Action S 4.65 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 1 one 1 on	Keeruument and Hiring Coorts relationships with monoinalized assume modeling with low landowhile in these assume as monoiding asf	Mean	R
Mean S 4.67 4.67 4.73 Mean S 4.73 Mean S 4.6 4.6 4.6	Mean 5 4.87 4.67 Mean 5 Mean 5 4.67 Mean 5 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 1.10 onto 1 tailor their tailor tailor tailor tailor tailor tailor tailor tailor tailor tailor tailor tailor tailor tailor tailor tailor ta	create relationships with marginatized groups, working with Key reater ship in those groups, or providing sair meconame for mambare of these aroune. Be relational and residenced	4.67	0.47
4.67 4.67 Mean S 4.73 Mean S 4.67 Mean S 4.65 4.6 4.6	4.87 Mean S 4.77 4.77 Mean S Mean S 4.67 4.65 4.65 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 and 10 me tailor their tailor tailor their tailor their tailor their tailor their tailor their tailor tailor their tailor tailor tailor their tailor tailor	Capacity Building	Mean	SD
4.67 Mean S 4.73 4.67 4.67 Aean S 4.67 Aean S 4.53 Aean S 4.65 Aean S 4.66	4.67 Mean S 4.67 S Mean S 4.67 Mean S Mean S 4.65 Mean S 4.65 Mean S 4.6 Mean	Set achievable goals - take it one-step at a time to prioritize the work and make an impact	4.8	0.4
Mean S 4.73 4.67 4.67 Mean S 4.65 Mean S 4.6 4.6 4.6	Mean 5 4/3 4/67 4/67 Mean 5 4/6 4/6 4/6 4/6 4/6 4/6 4/6 4/6 4/6 antione in one in one andership is strate of is used and and and and and and and and and an	Implement a rigorous accountability system for DEI priorities	4.67	0.47
Mean 5 4.67 Mean 8 4.67 Mean 8 4.65 4.6 4.6	A 73 4 75 4 75 4 67 4 65 4 65 4 6 4 6 4 6 4 6 4 6 4 6 4 6 4 6 4 6 4 6			9
4.73 Mean S 4.67 Mean S 4.53 Mean S 4.6 4.6	4.73 Mean 5 4.67 Mean 5 4.67 4.5 4.5 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 ant state of ant state of ant one and or their the one and of the one the one and of the one and of the one the o	Board Member Recruitment 64-met die bendie Grieferen was oder DRT is innormet ond when it memo fer die anominationis minister	Mean	SU
Mean S 4.67 4.53 4.53 Mean S 4.6 4.6	Mean S Mean S Mean S 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 7.10 7.10 7.10 7.10 7.10 7.10 7.10 7.10	Educate the board of directors as to why DEJ is important and what it means for the organization's mission	4.73	0.44
4.67 Mean S 4.53 Mean S 4.6 4.6	4.67 A.man S. 4.53 A.man S. 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 a. 4.6 a. 4.6 a. 4.6 a. a. a. a. a. a. a. a. a. b. a. a. 4.6 b. 4.5 b.5 b.5 b.5 b.5 b.5 b.5 b.5 b.5 b.5 b	and up over an yount experience. Board Learning and Development	Mean	SD
Mean S 4.53 Mean S 4.6 4.6	Mean 5 4.53 8.65 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 7.10 one 7.10 o	Listen to the members of your community that may have marginalized identities.	4.67	1.01
4.53 Mean S 4.6 4.6	4.53 Mean 5 4.6 4.6 4.6 ant for their sustained in one tailor their thei	Board Engagement	Mean	SD
Arean 5	Automotic and a second a secon	Seek outside help with DEI work at the center of the effort.	4.53	0.81
4.6 4.6	4.6 4.6 and state of sustained tailor their tailor their tess may eadership is enabling egin applyi	De held and according in according to accord 6 and on that the according in cartering NEU 16 accord	Mean	20
4.6	4.6 can assess their current state of EI work both require sustained A camp may be ready in one addiness, a camp may tailor their micipation hat readiness may implemented. Camp hadership isustained efforts, thus enabling goals, the camp can begin applyin goals, the camp can begin applyin	ne ovu and aggressive in communitating to current nuiters that ure organization is centering DEL 11 Source funders balk do not nanie Many more will embrace this move. Have contrace	4.6	0.49
APPLICATION	APPLICATION The findings from this study suggest ways in which camps can assess their current state of DEI readiness to induct their DEI feotors. Readiness and DEI work both require sustained effort and commitment and are cyclical in their processes. A camp may be ready in one content area, but not in another. Based on organizational readiness, a camp may tailor their change over time allowing for further DEI measures to be implemented. Camp isdeteship change over time allowing for further DEI measures to be implemented. Camp isdeteship feadership to set goals. Once camps have established DEI goals, the camp can be applying the most relevant DEI practices in their program.	Seek multi-year commitments to allow DEI work to breathe.	4.6	0.8
	The findings from this study suggest ways in which camps can assess their current state of DEI readiness to induct their DEI clerofs. Reatiness and DEI work both require sustained effort and commitment and are vycitical in their processes. A camp may be ready in one content area, but not in another. Based on organizational readiness, a camp may fullor their DEI goals to reflect the organization's readiness with the antiopation that teachines may change over time allowing for further DEI measures to be implemented. Camp leadership should understand organization change requires time and sustained efforts, thus enabling leadership to set goals. Once camps have established DEI goals, the camp can begin applying the most relevant DEI practices in their program.	APPLICATION		
	entort and comment and are yorkent in the processes. A camp may be tready in our content area, but not in another. Based on organizational readiness, a camp may tailor their DEI goals to reflect the organization's readiness with the anticipation that readiness may change over time allowing for further DEI measures to be implemented. Camp leadership should understand organizational change requires time and sustained efforts, thus enabling theateness to see allowing in their program.	DEI readiness to further their DEI cloths. Readiness and DEI work both requires	istained	
DEI readiness to further their DEI frorts. Readiness and DEI work both require sustained	DEI goals to reflect the organization's readimess with the anticipation that readiness may change over time allowing for further DEI measures to be implemented. Camp leadership should understand organizationed change requires time and sustained efforts, thus enabling teadership oset goals. Once camps have established DEI goals, the camp can begin applying the most relevant DEI practices in their program.	errort and communent and are cyclicat in their processes. A camp may be ready content area, but not in another. Based on organizational readiness, a camp may to	ilor the	.5
DEI readiness to further their DEI efforts. Readiness and DEI work both require sustained refort and commitment and are evolved in their processes. A carpo may be arealy in one content area but not involver. Based on romanizational readiness a camo may tailor their design and the second secon	change over time allowing for further DEI measures to be implemented. Camp leadership should understand organizational change requires time and sustained efforts, thus carabling leadership to set goals. Once camps have established DEI goals, the camp can begin applying the most relevant DEI practices in their program.	DEI goals to reflect the organization's readiness with the anticipation that readine	s may	
DEI readiness to further their DEI efforts. Readiness and DEI work both require sustained effort and commitment and are cyclical in their processess. A carpo may be ready in one content area, but not in another. Based on organizational readiness, a camp may tailor their DEI goals to reflect the organization's readiness with the anticipation that readiness may	stoold understand or genarazional change requires time and sustamed efforts, thus chabing leadership to set goals. Once camps have established DEI goals, the camp can begin applying the most relevant DEI practices in their program.	change over time allowing for further DEI measures to be implemented. Camp let	dership	
DEI readiness to further their DEI efforts. Readiness and DEI work both require sustained fefort and commitment and are evicient in their processess. A camp may be ready in one content area, but not in another. Based on organizational readiness, a camp may tailor their DEI goals to reflect the organization's readiness with the anticipation that readiness may change over time allowing for further DEI measures to be implemented. Camp leadership	the most relevant DEI practices in their program.	should understand organizational change requires time and sustained efforts, thus leadership to set goals. Once camps have established DEI goals, the camp can beg	in apply	g /ing
DEI readiness to further their DEI efforts. Readiness and DEI work both require sustained refort and commitment and are organization processess. A camp may be aready in one content area but not in another. Based on organizational readiness, a camp may taitor their DEI goals to reflect the organization's readiness with the anticipation that readiness may change over time allowing for further DEI measures to be implemented. Camp leadeship should understand organizational treadiness that a distributed for standing teadership to set goals. Once camps have established DEI goals, the camp cambing leadership to set goals. Once camps have established DEI goals, the camp can begin applying		the most relevant DEI practices in their program.		

## KEY FACTORS IMPACTING GROWTH AMONG SUMMER CAMP STAFF Author: Jacob Sorenson. Contact: jake(at)sacredplaygrounds.com

Most of the research assessing the impacts of the summer camp experience focuses on youth participants (Thurber et al., 2007; Garst et al., 2011; Richmond et al., 2019; Warner et al., 2021). This is an obvious focus, since children and youth comprise the primary audience of day and residential summer camps. However, there is considerable evidence that the experience of serving on summer camp staff has impacts equal to or greater than those of summer campers (Garst et al., 2009; Johnson et al., 2011; Sorenson, 2014). The Camp and Church Leadership Project sought to assess the impacts of working on summer camp staff on faith formation and leadership in the church. The study uncovered the degree and frequency of these specific impacts at Christian camps, but it also revealed major elements of the summer staff experience that have implications for all types of summer camps. Three major factors impacted the growth among summer camp staff: agency, support, and consistency of a central community ethic.

## Methods

The Camp and Church Leadership Project explored the impact of working on summer camp staff on faith formation, congregational involvement, and church leadership among camps affiliated with the Evangelical Lutheran Church in America (ELCA). The study used a sequential exploratory design, using the findings from an initial round of 24 semi-structured interviews with former summer camp staff to develop questionnaires for current staff. Church judicatory staff from the six synods of Wisconsin identified candidates for the interviews, which took place in spring 2020. There were four from each synod, with half serving as clergy members and half non-clergy. They ranged in age from the mid-20s to late 60s. Three researchers did the initial coding of interview transcripts, with two coders per transcript for inter-rater reliability. The coders then collaborated in the process of axial and thematic coding to develop a working model of the camp staff experience and the factors leading to common outcomes.

The quantitative phase used a test-retest methodology during summer 2021. It was open to all camps affiliated with the ELCA, and roughly half opted to participate by surveying their summer staff at the beginning and end of the summer. The resulting data set included 880 adult summer staff members from 50 camps, including 517 with matching pre-camp and post-camp surveys. Researchers analyzed the data using various statistical methods, particularly t-tests to assess change in perceptions of 28 items that appeared in both surveys. These 28 items were designed to test the outcomes identified in the interview phase. Researchers investigated the factors associated with the variations in outcomes among study participants by assessing their perceptions of the experience, differences based on demographics, and pre-camp motivations/perceptions.

## Findings

Thematic coding of the interview data indicated that there were three major elements of the summer staff experience: a community of common purpose, experiential leadership, and openness to experiences of God. The interaction of these three elements with each unique staff member resulted in several common outcomes. The most common were lasting relationships, a deeper sense of vocation/calling, faith formation, ongoing connection to the camp, and new skills valuable for life, particularly self-confidence, resilience, and leadership abilities. These outcomes, including wording used by interview participants, were included in the surveys. The survey of summer camp staff confirmed the importance of the three major elements in a surprising way. Researchers expected the outcomes revealed in the interview phase to be overwhelmingly common and measurable among survey participants, but this was not the case. Only eight of the 28 items included on the pre- and post-camp surveys showed significant change, on average, and five of these showed an unexpected negative trajectory (all related to connection to the Christian church). The items that showed consistent growth were related to leadership and self-confidence. However, participants exhibited patterns of growth at each camp based on three major factors: perceptions of agency, support, and consistency of faith among fellow staff. This suggests that camps that more consistently offered their staff agency, support, and a community of faith were more effective at achieving desired outcomes.

The first two factors, agency and support, were identified with correlation coefficients using Likert-type questions and subsequently confirmed with categorical analysis. Questions from the post-camp survey evaluating the quality of the staff experience (e.g., "I felt like my opinions and input were valued") were correlated with those measuring perceived impact (e.g., "I grew in my leadership abilities"). Four of the six variables with the highest correlation coefficients (Pearson's *r*) related to the support that staff members perceived during their time at camp (from supervisors and fellow staff). The other two were related to staff agency. The stronger the sense of support and agency, the greater the impact they reported. Researchers created an index using four of the most highly correlated variables to categorize camps based on the average levels of support and agency among their responding staff (low, moderate, and high).

Staff who worked at camps with higher levels of support/agency were much more likely to agree that they were strengthened in their faith, grew in leadership abilities, felt more confident in themselves, and that the camp experience had a significant impact on their lives. They also reported significantly less frequent feelings of overwhelming anxiety, feeling very down or hopeless, and having thoughts of self-harm during the summer. At the end of the summer, staff working at camps with low levels of support/agency were 1.4 times more likely to be physically exhausted/burnt out, 2.3 times more likely to be emotionally exhausted/burnt out, and 3.8 times more likely to be spiritually exhausted/burnt out compared with staff at camps with high support/agency. In terms of growth in the 28 individual survey items, staff working at camps with low levels of support/agency showed a pattern of non-growth (including the most common outcome: leadership), while those working at camps with high levels of support/agency had significant positive growth in multiple variables from pre-camp to post-camp.

The other major factor impacting growth was consistency of faith in the staff community. Though all participating camps were church affiliated, staff members varied in their degree of belief and faith commitment. Several survey items were combined to create an index measuring faith commitment (using the dimensions of belief and faith relevance) ranging from "uncommitted" to "highly committed." Two-thirds of participating camps had a majority of their staff categorized as highly committed, while these were in the minority at the other camps. Respondents who were part of a staff that was majority highly committed Christians were significantly more likely to exhibit growth in multiple survey items, particularly those related to faith and personal wellbeing. In contrast, those on staffs that were minority committed Christian tended to decline in faith measurements, even if they began the summer as highly committed. The ten camps that were categorized as having all three factors (high support, agency, and majority committed Christians) demonstrated the most consistent outcomes. They demonstrated the highest outcomes related to self-confidence and faith commitment, and they did not show the decline in regard for the Christian church evident among other respondents. They were also the only group to increase significantly in items related to vocation/calling. Additionally, they exhibited significantly less exhaustion and burnout at the end of the summer, compared with respondents from other camps.

## Significance and Future Research

The summer camp staff experience offers clear potential for emerging adults to grow in multiple areas, including faith, leadership, self-confidence, and a sense of vocation/calling. These outcomes are dependent on the experience itself. In order for summer staff to thrive in their role, they need support from their fellow staff and supervisors and a sense of agency that makes them feel valued and that their role fits in with the mission of the camp. At the Christian camps involved in this study, they also clearly benefited from a community that was committed to the core values of the camp (in this case, committed Christians). Not all camps are Christian, but they generally have core values. This study suggests that the summer staff experience is partially dependent on the staff community sharing these essential core values or a central community ethic. In the interview phase, this was identified as a community of common purpose.

The study was limited in its focus on a single Christian denomination, a single summer, and a limited post-camp assessment. Future studies should assess the roles of support, agency, and a community of common purpose on staff in other camps, both religious and not religiously affiliated. Summer 2021 took place in the midst of the COVID-19 pandemic, after many people had been socially distancing for many months and most camps had come through a summer of closure in 2020. Future studies can assess how much these unique circumstances impacted the camp staff experience and whether similar findings will be evident in other summers. The post-camp survey was administered at the end of the camp experience. Future studies will benefit from a follow-up administered two or more months following the camp experience to assess perceptions and ongoing impacts.

## References

- Garst, B. A., Browne, L., & Bialeschki, M.D. (2011). Youth development and the camp experience. *New Directions for Youth Development,* 130, 73-87.
- Garst, B. A., Franz, N. K., Baughman, S., Smith, C.: & Peters, B. (2009). Growing without limitations: transformation among young adult camp staff. *Journal of Youth Development*, 4.
- Johnson, S., Goldman, J., Garey, A., & Britner, P. (2011). Emerging adults' identity exploration: illustrations from inside the "camp bubble." *Journal of Adolescent Research* 26(2), 258-295.
- Richmond, D., Sibthorp, J., & Wilson, C. (2019). Understanding the role of summer camps in the learning landscape: An exploratory sequential study. *Journal of Youth Development*, 14(3), 9–30.
- Sorenson, J. (2014). The summer camp experience and faith formation of emerging adults. *Journal* of Youth Ministry, 13, 17-40.
- Thurber, C. A., Scanlin, M., Scheuler, L., & Henderson, K. A. (2007). Youth development outcomes of the camp experience: evidence for multidimensional growth." *Journal of Youth Adolescence*, 36, 241-254.
- Warner, R. P., Sibthorp, J., Wilson, C., Browne, L. P., Barnett, S., Gillard, A., & Sorenson, J. (2021). Similarities and differences in summer camps: A mixed methods study of lasting outcomes and program elements. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 120.



## **Key Factors Impacting Growth Among** Summer Camp Staff Jacob Sorenson, PhD, Sacred Playgrounds LLC

## INTRODUCTION

The Camp and Church Leadership Project explored the impact of working on summer camp staff on faith formation, congregational involvement, and church leadership among camps affiliated with the Evangelical Lutheran Church in America. It uncovered lessons applicable to all camp types.

## METHODS

Semi-structured interviews (12 clergy, 12 non-clergy)

Surveys of Summer Staff 880 staff at 50 camps, including 517 pre and post

## LESSONS TO SHARE ....

\*Former staff at Christian camps identified 3 essential elements of the experience: a community of common purpose,

Spiritual

Emotional

Physical

experiential leadership, and openness to the activity of God/the Holy

\*The outcomes identified were common among staff members, but they were dependent on the quality of the experience.

\*3 factors clearly impacted staff experience and subsequent growth: support, agency, and consistency of a central community ethic \*Many staff struggled with MESH and needed specialized support



## Staff Growth Based on Strength of their Camp's Support/Agency



2023 ACA Camp Research Forum, Orlando, FL
## THE LASTING BENEFITS OF MULTI-YEAR CAMP PROGRAMMING FOR YOUTH FROM LOW-INCOME BACKGROUNDS

Authors: Robert P. Warner, University of Utah & Victoria Povilaitis, Tim Horton Foundation Camps. Contact: Robert P. Warner, warner.robert(at)utah.edu

Camp can be a setting that supports youth development (e.g., Garst et al., 2011); however, not all youth have opportunities to attend camp given financial barriers (Browne et al., 2019; NASEM, 2019). To address this gap, many camps provide financial scholarships. Other camps focus specifically on serving youth from low-income backgrounds, some of which offer multi-year experiences. Given inequitable access to camp and the limited number of multi-year camp programs serving youth from low-income backgrounds, little is known about the lasting benefits of camp attendance for this population.

Examining outcomes of camp for alumni from low-income backgrounds who attended multi-year programs may reveal the value of greater access to camp and inspire efforts to create more equitable and culturally-sustaining camp experiences (Browne et al., 2019). To this end, we sought to answer two questions: 1) What outcomes do camp alumni from a multi-year camp serving youth from low-income backgrounds report as influenced by camp and important to life today? 2) What is the relationship between years of camp attended and outcomes?

## Methods

Using a cross-sectional, retrospective design, we collected online survey responses from 449 camp alumni ( $M_{age}$  = 22.1, SD = 5.2) who attended at least one 10-day session at one of seven Tim Hortons Foundation Camps. Sixty-three percent of alumni identified as female and 56% identified as White (9% Black, 2% Hispanic, 7% Multi-racial, 7% Asian, and 6% Indigenous, 11% other).

Similar to Richmond et al. (2019) and Warner et al. (2021), participants responded on 10-point Likert-type scales regarding how critical Tims Camp was in their development of 18 camp-related outcomes and the importance of these outcomes in daily life. These outcomes included: willingness to try new things, affinity for nature, perseverance, being present, teamwork, appreciation for diversity, relationship skills, self-confidence, leadership, living with peers, independence, empathy, self-identity, responsibility, leisure skills, selfregulation, organization, and college and career orientation. Following Warner et al. (2021), we created camp impact scores to demonstrate regarding how critical Tims Camp was to outcomes *and* the importance of these outcomes in everyday life by calculating the square root of the sum of each variable squared (range of 0-14.14). We also asked about participants' highest educational degree earned.

To answer research questions 1 and 2, we used a repeated measures analysis of variance with camp impact score as the within-subjects factor and total summers as a continuous between-subjects predictor. To answer research question 2, we also used a binomial logistic regression to examine the relationship between years of camp and post-secondary degree earned. We included age, gender, and race as covariates in all analyses.

Results

## **Research Question 1**

Participants reported higher camp impact scores for some outcomes compared to others ( $F(_{17, 5933}) = 2.70, p < .001, partial h^2 = .01$ ). See Table 1 for detailed results. **Research Question 2** 

The results also suggested that, on average, alumni who attended camp for more summers reported higher camp impact scores ( $F(_{1,349}) = 9.24$ , p = .003, partial  $h^2 = .03$ , individual outcomes B = .175 - .430, S.E. = .07 - .09). Relatedly, the differences across an alumni's camp impact scores were associated with the number of years they attended camp ( $F(_{17,5933}) = 8.69$ , p < .001, partial  $h^2 = .01$ ). Lastly, for each year of attendance past the first, alumni were one and a half times as likely to have earned a bachelor's degree compared to no degree (B = .42, S.E. = .18, Wald = 5.69, p = .017, Exp(B) = 1.53, 95% Cl [1.08, 2.16]).

## Table 1

Outcome	Camp Critical <i>M</i> ( <i>SD</i> )	Importance to Life <i>M</i> ( <i>SD</i> )	Camp Impact <i>M</i> ( <i>SD</i> )
Willingness to Try New Things	8.5 (1.8)	8.01 (1.75)	11.8 (2.5)
Affinity for Nature	8.4 (2.0)	8.24 (1.84)	11.8 (2.2)
Perseverance	8.1 (2.0)	8.70 (1.58)	11.9 (2.0)
Being Present	8.0 (2.3)	8.31 (1.85)	11.7 (2.5)
Teamwork	8.0 (2.2)	8.40 (1.74)	11.7 (2.2)
Appreciation for Diversity	7.9 (2.2)	8.94 (1.51)	12.0 (2.2)
Relationship Skills	7.8 (2.3)	8.24 (1.86)	11.5 (2.4)
Self-Confidence	7.7 (2.2)	8.44 (1.82)	11.5 (2.4)
Leadership	7.6 (2.3)	7.83 (2.16)	11.0 (2.7)
Living with Peers	7.6 (2.5)	6.47 (2.75)	10.2 (2.9)
Independence	7.4 (2.4)	8.64 (1.71)	11.5 (2.3)
Empathy	7.3 (2.5)	8.50 (1.77)	11.4 (2.5)
Self-Identity	7.3 (2.5)	8.66 (1.73)	11.5 (2.5)
Responsibility	7.2 (2.4)	8.85 (1.42)	11.5 (2.2)
Leisure Skills	6.8 (2.6)	6.93 (2.51)	9.9 (3.0)
Self-Regulation	6.6 (2.7)	8.40 (1.87)	10.8 (2.7)
Organization	6.1 (2.8)	8.16 (1.98)	10.4 (2.7)
College and Career Orientation	5.4 (3.0)	8.02 (2.31)	9.9 (3.0)

Scores for Camp Critical, Importance to Life, and Camp Impact Outcomes

## Discussion

The results of this study indicate that Tims Camps experiences impacted skills that participants find useful in their lives (demonstrated by high camp impact scores). The results build on camp research including youth from low-income backgrounds (e.g., Warner et al., 2021) and suggest that a multi-year camp program may be more beneficial than single year experiences. Given the opportunity gap (NASEM, 2019) that creates limited access to quality youth programs, camp is a setting where youth from low-income backgrounds learn skills they may not have the ability to learn elsewhere, making repeated camp experiences particularly salient. Lastly, the results also indicate that the impact of camp extends beyond skill development. That is, skills learned at camp may have laid the foundation for essential elements of thriving (Nagaoka et al., 2015). The results of this study suggest that youth from low-income backgrounds who attend more years of a multi-year program may also complete higher levels of education, such as post-secondary education. These results help connect camp attendance to broader outcomes beyond those commonly associated with camp.

Camp and youth development practitioners have called for greater access and more equitable youth development programs for youth from all backgrounds (Browne et al., 2019; NASEM, 2019). Results of this study highlight the impact that a camp experience can have on the lives of youth from low-income backgrounds. Practitioners can use the results of this study to articulate the impact of a camp experience and advocate for government support and funding for multi-year camp programs. Practitioners can use these findings to advocate for funding for programs to support youth year-round in an effort to increase retention. The results of this study also suggest the potential benefits that may be related to multi-year camp programs. More research is needed to better understand if there is a causal relationship between years of camp and outcomes.

## References

Browne, L. P., Gillard, A., & Garst, B. A. (2019). Camp as an institution of socialization: Past, present, and future. *Journal of Experiential Education*, 42(1), 51–64.

## https://doi.org/10.1177/1053825918820369

- Garst, B. A., Browne, L. P., & Bialeschki, M. D. (2011). Youth development and the camp experience. *New Directions for Student Leadership, 2011*(130), 73–87. https://doi.org/10.1002/yd.398
- Nagaoka, J., Farrington, C. A., Ehrlich, S. B., Heath, R. D. (2015). *Foundations for young adult success: A developmental framework*. University of Chicago, Consortium on Chicago School Research.
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine (NASEM). (2019). Shaping summertime experiences: Opportunities to promote healthy development and well-being for children and youth. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.17226/25546</u>.
- Richmond, D., Sibthorp, J., & Wilson, C. (2019). Understanding the role of summer camps in the learning landscape: An exploratory sequential study. *Journal of Youth Development*, 14(3), 9-30. https://doi.org/10.5195/jyd.2019.780
- Warner, R. P., Sibthorp, J., Wilson, C., Browne, L. P., Barnett, S., Gillard, A., & Sorenson, J. (2021). Similarities and differences in summer camps: A mixed methods study of lasting outcomes and program elements. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 120, Article number 105779. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.105779



## EXAMINING THE DEVELOPMENTAL CHARACTERISTICS IN YOUTH'S MEMORABLE CAMP EXPERIENCES

## Authors: Robert P. Warner & Michael Froehly, University of Utah; Taylor Wycoff, University of California Irvine. Contact: Robert P. Warner, warner.robert(at)utah.edu

Many characteristics of camp support development (Sibthorp et al., 2020). Research about these characteristics has used surveys or interviews, has relied on former campers, or has examined the camp setting as a whole. These approaches may not capture the developmental characteristics of camp that resonate with youth as they make meaning of their experiences long after attending camp.

In a recent study exploring defining moments of camp, Garst and Whittington (2020) found that achievement, challenge, emotional safety, friend-making, novelty, positivity, and tradition were the salient moments for campers. While this study provides insight into the discrete moments of camp, the authors describe their study as exploratory and likely not representative given the small sample drawn from a single camp. The authors' use of interviews conducted immediately after participants' camp experiences likely limited the authors' ability to capture the salient characteristics of camp experiences related to how youth make meaning of their experiences because people need time to meaningfully process their experiences (Habermas & Bluck, 2000).

To address the limitations of Garst and Whittington's (2020) study, we examined youth's accounts of memorable camp experiences several months after attending. Narrative identity theory suggests that over time people make meaning of their experiences in the context of their current and future lives when sharing stories about their experiences (Pasupathi et al., 2007). The ability to make meaning of one's experiences begins in late childhood and becomes increasingly sophisticated throughout adolescence (Habermas & Bluck, 2000). Thus, examining youth's stories about memorable camp experiences may provide insight into the characteristics of camp that support development as well as the experiences that remain salient throughout youth's lives.

## Methods

During semi-structured interviews ( $\approx$ 30 minutes) conducted in fall 2021 as part of a national study about summer camp, 74 youth shared two stories about memorable experiences from summer 2021. For the purposes of this study, we focused on the 49 participants who shared stories about camp. About 51% of these participants identified as male (n = 25), about 65% identified as white (n = 32), 46% were in 7<sup>th</sup> (n = 22) or 48% in 8<sup>th</sup> grade (n = 23), and 82% were from middle-income households (n = 36). On average, these participants attended camp in 2021 for 3.39 weeks (SD = 2.71, 1–8).

Before analyzing the data, we transcribed narrative audio verbatim. After establishing adequate inter-rater reliability (k > .70; Syed & Nelson, 2015), the first and second authors independently coded half of the cases. Considering the narrative as the unit of analysis, we coded narratives for developmental characteristics commonly associated with camp, including: opportunities to try new things; opportunities to develop skills; positive relationships with peers; positive relationships with adults (Sibthorp et al., 2020). We defined opportunities to try new things as a novel experience that allowed participants to do a new activity or have an unfamiliar experience. We defined opportunities to develop skills as a learning experience that allowed participants to engage in an activity that led to greater competence in a specific skill. We defined positive peer relationships as an experience that allowed participants to have an experience with peers, or develop/nurture relationships with

peers, that were positive in nature. We defined positive adult relationships as an experience that allowed participants to have an experience with adults, or develop/nurture relationships with adults, that were positive in nature. We also engaged in open-coding to explore the narratives for other themes.

## Findings

Participants' narratives contained evidence of developmental characteristics. We identified positive peer relationships most frequently and positive adult relationships least frequently. We also found that many participants' narratives were about experiences that occurred during unprogrammed time.

## Table 1

Characteristic	% of Narratives ( <i>n</i> )	Example Quotes
Positive Peer Relationships	51% (25)	"we all actually felt like a village instead of just like a couple small groups of boys."
Unprogrammed Time	34% (19)	"there's finally break in the lightning. It was still raining but we decided we wanted to go outsidewe all went out in shorts and socks and started running around"
Opportunities to Try New Things	33% (16)	"I had never swam across the lake before."
Opportunity to Learn New Skills	10% (5)	"I learned how to ride a dirt bike"
Positive Adult Relationships	2% (1)	"me and my counselor and a couple of other kids had a lot of fun on that trail"

Frequencies and Example Quotes for Developmental Characteristics

## Discussion

The findings address a gap in knowledge about the developmental characteristics present in youth's stories about their memorable camp experiences. Several of our findings align with Garst and Whittington (2020). For example, their findings regarding friend-making and novelty align with our finding of positive peer relationships and opportunities to try new things. Our findings also extend what has been found through scale or prompt-based evaluations of the camp setting as a whole by identifying the salient characteristics in youth's stories as they make meaning of their camp experiences. For example, peers were very common in youth's stories, which is a commonly identified aspect of camp that supports learning and development (Sibthorp et al., 2020). Our finding about the importance of unprogrammed time has not yet appeared in the literature and is an area ripe for future research. Given our narrative approach, the characteristics we identified are likely indicative of the characteristics most salient to these youth's camp experiences.

Camp professionals may use these findings in several ways. First, the findings reinforce what is known about the characteristics that most impact youth, and thus,

characteristics that warrant the most attention. Second, camp professionals may reconsider the value of unprogrammed time (e.g., cabin time, "free block/hour") and how it can be incorporated into daily schedules. Third, our findings point toward the developmental value of youth sharing stories about their camp experiences. Doing so may yield useful stories for marketing as well as information about the most salient characteristics for youth who attend their camp. Furthermore, encouraging youth to share stories about their experiences extends how camps support development. This act of reflection, a key piece of program quality, is also essential for narrative identity development. This study suggests that memorable moments occur at camp during programmed and non-programmed times, and that developmentally supportive characteristics of camp are present in youth's meaning making about their experiences long after attending camp.

Readers should consider several limitations when interpreting our findings. First, the prompt to consider a 'memorable' experience may have influenced the type of story told by participants. A different prompt may have yielded different findings. Second, despite interrater reliability, there is possibility of bias, thus influencing our findings. Third, the sample was relatively white and affluent; thus, our results may not generalize to more diverse samples.

## References

Garst, B. A., & Whittington, A. (2020). Defining moments of summer camp experiences: An exploratory study with you in early adolescence. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation, Education, and* 

Leadership, 12(3), 306–321. https://doi.org/10.18666/JOREL-2020-V12-I3-10109 Habermas, T., & Bluck, S. (2000). Getting a life: The emergence of the life story in adolescence. *Psychological Bulletin*, 126(5), 748–769. https://10.1037//0033-2909.126.5.748 Pasupathi, M., Mansour, E., & Brubaker, J. (2007). Developing a life story: Constructing relations between self and experience in autobiographical narratives. *Human Development*, 50(2– 3), 85–110. https://doi.org/10.1159/000100939

Sibthorp, J., Wilson, C., Povilaitis, V., & Browne, L. (2020). Active ingredients of learning at summer camp. *Journal of Outdoor and Environmental Education*, 23, 21–37. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42322-019-00050-6

Syed, M., & Nelson, S. C. (2015). Guidelines for establishing reliability when coding narrative data. *Emerging Adulthood*, 3(6), 375–387. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2167696815587648</u>



# Examining the Developmental Characteristics in Youth's Memorable Camp Experiences

Robert P. Warner, Michael Froehly, & Taylor Wycoff



## Background

- with youth as they make meaning of their experiences developmental characteristics of camp that resonate Common research approaches may not capture the long after attending camp. 0
- their current and future lives when sharing stories about Narrative identity theory suggests that over time people make meaning of their experiences in the context of their experiences (Pasupathi et al., 2007)
  - experiences may provide insight into the characteristics Examining youth's stories about memorable camp experiences that remain salient throughout youth's of camp that support development as well as the 0

## What we did...

- Semi-structured interviews ( $\approx$  30 minutes) fall 2021
- We coded narratives for developmental characteristics
  - opportunities to try new things
    - opportunities to develop skills
- positive relationships with adults positive relationships with peers
- We also open-coded to explore for other themes.

Table 1. Frequencies and Example Guotes for Developmental Characteristics	Quotes for Developmen	ital Characteristics
Characteristic	% of Narratives (n)	Example Quotes
Positive Peer Relationships	51% (25)	"we all actually felt like a village instead of just like a couple small groups of boys."
Unprogrammed Time	34% (19)	"there's finally break in the lightning. It was still raining but we decided we wanted to go outsidewe all went out in shorts and socks and started running around"
Opportunities to Try New Things	33% (16)	"I had never swam across the lake before."
Opportunity to Learn New Skills	10% (5)	"I learned how to ride a dirt bike"
Positive Adult Relationships	2% (1)	"me and my counselor and a couple of other kids had a lot of fun on that trail"

## We learned that...

Participants' narratives contained evidence of

0

49 youth shared stories about memorable experiences

at camp in 2021.

Who participated?

• 46% were in 7th (n = 22) or 48% in 8th grade (n = 23)

 About 65% identified as white (n = 32) About 51% identified as male (n = 25)

• 82% were from middle-income households (n = 36).

Participants attended camp in 2021 for an average of

3.39 weeks (SD = 2.71, 1-8).

- developmental characteristics.
- Positive peer relationships occurred most frequently 0
- Many participants' narratives were about experiences Positive adult relationships occurred least frequently. 0 0
  - that occurred during unprogrammed time.

# What do our findings mean?

- scale or prompt-based evaluations of the camp setting as a whole by identifying the salient characteristics in These findings extend what has been found through youth's stories as they make meaning of their camp experiences.
- identified are likely indicative of the characteristics most Given our narrative approach, the characteristics we salient to these youth's camp experiences. 0

# Camp professionals may use our findings...

- The findings reinforce what is known about the camp characteristics that most impact youth
  - Reconsider the value of unprogrammed time (e.g., cabin time, "free block/hour") and how it can be incorporated into daily schedules.
- Youth's stories may be useful for marketing as well as information about the most salient characteristics for
- Encouraging youth to share stories about their youth who attend their camp. 0
- experiences extends how camps support development.

# 2023 American Camp Association Research Symposium – Orlando, Florida

## DISCUSSIONS WITH PARENTS: TOWARDS BETTER UNDERSTANDING OF CONSTRAINTS TO RECREATION FOR YOUTH WITH TYPE 1 DIABETES

## Authors: Rowan Williams<sup>1</sup>, Ron Ramsing<sup>2</sup>, Eddie Hill<sup>3</sup>, Justin Haegele<sup>1</sup>, Laura Hill<sup>1</sup>, & Taylor Harvey<sup>1</sup>

## <sup>1</sup>Old Dominion University, <sup>2</sup>Western Kentucky University, <sup>3</sup>Weber State University. Contact: Rowan Williams, rhwillia(at)odu.edu

While participation in out-of-school recreational opportunities like camps can positively impact youth living with type 1 diabetes (T1D), empirical evidence is limited (Collins et al., 2021). Research within T1D communities typically has concentrated on individual biometric indicators of health, unintentionally limiting empirical understanding of experience within social and community context (Kiesch & Elertson, 2020). One approach to expand understanding of health outcomes of youth living with T1D, including psychosocial implications that impact wellbeing, is to explore contextual influences that also account for variability in the environments in which they live, learn, and play. These contextual influences include youth's schools, peers, and families (Bronfenbrenner, 1979). Family systems, particularly parents, have a high level of influence and insight into the behavior of youth.

Positive health outcomes are associated with increased physical activity. Outside of the regular school year, summer camps represent the largest setting for youth to be active. In a recent national study, 80% of boys and 72% of girls in summer camp programs surpassed the daily physical activity standards set by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2018; Brazendale et al., 2017). Youth with T1D fall short of recommended physical activity standards (de Lima et al., 2017). Understanding constraints to recreation opportunities may assist in improving health outcomes for youth with T1D. To learn more about the recreational habits of youth with T1D, dialogs can be created with their parents. These discussions focused on accessible recreational opportunities at camp and beyond. The purpose of this study was to explore the constraints parents perceive their child(ren) faces with activity participation and type of activity involvement, both within and outside of camp.

## Method

This study was informed by a pragmatic conceptual framework, a derivative of general qualitative inquiry that takes an interpretive approach interested in "finding solutions to real-world problems" (Creswell & Poth, 2018, p. 34). By focusing on the human experience and problems that can arise, pragmatism centers human inquiry as the point of focus for researchers (Shields, 1998).

A total of 29 parents in a family diabetes camp agreed to participate in the study. Five semi-structured focus group interviews were then conducted with the parents. The focus group protocol concentrated on youth's participation in the camp, recreational behavior outside camp, and challenges faced accessing recreational opportunities. Transcripts were coded using a deductive and inductive approach. Initial codes were grounded in literature supportive of the conceptual framework used, and themes were derived from second-round coding developed within the data reduction phase of analysis (Saldana, 2021).

Results

Three themes were constructed from the data. The first theme described how parents perceived their child's recreation behavior. The second and third themes represented recreational opportunities available for youth and constraints preventing participation, respectively. Because of the centering of research participant voice and experience, themes were both inductively and deductively extrapolated.

## Parent Perceptions of Physical Activity

Parents reported that youth are at high risk for low involvement in recreational opportunities, including programs that provide adequate support for disease management. Parents additionally discussed youths' initial hesitation in participating in a camping program that sought to meet the needs of the T1D community through recreation and diabetes education. When asking their child about concerns regarding camp, one parent shared their child's response "she's like, 'you know what? It's gonna [sic] be really weird seeing everybody like pricking their fingers. And I'm not the only one. But [after participating in camp] she's already told me she wants to come back." After engaging in the curriculum focusing on recreation and diabetes education with other youth with the same diagnoses, parents noticed their child's attitude change towards the experience.

## **Opportunities to Participate**

Recreational opportunities identified by parents included both active and passive recreational activities. Parents shared their child's difficulty in ongoing participation in sports teams due to skill requirements, resulting in their child "aging out" of sports teams. "Hiking is what [my child] likes to do... she used to do soccer too when she was younger," one parent shared, "but she [aged out] when she got older. It just didn't work out so well." Activities such as art and music would later become a sought-after recreational experience by youth and other activities like video games.

## **Constraints to Participation**

Many parents stressed their child's aversion to outdoor recreational activities, with camp as an accessible means of trying new activities in a supportive environment. Initial constraints to participating in camp were identified by parents, including unfamiliarity with the requirements of the setting. One parent shared "we didn't know a camp like this existed... she was nervous. She didn't know what to expect. You know, neither one of us did... [But] I wanted her to be around other kids just like her. When I talked to her at lunch... she's like 'I made a friend, and got her phone number!'"

## **Discussion and Implications**

This study describes parents' perceptions of the recreational experiences and physical activity of youth with T1D, providing insight into the behaviors and perceived constraints to recreation. Research engaging community partners within youth's environments, such as parents, can provide insight into interactions between perceived attitudes and constraints to recreational opportunities available for their children (Allen et al., 2021). While this study had a total of 29 parents participating, qualitative findings are intended to provide exploratory insight into the group of parents' unique circumstances. Additionally, findings suggest considerations for resource allocation and strategic planning of youth-serving organizations, allowing practitioners to better address identified needs of both youths with T1D and their parents. For example, partnerships with pediatric medical staff and their inclusion in the program setting could potentially alleviate feelings of worry and stress for both parents and youth while engaging in physical activity. When seeking to promote physical activity within youth populations, rather than providing ultra-focused opportunities for physical activity, we should consider providing a range of activities for

youth to participate in. Appropriate support should accompany the diverse array of activities offered to supplement the experience. Choice provision in activity participation and support provided through positive adult interactions (e.g., parent-youth; staff-youth; peer-youth) can aid youth in working through perceived and environmental constraints to overall participation. While parents' perceptions can serve as insight into relationships, interactions, and perceived health and well-being of youth, future research should center on youth perspectives of parent-identified constraints and experiences.

## References

Allen, A., Hill, E., Williams, R., Viglietta, C., & Miles, D. (2021). Using rock climbing for recreation among youth with type 1 diabetes: Evaluating the REACH program. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation, Education, and Leadership,* 13(2), 67–72.

- Brazendale, K., Beets, M., Weaver, G., Chandler, J., Randel, A., Turner-McGrivey, G., Moore, J., Huberty, J., & Ward, D. (2017). Children's moderate to vigorous physical activity attending summer day camps. *Journal of Preventative Medicine*, 53(1), 78-84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2017.01.019
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). The ecology of human development: Experiments by nature and design. Harvard University Press.

Collins, T., Ramsing, R., Hill, E., Reifschneider, K., & Kramer, C. (2021). Using partnerships to create a medical specialty camp for youth with diabetes. *Journal of Park and Recreation Administration*. <u>https://doi.org/10.18666/JPRA-2021-10786</u>

- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2018). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches (4th ed.). SAGE Publications.
- de Lima, V. A., Mascarenhas, L. P. G., Decimo, J. P., de Souza, W. C., Monteiro, A. L. S., Lahart, I., Franca, S. N., & Leite, N. (2017). Physical activity levels of adolescents with type 1 diabetes physical activity in T1D. *Pediatric exercise science*, *29*(2), 213-219. <u>https://doi.org/10.1123/pes.2016-0199</u>
- Haegele, J. A., Holland, S. K., & Hill, E. (2022). Understanding parents' experiences with children with type 1 diabetes. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 19(1) 554. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19010554

Saldana, J. (2021). Coding manual for qualitative researchers. SAGE Publications.

- Shields, P. (1998). Pragmatism as a philosophy of science: A tool for public administration. In Jay D. White (Ed.), *Research in Public Administration* (pp. 195-225).
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, (2018). Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans, 2nd edition. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

## **Understanding of Constraints** to Recreation for Youth With **Discussions With Parents:** Type 1 Diabetes **Towards Better**

Authors: Rowan Williams, Ron Ramsing, Eddie Hill, Justin Haegele, Laura Hill, & Taylor Harvey Contact: Rowan Williams, rhwillia@odu.edu

## INTRO

- Despite the collective understanding that camp participation can benefit youth, empirical knowlec of the impact of involvement in medical specialty
- programming is immitted (collins et al., 2021). While positive health outcomes are associated with increased physical activity, youth with TLD fall short of recommended physical activity standards (de Lima et al., 2017).
- Family systems, particularly parents, possess significant influence and insight into youth behavior (Bronfenbrenner, 1779).
  Instead of focusing on biometric data as the sole indicator or wellness for youth living with TLD, exploring contextual factors that account for variability in environments in which youth live, leam,
  - and play should be considered (Kiesch & Elertson, 2020).
- The purpose of the study was to explore parents' perceived constraints faced by their children regarding activity participation and involvement both within and outside of camp.

## METHODS

- A pragmatic conceptual framework, which focuses on addressing real-world problems and centers human inquiry informed the study (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Shields, 1998).
  - Twenty-nine parents at a family diabetes camp agreed to participate in focus groups (five groups) that centered around their child's recreation behavior within and outside of camp, as well
- which themes were identified post-data reduction phase (Saldana, 2021). approaches applied to the focus group transcript, recreational opportunities accessible to them Analysis consisted of deductive and induc



OLD DOMINION WKU, WEBER STATE UNIVERSITY 3

through perceived and environmental constraints to overall provided through positive adult interactions (e.g., parentyouth; staff-youth; peer-youth) can aid youth in working Choice provision in activity participation and support

## participation.





recreational behavior, recreational opportun available for their child, and constraints prev

participation in recreational activities.
 Parent's Perception of Physical Activity

REACH

- involvement in recreational activities, including hesitation to participate in programs with outcomes related to diabetes management and education.
  Opportuities to Participate o Parents identified recreational activities, including passive (e.g., at and music) and active recreational activities (e.g., sports teams)
  O Youth tendet to "age out" of sports teams due to the high skill requirements, encouraging them to substitute team membership with self-contained o Parents acknowledged their child's risk of lo
- - activities, such as drawing and playing guitar. Constraints to Participation
    - Aversion to outdoor recreation spaces was cited a source of anxiety for their children from
- experience participating in Various recreational activities with adequate support, including from program staff. participants. O Parents explained that camp was their first

## Providing youth and their families opportunities to participate in new recreational experiences with the and constraints to recreati provide valuable insight into interactions b opportunities available to youth DISCUSSION & IMPLICATIONS ved attitudes

- support of staff can contribute to positive experiences associated with physical activity (Kieso & Elertson, 2020).
  - Introduction to physical activity outside of tradit settings les, within camp settings provides a supportive environment for youth to explore var modalities of physical activity (de Lima et al., 20)
- Community partnerships focusing on participan experience with local medical establishments complexities am support through voluntee provide progra
- opportunities for medical professionals. Programming provided through collaborative eff of youth development professionals and medica professionals spe
  - ants of stress and worry for both ecializing in diabetes man youth with T1D and their parents. can alleviate